

governor Gavin Newsom

May 14, 2020

To the members of the Senate and the Assembly of the California Legislature:

The world has changed dramatically since I proposed my budget in January. A global health crisis has triggered a global financial crisis-threatening both lives and livelihoods across the nation and world.

As this emergency has unfolded, Californians have met the moment—acting quickly to protect one another whether serving on the frontlines or staying at home. Together, we flattened the COVID-19 curve and saved lives. Now, we are confronted with a steep and unprecedented economic crisis.

This is no normal year. And this no ordinary May Revision.

In January, California was the rocket fuel powering the American economic resurgence—with 118 consecutive months of growth, stratospheric job creation, and the highest credit rating in nearly two decades. Together, we'd built the largest rainy day fund in state history, made prudent one-time investments and paid off our wall of debt. Because of this work, California is in a far stronger fiscal position today than it has been during previous downturns.

Now, our state is in an unprecedented emergency, facing massive job losses and shortfalls in record time. This budget reflects that emergency. California is once again called to lead—to adopt an on-time, balanced budget that protects our people and progress from the most acute effects of the harm and uncertainty caused by COVID-19.

I am proposing a fiscal blueprint to fund our most essential priorities—public health, public safety and public education—and to support workers and businesses, especially small businesses, who are the lifeblood of our economy. California will do its part to keep our communities healthy and safe, to shorten the economic shadow of the current crisis, and build a bridge to recovery and renewal.

California did not create this problem and should not be required to solve it alone. The federal government must pass a relief package for state and local governments. Without one, deep cuts to core services like schools, universities, and safety net programs will be unavoidable—both in California and across the country.

Our economy has changed, but our values remain the same. I look forward to working with you to pass a budget that aligns with both our shared principles and our reduced means. While we can't be certain how fast recovery and renewal will come, we know California and Californians can and will get through this.

We have the talent, drive, diversity and work ethic to not only persevere but to overcome. We are strong of will and generous of spirit. We've faced—and faced down—unanticipated adversity and, every time, emerged stronger than ever. It's the California story, and this is only the latest chapter.

By standing strong and standing together, we can and will meet this difficult moment and build a bridge to a brighter future.

With respect,

Gavin Newsom

STATE CAPITOL • SACRAMENTO, CALIFORNIA 95814 • (916) 445-2841

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction
Summary Charts
Saving Lives and Emergency Response
Encouraging Recovery
K-12 Education
Higher Education
Health and Human Services
Homelessness and Local Government
Public Safety
Judicial Branch
Environmental Protection
Natural Resources
Labor and Workforce Development
Statewide Issues and Various Departments
Economic Outlook
Revenue Estimates
Staff Assignments

This page intentionally blank to facilitate double-sided printing.

INTRODUCTION

he COVID-19 pandemic has caused enormous hardship for families, businesses and governments across the world, the United States and California. It has endangered health, stressed the health care system and caused devastating losses in family and business income.

COVID-19 has caused a global economic crisis which has had a profound impact on California. It has caused business closures, job losses and has driven millions of Californians to seek unemployment and other assistance. Necessary efforts to contain the virus and to address its effects have increased costs for state and local governments across the country.

California's prudent fiscal management, including its structurally balanced budget and record reserves, puts it in a much better position than other governments to contend with these challenges. However, the effects of the COVID-19 Recession on the state budget are massive. Substantial federal assistance is essential to safeguard core government functions, as well as to support a safe, quick economic recovery.

The May Revision is guided by the principle of prudent fiscal management to: protect public health, public safety and public education; provide assistance to small businesses and Californians most hurt by the pandemic; and to invest in a safe and quick economic recovery. It proposes to strategically use federal Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act funds to support schools, public health and local governments. It is anchored in a commitment to preserving core services and supporting Californians facing the greatest hardships. Consistent with the state's constitutional obligation to enact a balanced budget and the prohibition against issuing long-term bonds to finance deficits, the May Revision proposes to cancel new initiatives proposed in the Governor's Budget, cancel and reduce spending included in the 2019 Budget Act, draw down reserves, borrow from special funds and temporarily increase revenues. It also reflects savings from the Administration's direction to agencies and departments to increase efficiency and streamline existing efforts. Finally, the May Revision reflects reductions needed to address the remaining budget gap in the event the federal government does not provide states and local governments additional necessary funding to support public health, safety and education, and a safe, swift economic recovery. While under the May Revision the budget would be balanced next year, a significant structural out-year deficit would remain, increasing to over \$16 billion by 2023-24.

Immediate action is required for the Governor and the Legislature to enact a balanced budget by July 1. The Administration will work in partnership with the Legislature to enact a balanced budget and to advocate for increased federal funding for state and local governments. In the event that sufficient additional funds do not materialize, the Administration is committed to considering alternatives to protect core services, including additional borrowing, revenue increases, revenue accelerations and other options. To be workable, any alternative solution must mitigate, not exacerbate, the structural deficit the state faces and avoid repeating a pattern of successive years of fiscal and financial distress.

CALIFORNIA'S PRE-PANDEMIC BUDGET AND ECONOMY

California began 2020 with a solid fiscal foundation—a strong and diverse economy, historic reserves, and a structurally balanced budget. It had eliminated past budgetary debts and deferrals and was making extraordinary payments to reduce pension liabilities.

In January, a budget surplus of \$5.6 billion was projected for the 2020-21 fiscal year. Revenues through March were running \$1.35 billion above projections.

COVID-19 RECESSION

The COVID-19 pandemic and resulting recession has changed the fiscal landscape dramatically. The entrepreneurs who run small businesses throughout California have been severely impacted. Unemployment claims have surged—with increased claims of 4.4 million from mid-March to May 9, and a projected 2020 unemployment rate of

18 percent. Job losses have occurred in nearly every sector of the economy, but they have been most acute in sectors not fully able to telework such as leisure and hospitality, retail trade, and personal services. Lower-wage workers have disproportionately borne the impact of job losses. COVID-19 has amplified the wage disparity that existed before the pandemic—a fact that is particularly concerning as state median income did not return to the pre-Great Recession level until 2018.

Personal income is projected to decline by 9 percent in 2020; in 2023, personal income is expected to return to the 2019 level of \$2.6 trillion—\$470 billion or 15 percent below the level expected in the Governor's Budget.

COVID-19 IMPACT ON STATE BUDGET

Job losses and business closures are sharply reducing state revenues. Compared to the January forecast, General Fund revenues are projected to decline over \$41 billion. This revenue drop, combined with increased costs in health and human services programs and the added costs to address COVID-19, leads to a projected budget deficit of approximately \$54 billion before the changes proposed in the May Revision. Without the actions below, the out-year structural deficit would be approximately \$45 billion annually.

BALANCED APPROACH TO CLOSING THE BUDGET GAP

The state is constitutionally required to enact a balanced budget. Consistent with this obligation, the May Revision proposes to:

- Cancel \$6.1 billion in program expansions and spending increases, including canceling or reducing a number of one-time expenditures included in the 2019 Budget Act. It also includes redirecting \$2.4 billion in extraordinary payments to California Public Employees' Retirement System (CalPERS) to temporarily offset the state's obligations to CalPERS in 2020-21 and 2021-22. It further reflects savings from the Administration's direction to agencies to increase efficiency in state operations now and into the future.
- Draw down \$16.2 billion in the Budget Stabilization Account (Rainy Day Fund) over three years, and allocate the Safety Net Reserve to offset increased costs in health and human services programs over the next two years. The May Revision reflects the withdrawal of \$8.3 billion, including \$7.8 billion from the Rainy Day Fund and \$450 million from the Safety Net Reserve in 2020-21.

- Borrow and transfer \$4.1 billion from special funds.
- Temporarily suspend net operating losses and temporarily limit to \$5 million the amount of credits a taxpayer can use in any given tax year. These short-term limitations will generate new revenue of \$4.4 billion in 2020-21, \$3.3 billion in 2021-22, and \$1.5 billion in 2022-23 to increase funding for schools and community colleges and maintain other core services.
- Reflect the Administration's nationwide request of \$1 trillion in flexible federal funds to support all 50 states and local governments, and identifies reductions to base programs and employee compensation that will be necessary if sufficient federal funding does not materialize.

May Revision Proposes Balanced Solut (dollars in billions)	ion
Cancelled Expansions & Other Reductions	\$8.4
Reserves	8.8
Borrowing/Transfers/Deferrals	10.4
New Revenues	4.4
Federal Funds	8.3
Triggers	14.0
	\$54.3

See The May Revision Proposes Balanced Solution figure below.

USING CARES ACT FUNDS STRATEGICALLY

The May Revision proposes to use federal CARES Act funds to support schools, strengthen local public health preparedness and response, and support health and human services at the local level in response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Specifically, the May Revision proposes to:

- Use \$4.4 billion for schools to run summer programs and other programs that address equity gaps that were widened during the school closures.
- Direct \$3.8 billion to protect public health and public safety; \$1.3 billion to counties for public health, behavioral health and other health and human services programs; and \$450 million to cities for public safety and to support homeless individuals.

PROTECTING PUBLIC HEALTH, PUBLIC SAFETY AND PUBLIC EDUCATION

The May Revision protects public health and public safety. It provides needed funds to contain the spread of COVID-19 and its effects. To that end, the May Revision proposes to:

- Invest in wildfire prevention and mitigation as well as other emergency response capabilities.
- Prioritize \$4.4 billion in federal funding to address learning loss and equity issues exacerbated by the COVID-19 school closures this spring. These funds will be used by districts to run summer programs and other programs that address equity gaps that were widened during the school closures. These funds will also be used to make necessary modifications so that schools can reopen in the fall and help support parents' ability to work.
- Reallocate \$2.3 billion in funds previously dedicated to paying down schools' long-term unfunded liability to California State Teachers' Retirement System (CalSTRS) and CalPERS to instead pay the school employers' retirement contributions, to address the decline in the constitutionally required funding for schools and community colleges resulting from the COVID-19 Recession.
- Create a new obligation of 1.5 percent of state appropriation limit revenues starting in 2021-22 to avoid a permanent decline in school funding that grows to \$4.6 billion in additional funding for schools and community colleges in 2023-24.
- Preserve the number of state-funded childcare slots and expand access to childcare for first responders.
- Preserve community college free-tuition waivers and maintain Cal Grants for college students, including the grants for students with dependent children established last year. Since many workers return to higher education and job training after losing a job, continuing these programs and initiatives will prioritize affordability and access to higher education and job training opportunities.

SUPPORTING CALIFORNIANS FACING THE GREATEST HARDSHIPS

The COVID-19 Recession is making the effects of wage disparity even worse and is having a disproportionate impact on families living paycheck to paycheck. The May Revision prioritizes direct payments to families, children, seniors and persons with disabilities by doing the following:

- Maintain the newly expanded Earned Income Tax Credit, which puts a billion dollars in the pockets of working families with incomes under \$30,000, including a \$1,000 credit for eligible families with children under the age of 6.
- Maintain grant levels for families and individuals supported by the CalWORKs and SSI/SSP programs.
- Prioritize funding to maintain current eligibility for critical health care services in both Medi-Cal and the expanded subsidies offered through the Covered California marketplace for Californians with incomes between 400 percent and 600 percent of the federal poverty level.

In addition, unemployment insurance benefits in 2020-21 are estimated to be \$43.8 billion, which is 650 percent higher than the \$5.8 billion estimated in the Governor's Budget. This is primarily supported by federal funding, federal loans, and employer taxes.

ENHANCING GOVERNMENT EFFICIENCY

Historically, state government has been slow to adopt modernizations in the workplace. But the COVID-19 pandemic has forced a massive experiment in telework and allowed state managers, led by the Government Operations Agency, to rethink business processes. This transformation will allow for expanded long-term telework strategies, increased modernization and delivery of government services online, reconfigured office space, reduced leased space, and when possible, flexible work schedules for employees.

The Administration is working to deliver more government services online. This includes expanding the Department of Motor Vehicles' virtual office visits pilot to other departments and agencies with more face-to-face interactions with Californians. The Office of Digital Innovation will continue to assist agencies and departments in automating processes to increase value and provide greater convenience for the public.

Nearly all state operations will be reduced over the next two years. Nonessential contracts, purchases, and travel are suspended. Departments have been directed to fill only the most essential vacant positions.

SUPPORTING JOB CREATION, ECONOMIC RECOVERY AND OPPORTUNITY

During this time of unprecedented unemployment, the Administration will work in partnership with the Legislature to help get people back to work and support the creation of good-paying jobs. It will develop proposals and actions to support a robust and equitable recovery both in the near term and the long term. To this end, the Administration is considering options to support job creation including: assistance to help spur the recovery of small businesses and the jobs they create, support for increased housing affordability and availability and investments in human and physical infrastructure. Any investments and actions will focus on equity, shared prosperity and long-term growth.

Small businesses have suffered massive losses as a result of the COVID-19 Recession. They will face increased costs to modify their operations to reduce the risk of COVID-19 transmission and spread. Given the critical role of small business in California's economy, the May Revision proposes to:

- Augment the small business guarantee program by \$50 million for a total increase of \$100 million to fill gaps in available federal assistance. This increase will be leveraged to access existing private lending capacity and philanthropy to provide necessary capital to restart California small businesses.
- Retain Governor's Budget's proposals to support new business creation and innovation by waiving the \$800 minimum franchise tax for new businesses.

The Governor has convened a Task Force on Business and Jobs Recovery—a diverse group of leaders from business, labor, and the non-profit sector—to develop actionable recommendations and advise the state on how economic recovery can be expedited and address the effects of wage disparity that were made even worse by COVID-19. The Administration is committed to additional actions, informed by the Task Force and other stakeholders, to support a safe, swift and equitable economic recovery.

The Administration is also committed to working with colleges and universities to build on their experience with distance learning and develop a statewide educational program that will allow more students to access training and education through distance learning. This will allow non-traditional students who are working and parenting the opportunity to complete coursework at their own pace and after hours.

DEFINING THE PATH FORWARD

California's history has been marked by periods of great challenge—brought on by global conflict and change, by natural disasters, and by economic crises. California's history has also been one of innovation, ingenuity, resiliency, and resurgence. The COVID-19 pandemic and the recession that has accompanied it pose a new challenge for the state.

California will overcome this challenge as it has overcome challenges in the past. The state, its businesses and its families will recover and will emerge stronger and more resilient. The May Revision takes a balanced and focused approach. It directs actions to stop the spread of COVID-19; protects core functions like public health, public safety and public education; and supports those facing the greatest hardships. It proposes actions to support a safe, swift and robust economic recovery. It is a responsible fiscal plan for California as it navigates the path to recovery.

Summary Charts

 \mathbf{T} his section provides various statewide budget charts and tables.

2020-21 May Revision General Fund Budget Summary

(Dollars in Millions)

	2019-20	2020-21
Prior Year Balance	\$11,280	\$1,619
Revenues and Transfers	\$136,836	\$137,417
Total Resources Available	\$148,116	\$139,036
Non-Proposition 98 Expenditures	\$94,145	\$89,030
Proposition 98 Expenditures	\$52,352	\$44,871
Total Expenditures	\$146,497	\$133,901
Fund Balance	\$1,619	\$5,135
Reserve for Liquidation of Encumbrances	\$3,175	\$3,175
Special Fund for Economic Uncertainties	-\$1,556	\$1,960
Safety Net Reserve	\$900	\$450
Budget Stabilization Account/Rainy Day Fund	\$16,156	\$8,350
Note: Numbers may not add due to rounding.		

	(Dollars in N		Change fror	n 2019-20
	2019-20	2020-21	Dollar Change	Percent Change
Legislative, Judicial, Executive	\$6,848	\$4,144	-\$2,704	-39.5%
Business, Consumer Services & Housing	1,262	291	-971	-76.9%
Transportation	289	239	-50	-17.3%
Natural Resources	3,771	3,547	-224	-5.9%
Environmental Protection	723	42	-681	-94.2%
Health and Human Services	41,920	45,275	3,356	8.0%
Corrections and Rehabilitation	13,444	13,351	-93	-0.7%
K-12 Education	54,578	47,689	-6,889	-12.6%
Higher Education	17,041	15,372	-1,669	-9.8%
Labor and Workforce Development	186	159	-27	-14.5%
Government Operations	2,331	1,329	-1,002	-43.0%
General Government:				
Non-Agency Departments	1,076	911	-165	-15.3%
Tax Relief/Local Government	505	432	-73	-14.5%
Statewide Expenditures	2,523	1,120	-1,403	-55.6%
Total Note: Numbers may not add due to rounding.	\$146,497	\$133,901	-\$12,596	-8.6%

General Fund Expenditures by Agency (Dollars in Millions)

2020-21 Total State Expenditures by Agency

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		1		
	General	Special	Bond	_
	Fund	Funds	Funds	Totals
Legislative, Judicial, Executive	\$4,144	\$3,655	\$566	\$8,365
Business, Consumer Services & Housing	291	1,084	1,134	2,509
Transportation	239	17,484	641	18,364
Natural Resources	3,547	1,802	1,399	6,748
Environmental Protection	42	3,851	18	3,911
Health and Human Services	45,275	25,911	-	71,186
Corrections and Rehabilitation	13,351	2,576	-	15,927
K-12 Education	47,689	117	1,541	49,347
Higher Education	15,372	188	723	16,283
Labor and Workforce Development	159	878	-	1,037
Government Operations	1,329	351	8	1,688
General Government				
Non-Agency Departments	911	1,917	8	2,836
Tax Relief/Local Government	432	2,774	-	3,206
Statewide Expenditures	1,120	791	1	1,912
Total	\$133,901	\$63,379	\$6,039	\$203,318
Note: Numbers may not add due to rounding.				

(Dollars in Millions)

General Fund Revenue Sources

(Dollars in Millior	ns)		
			Change 2019-	
	2019-20	2020-21	Dollar Change	Percent Change
Personal Income Tax	\$94,773	\$76,841	-\$17,932	-18.9%
Sales and Use Tax	24,941	20,613	-4,328	-17.4%
Corporation Tax	13,870	16,577	2,707	19.5%
Insurance Tax	3,052	2,986	-66	-2.2%
Alcoholic Beverage Taxes and Fees	385	389	4	1.0%
Cigarette Tax	58	56	-2	-3.4%
Motor Vehicle Fees	31	40	9	29.0%
Other	1,887	12,109	10,222	541.7%
Subtotal	\$138,997	\$129,611	-\$9,386	-6.8%
Transfer to/from the Budget Stabilization Account/Rainy Day Fund	-2,160	7,806	9,966	-461.4%
Total	\$136,837	\$137,417	\$580	0.4%
Note: Numbers may not add due to rounding.				

2020-21 Revenue Sources

(Dollars in Millions)

				Change
	General	Special		From
	Fund	Funds	Total	2019-20
Personal Income Tax	\$76,841	\$1,874	\$78,715	-\$18,534
Sales and Use Tax	20,613	10,025	30,638	-4,614
Corporation Tax	16,577	-	16,577	2,707
Highway Users Taxes	-	8,124	8,124	324
Insurance Tax	2,986	-	2,986	-66
Alcoholic Beverage Taxes and Fees	389	-	389	4
Cigarette Tax	56	1,848	1,904	-21
Motor Vehicle Fees	40	10,004	10,044	586
Other	12,109	20,366	32,475	4,200
Subtotal	\$129,611	\$52,241	\$181,852	-\$15,414
Transfer to/from the Budget Stabilization Account/Rainy Day Fund	7,806	-7,806	-	-
Total	\$137,417	\$44,435	\$181,852	-\$15,414
Note: Numbers may not add due to rounding				

Note: Numbers may not add due to rounding.

Saving Lives and Emergency Response

The COVID-19 pandemic is a global crisis. As of May 12, 2020, COVID-19 has resulted in over 291,300 deaths worldwide, including over 82,100 in the United States. In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Administration took immediate action to reduce the spread of the virus in the state. California was the first state in the nation to respond on a statewide basis by requiring residents to stay home to mitigate the spread of COVID-19. These proactive measures have been successful, limiting the number of cases and deaths. The Administration continues to put public health at the forefront as the state begins its phased approach to reopening the economy.

RESPONDING TO COVID-19

On March 4, 2020, the Governor proclaimed a state of emergency for the novel coronavirus outbreak, which causes a disease known as COVID-19. Within two weeks, the Administration issued a statewide stay-at-home order for residents to mitigate the spread of the virus. Even prior to these actions, the State Operations Center had been activated, informed by the state's public health officers, to prepare for an expected surge of patients infected with the virus. Based on data from medical models, projections indicated that hospitals would be inundated with patients, outstripping medical resources both in terms of available beds as well as the staffing and supplies needed to care for them. Necessary actions to address the immediate needs for various vulnerable populations were identified and taken, and local governments were provided state assistance for testing, housing, and sheltering activities. In addition, food banks were supported and staffed as the demand for these services began to increase.

Since that time, not only has assistance continued for vulnerable populations, but health care workers and others in the medical system have also been supported, in recognition of the stressful situations in which they are working, and in some cases the risks these conditions may pose to their families.

Pursuant to a Presidential Disaster declaration, funds from the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) became available to help pay for the substantial fiscal burden of the state's response efforts.

The May Revision reflects \$1.8 billion net General Fund expenditures for the state's direct emergency response efforts for the COVID-19 pandemic. A significant portion of this funding will provide the 25-percent cost share required to leverage FEMA funding. So far, the state has supported the following activities:

- Personal Protective Equipment and Other Critical Medical Supplies—Since the worldwide COVID-19 pandemic broke out, procuring personal protective equipment has been a major challenge as a result of supply shortages resulting from increased global demand. The state has been able to secure a dependable supply of medical-grade masks in a quantity that will meet the state's needs. The state has also procured other critical supplies, such as medical equipment, gloves, and gowns.
- Hospital Surge Preparation—To assist the state's medical system with an anticipated surge in COVID-19 patients needing hospitalization, the state has established over 3,000 beds and will be ready to support an additional 2,000 new beds in the fall, in addition to the beds that the hospital system has added.
- Hotels for Healthcare Workers and Support Staff—Staff who care for or come into contact with COVID-19 patients in the medical system and who cannot self-isolate at home have been provided free or low-cost hotel accommodations.
- Supporting the State's Vulnerable Populations—Recognizing the needs of the state's vulnerable populations, including the homeless, foster youth, and seniors, the state has provided support for housing, food, and other assistance.
- State Response Operations and Other Support Services—The state has provided resources for child care workers, small businesses, local probation and sheriffs, and other support services to assist with challenges related to the pandemic. This includes a Department of Public Health call center for the general public, response activities at the State Operation Center, and various allocations from the SB 89 appropriation.

• Reopening the State—To support the decision to safely reopen the state, there are six indicators that have been identified. Funding will support statewide testing and contact tracing and tracking, which will provide information for decision making.

The May Revision also includes \$716 million net General Fund as a set-aside contingency for additional response activities in the budget year. This represents a 25-percent cost share and the remainder is anticipated to be funded by additional FEMA funding, should there be a surge of new cases in the budget year.

COVID-19 FEDERAL ASSISTANCE

The federal government has provided temporary federal funding to support the state's response to the COVID-19 pandemic as well as financial support to mitigate the effects of the broader stay-at-home orders. This funding was made available through four federal bills designed to help pay for emergency response, testing and contact tracing, health care, and financial relief to individuals, families, and businesses as well as state and local government including schools and higher education institutions. The following summarizes the four bills passed by Congress since March 2020:

- Coronavirus Preparedness and Response Supplemental Appropriations Act (HR 6074)—Provided emergency funding for public health and health care.
- Families First Coronavirus Response Act (HR 6201)—Provided some early assistance to families and temporarily increased the federal match for some state programs including Medi-Cal and In-Home Supportive Services.
- Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act (HR 748)—Broadened the assistance available including funding for states, local governments, education, child care, individuals and families. Funding also expanded, extended, and supplemented unemployment insurance benefits. Finally, this measure provided assistance to businesses, including the health care sector, small businesses, farmers, airports, and transit agencies.
- Paycheck Protection Program and Health Care Enhancement Act (HR 266)— Expanded funding for small businesses, hospitals, community and rural health centers, and substantially expanded funding for testing and contact tracing to support reopening businesses and the economy while continuing to be vigilant about protecting the public.

As of May 9, 2020 the estimated funding that California expects to receive, including direct benefits to individuals, families, small businesses, higher education institutions, and the health care industry totals over \$186 billion and is detailed in the chart below:

Federal Vehicle	To/Thru State	Direct Stimulus	Total
Preparedness and Response (HR 6074)	\$63,333	\$1,535,765	\$1,599,098
Families First (HR 6201)	11,496,346	2,090,559	13,586,905
CARES Act (HR 748)	59,151,934	75,660,544	134,812,478
Payroll Protection/Health Care (HR 266)	465,000	35,864,291	36,329,291
Total	\$71,176,613	\$115,151,159	\$186,327,772

Summary of Federal Stimulus Funds

The federal funding identified above will not be sufficient to address the state's fiscal crisis or the enormous hardship for families, businesses and governments in California caused by the unprecedented COVID-19 pandemic.

STATE PROGRAMS

Over \$71 billion in federal funds is estimated to support state programs or to provide safety net services to individuals and families in the following areas:

- Coronavirus Relief Funds (\$9.5 billion), discussed below.
- Unemployment insurance benefits (over \$50 billion) to millions of individuals.
- Enhanced federal share of costs (\$5.3 billion), primarily Medi-Cal.
- K-12 Schools (\$2 billion).
- State and local public health (over \$600 million), excluding funding provided directly to Los Angeles County from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.
- Food and nutrition programs (nearly \$1 billion), including child nutrition programs typically available through schools.

DIRECT ASSISTANCE

In addition to the federal funds that are allocated through the state budget, over \$115 billion has been distributed or identified to support individuals and families, small businesses, hospitals and providers, including rural and community clinics, schools, higher education institutions and college students, local housing authorities, airports, and local government. A breakdown of these funds as well as the funds that flow through the state is detailed in the following chart.

Beneficiary	To/Thru State	Direct Stimulus	Total
Various from Coronavirus Relief Fund (CRF)	\$9,525,547	\$5,795,738	\$15,321,285
State	5,804,702	-	5,804,702
Individual	51,727,142	22,465,995	74,193,137
Business	-	1,888,981	1,888,981
Small Business	-	71,237,166	71,237,166
Local Government	525,686	3,769,009	4,294,695
Housing Authority/Local Government	63,902	468,117	532,019
Schools	2,002,533	-	2,002,533
Colleges ^{1/}	-	1,789,981	1,789,981
Community Based Organizations (CBOs)	391,612	299,149	690,761
CBO/Individual Food Assistance	964,794	2,090,559	3,055,353
Hospitals	4,216	5,339,753	5,343,969
Multiple Beneficiaries	166,479	6,711	173,190
Total	\$71,176,613	\$115,151,159	\$186,327,772

Summary of Federal Stimulus Funds	
(Dollars in Thousands)	

1/ The CARES Act requires that 50 percent of the funding from the Higher Education Emergency Relief Fund be allocated for emergency grants to students for food, housing, course materials, technology, healthcare, and child care.

The following summarizes direct funds that are targeted to response efforts.

- Coronavirus Relief Funds—\$5.8 billion was allocated directly to 21 units of local government (15 counties, city and county of San Francisco, and 5 cities) with populations over 500,000.
- Economic Impact Payments—\$22.5 billion has been allocated, as of May 8, 2020, to more than 13.5 million California families who have filed a federal tax return in 2018 or 2019. Additional payments are expected over the coming weeks or months and are likely to total about \$29 billion.
- Small Business Grants and Loans—Over 300,000 California small businesses have received a combination of grants and loans totaling over \$70 billion primarily to support continued payment of employees and to help overcome the temporary loss of revenue they are experiencing. While these amounts are significant, the awards to date only benefit about 7.5 percent of California's 4 million small businesses.

- Hospitals, Providers, and Rural and Community Clinics—\$5.3 billion has been allocated to date through various formula allocations. Initial allocations were based on the number of Medicare fee-for-service payments. More recent payments have been made according to: (1) Medicare and Medicaid disproportionate share and uncompensated care payments and (2) hospitals that provided inpatient care for 100 or more COVID-19 patients. A total of 369 rural hospitals, including acute care general hospitals, rural health clinics, and community health centers in rural areas recently received \$311.6 million. These funds are intended to help address COVID-19 hospitalizations and offset the loss of revenues as a result of the stay-at-home orders to prevent the spread of COVID-19.
- Higher Education—Colleges and universities in California received over \$1.7 billion to help support the transition to distance learning and offset lost revenues. Colleges are required to allocate at least half of the funds to provide direct emergency aid to students, such as grants to students for food, housing, course materials, technology, healthcare, and child care.
- Public Transit Agencies—\$3.6 billion was allocated to offset lost fares and revenue from sudden loss of ridership.
- Food Assistance—In addition to funds provided through state programs, several programs also provide assistance to families, such as the Pandemic EBT Program. Support is also provided through the Commodity Assistance Program which purchases food for allocation to food banks and community-based organizations who then provide food to families. While detailed data is not available for all the available allocations, at least \$2 billion has been identified for California to date.
- Housing—Various public housing agencies are expected to receive at least \$500 million to maintain normal operations of low-income housing units as well as provide rental assistance and support for homeless individuals and families.
- Airport Improvements and Airline Relief—Airports in California will receive \$1.1 billion to support airport improvement projects. These totals do not reflect any assistance provided through the Payroll Support to Air Carriers Program that may be allocated to airlines to avoid layoffs and furloughs of employees based in California.

CORONAVIRUS RELIEF FUND

The CARES Act allocated Coronavirus Relief Funds (CRF) to state and local governments for expenditures incurred between March 1 and December 30, 2020 in response to COVID-19, not previously accounted for in the most recent state and local

budgets. These funds cannot be used to backfill lost revenues or to serve as the state match for drawing down other federal funds (such as FEMA reimbursements).

Based on the state's population, California received a total of \$15.3 billion with \$9.5 billion paid to the state. Cities and counties with populations over 500,000 received \$5.8 billion directly from the U.S. Treasury. The funding allocated to five large cities was deducted from the county share. The figure below shows the amount by county and for these five cities, including the city and county of San Francisco.

The May Revision allocates a portion of the state's \$9.5 billion CARES Act funding to local governments to further support their COVID-19 efforts—\$450 million to cities for homelessness and public safety and \$1.3 billion to counties for public health, behavioral health, and other health and human services as detailed in the following chart.

Cities and Counties	Direct	State	Total Allocations	Cities and Counties	Direct	State	Total Allocations
Alama da Osumba	Allocations ^{1/}	Allocations ^{1/}		Discon	Allocations ^{1/}	Allocations ^{1/}	
Alameda County	\$291,634	\$38,577	\$330,211	Placer County	-	\$40,768	\$40,768
Alpine County	-	116	116	Plumas County	-	1,925	1,925
Amador County	-	4,069	4,069	Riverside County	431,091	57,024	488,115
Butte County	-	22,433	22,433	Sacramento County	181,199	25,210	206,409
Calaveras County	-	4,698	4,698	City of Sacramento	89,623	-	89,623
Colusa County	-	2,205	2,205	San Benito County	-	6,428	6,428
Contra Costa County	201,281	26,625	227,906	San Bernardino County	380,408	50,320	430,728
Del Norte County	-	2,847	2,847	San Diego County	334,062	54,224	388,286
El Dorado County	-	19,737	19,737	City of San Diego	248,451	-	248,451
Fresno County	81,580	16,228	97,808	City/County San Francisco	153,824	20,347	174,171
City of Fresno	92,756	-	92,756	San Joaquin County	132,989	17,592	150,581
Glenn County	-	2,906	2,906	San Luis Obispo County	-	28,976	28,976
Humboldt County	-	13,874	13,874	San Mateo County	133,761	17,694	151,455
Imperial County	-	18,547	18,547	Santa Barbara County	-	45,698	45,698
Inyo County	-	1,846	1,846	Santa Clara County	158,100	31,314	189,414
Kern County	157,078	20,778	177,856	City of San Jose	178,295	-	178,295
Kings County	-	15,653	15,653	Santa Cruz County	-	27,963	27,963
Lake County	-	6,590	6,590	Shasta County	-	18,431	18,431
Lassen County	-	3,129	3,129	Sierra County	-	308	308
Los Angeles County	1,057,341	163,064	1,220,405	Siskiyou County	-	4,456	4,456
City of Los Angeles	694,405	-	694,405	Solano County	-	45,815	45,815
Madera County	-	16,102	16,102	Sonoma County	-	50,594	50,594
Marin County	-	26,490	26,490	Stanislaus County	96,086	12,710	108,796
Mariposa County	-	1,761	1,761	Sutter County	-	9,925	9,925
Mendocino County	-	8,879	8,879	Tehama County	-	6,661	6,661
Merced County	-	28,420	28,420	Trinity County	-	1,257	1,257
Modoc County	-	905	905	Tulare County	-	47,714	47,714
Mono County	-	1,478	1,478	Tuolumne County	-	5,576	5,576
Monterey County	-	44,425	44,425	Ventura County	147,622	19,527	167,149
Napa County	-	14,098	14,098	Yolo County	-	22,568	22,568
Nevada County	-	10,210	10,210	Yuba County		8,052	8,052
Orange County	554,134	73,300	627,434	Total	\$5,795,720	\$1,289,065	\$7,084,785

Coronavirus Relief Fund Allocations Total by County and Selected Cities

(Dollars in Thousands)

^{1/} Numbers may not tie due to rounding.

The May Revision proposes to allocate the remaining state CRF (\$8.2 billion) for costs related to mitigating the significant impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic as summarized in the following chart.

Coronavirus Relief Fund Allocations

(Dollars in Thousands)

State Directed Coronavirus Relief Fund Allocations	Amount
State Offsets: Vulnerable Populations and Public Health and Safety	\$3,786,500
K-12 Learning Loss Mitigation	4,000,000
County Public Health, Behavioral Health, and Health and Human Services	1,289,065
City Homelessness and Public Safety Funding	450,000
Total	\$9,525,565

In total, the CRF allocations are estimated to offset nearly \$3.8 billion in state General Fund costs. This total includes current year costs funded pursuant to the provisions of Section 36.00, Chapter 2, Statutes of 2020, needed to meet immediate needs of various vulnerable populations. These savings will be achieved through a proposed control section that provides needed flexibility to offset General Fund costs between March 1 and December 30, 2020.

In addition, the May Revision allocates \$4 billion state CRF to mitigate learning loss related to COVID-19 school closures, including summer learning opportunities, additional instructional time, and other academic services and supports.

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC HEALTH

The Department of Public Health has been at the forefront of the state's response to the COVID-19 pandemic—extensively planning, preparing, and responding to the pandemic since mid-January. The Department's efforts include issuing a stay-at-home order to save lives, increasing testing capacity, increasing hospital surge capacity, and issuing statewide public health guidance.

The May Revision maintains and increases the Department's disease surveillance and identification workforce. Specifically, the May Revision proposes \$5.9 million General Fund for 2020-21 and \$4.8 million General Fund ongoing, to support laboratory staff to increase the laboratories' testing capacity, and to purchase equipment and laboratory supplies that are specifically utilized for COVID-19 testing as well as other diseases. In addition, the May Revision maintains critical funding for infectious disease prevention and control, including \$5 million General Fund each for STD, HIV, and hepatitis C virus prevention and control.

ENHANCING EMERGENCY RESPONSE AND PREPAREDNESS

This year, in response to the global COVID-19 pandemic, the state has been faced with implementing an unprecedented emergency response effort necessary to protect the health of Californians. However, the state is also at risk from other types of emergencies. The May Revision continues the Administration's prioritization of enhancing emergency response and preparedness.

OFFICE OF EMERGENCY SERVICES

Although the state is experiencing significant economic impacts from the COVID-19 pandemic and a decrease in state revenues, the May Revision reflects \$127 million for Office of Emergency Services (Cal OES) to enhance the state's emergency preparedness and response capabilities.

- Community Power Resiliency—Maintain \$50 million one-time General Fund to support additional preparedness measures that bolster community resiliency. Building on the state's 2019-20 power resiliency investments, these measures will support critical services still vulnerable to power outage events, including schools, county election offices, and food storage reserves. This proposal will support a matching grant program to help local governments prepare for, respond to, and mitigate the impacts of power outages.
- California Disaster Assistance Act (CDAA)—A total of \$38.2 million one-time General Fund (maintaining \$16.7 million included in the Governor's Budget and an additional \$21.5 million) to increase the amount of funding available through the CDAA, which is used to repair, restore, or replace public real property damaged or destroyed by a disaster or to reimburse local governments for eligible costs associated with emergency activities undertaken in response to a state of emergency proclaimed by the Governor. This augmentation increases total CDAA funding available in the Budget to \$100.8 million.
- California Earthquake Early Warning Program—Maintain \$17.3 million to operate this new innovative program that uses science, monitoring, and technology to alert people, businesses, and transit agencies via devices before the anticipated strongest seismic activity arrives. The May Revision proposes to switch the fund source for the loan from the General Fund to the School Land Bank Fund.
- California Cybersecurity Integration Center—Maintain \$7.6 million General Fund and 12 positions for Cal OES (a total of \$11.1 million General Fund and 22 positions across

various agencies) to enhance the state's critical cybersecurity infrastructure. This investment will provide a full-time Joint Incident Response Team to bolster the state's capabilities in preventing, mitigating, and responding to cyberattacks.

- Disaster Planning, Preparedness, and Response—Maintain \$9.4 million (\$9.2 million General Fund) and 50 positions to enhance Cal OES's ability to prepare for, respond to, and assist the state in recovering from disasters while maximizing eligible federal reimbursements.
- Seismic Safety Commission Transfer—Maintain \$2.5 million (\$503,000 General Fund) to transfer the Seismic Safety Commission to Cal OES. These resources will be critical to supporting the effective integration of the Seismic Safety Commission into Cal OES, resulting in increased coordination, earthquake preparedness and seismic safety benefits. The May Revision reduces this proposal by \$446,000 General Fund.
- Wildfire Forecast and Threat Intelligence Integration Center—Maintain \$2 million General Fund to enhance the state's emergency response capabilities through improved forecasts for tracking and predicting critical fire weather systems, which improves situational awareness of fire threat conditions in real-time, consistent with Chapter 405, Statutes of 2019 (SB 209). The May Revision proposes to reduce this proposal by \$6.8 million General Fund across various departments.

GENERAL FUND SOLUTIONS

The state is not in a fiscal position to expand programs given the drastic budget impacts of the COVID-19 Recession. Therefore, the May Revision proposes to withdraw \$101.8 million (\$26.8 million General Fund) for Cal OES and Department of Forestry and Fire Protection (CAL FIRE) for implementation of the home hardening pilot grant program authorized by Chapter 391, Statutes of 2019 (AB 38). Infrastructure investments to improve the resiliency of vulnerable communities will be considered as part an overall infrastructure plan. The May Revision maintains \$8.3 million Greenhouse Gas Reduction Fund for CAL FIRE to meet defensible space-related and other requirements pursuant to AB 38.

DEPARTMENT OF FORESTRY AND FIRE PROTECTION

Over the past several years, the state has experienced unprecedented increases in wildfire activity driven by climate change. Furthermore, recent forecasts indicate that 2020 is likely to be an active fire year given lower than average precipitation, snowpack, and fuel moisture levels.

Despite the significant budget shortfall, the May Revision reflects an additional \$90 million General Fund (\$142.7 million ongoing) to further enhance CAL FIRE's fire protection capabilities for the 2020 fire season and beyond.

- CAL FIRE Relief Staffing and Early Ramp-Up of 2020 Fire Season Surge Capacity—Maintain \$85.6 million General Fund (\$135.1 million ongoing) for permanent firefighting positions to provide CAL FIRE with operational flexibility throughout the peak fire season and beyond as fire conditions dictate. These resources will be leveraged to provide relief for frontline firefighting staff, which will directly benefit employee health and wellness. Additionally, these resources will serve as an immediate resource pool to be deployed strategically, based on fire risk, to build CAL FIRE's surge capacity by staffing additional engines during the late fall, winter, and early spring, and adding a fourth firefighter on a portion of engines. Given the urgent needs associated with preparing for the upcoming 2020 peak fire season, CAL FIRE will utilize seasonal firefighters and other surge capacity resources, and begin phasing in permanent firefighting staff later in the year.
- Innovation Procurement Sprint—An increase of \$4.4 million General Fund
 (\$7.6 million ongoing) to enable CAL FIRE to implement the new pioneering wildfire
 prediction and modeling technology that was procured through the Innovation
 Procurement Sprint process initiated through Executive Order N-04-19. The
 recently-executed contract will enable CAL FIRE to access a wildfire predictive
 software program that can perform hundreds of millions of simulations daily, over
 large geographic areas, and generate predictions and wildfire forecasts based on
 simulated or reported ignition points throughout the state. The data from this
 software program will be used to inform fire pre-positioning and suppression tactical
 operations, with the intent to more readily control and contain wildfires, and to
 protect people and assets at risk.

GENERAL FUND SOLUTIONS

The state is not in a fiscal position to expand programs given the drastic budget impacts of the COVID-19 Recession. The following proposals are withdrawn from the Governor's Budget:

- Direct Mission Support—\$34.3 million General Fund.
- Wildland Firefighting Research Grant Program—\$5 million General Fund.

ENCOURAGING RECOVERY

U ntil March, California enjoyed an historic economic expansion that reduced unemployment from a peak of 12.3 percent to 3.9 percent, and lowered the poverty rate from a peak of over 16 percent to under 12 percent. Real per capita personal income had increased by almost 25 percent between 2007 and 2018. This strong economic growth enabled billions in investments to improve schools and roads, to increase access to and affordability of higher education, to create a robust state earned income tax credit program and to steadily increase the state's minimum wage. But even during this period of expansion, growth was uneven and unequal, and too many continued to struggle to make ends meet.

COVID-19 ended the longest recovery period in the state's history. The recession that is following has caused massive job losses, precipitous drops in family and business income, and is exacerbating inequality. The May Revision forecasts a peak unemployment rate of 24.5 percent in the second quarter of this year and a decline in personal income of nearly 9 percent in 2020.

The May Revision proposes policies and investments to encourage recovery for all Californians. With additional funding and policy changes at the federal level, there are greater opportunities for state and local government to shape a safe, swift recovery that will promote greater resilience and sustainability.

SUPPORTING THE RECOVERY OF SMALL BUSINESS

Small businesses are the core of California's economy—nearly 4 million businesses employ approximately half of the private workforce. Small businesses are job creators, innovators, and are key to the fabric of the state's diverse communities.

Small businesses have suffered massive losses as a result of the COVID-19 Recession. They are facing increased costs to modify their operations in order to reduce the transmission of COVID-19. Given their critical role in California's economy, the May Revision proposes increased funding to support the recovery of this sector in the near- and long-term.

MINIMUM FRANCHISE TAX

The May Revision maintains the Governor's Budget proposal to waive the \$800 minimum franchise tax for the first year of business creation. This proposal supports new business creation and innovation by limiting an often costly barrier to entry.

SMALL BUSINESS LOAN GUARANTEES

The California Infrastructure and Economic Development Bank's (IBank) Small Business Finance Center manages California's small business loan guarantees, disaster loan guarantees, and direct lending programs. The Small Business Loan Guarantee Program provides financial assistance and access to capital needed to small businesses. It works to leverage private lending to reduce the cost of capital for small businesses.

The May Revision proposes to increase funding for this program by \$50 million for a total increase of \$100 million to fill gaps in available federal assistance and grow California's program. This increase will be leveraged to access existing private lending capacity and philanthropic funding to increase the funds available to provide necessary capital to restart California small businesses.

As part of the federal Payroll Protection Program, over 300,000 California small businesses have received a combination of grants and loans totaling over \$70 billion primarily to support continued payment of employees and to help overcome temporary loss of revenue. While these amounts are significant, the awards to date only benefit about 7.5 percent of California's 4 million small businesses.

SMALL BUSINESS AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

To further support the needs of underserved communities and direct small businesses to capital options, California helps fund a network of federally contracted centers to consult and train California small business owners. The Governor's Office of Business and Economic Development administers a grant program that funds business technical assistance centers to expand services to underserved small businesses, and the Capital Infusion Program to help small businesses access capital.

The May Revision maintains the Governor's Budget investment of \$758,000 ongoing General Fund for four positions to bring business and economic development to Inland and Northern California.

SUPPORTING JOB CREATION

During this time of unprecedented unemployment, the Administration will work in partnership with the Legislature to help get people back to work and support the creation of good-paying jobs. It will develop proposals and actions to support a robust and equitable recovery both in the near- and in the long-term. To this end, the Administration is considering options to support job creation including: assistance to help spur the recovery of small businesses and the jobs they create, support for increased housing affordability and availability, and investments in human and physical infrastructure. Any investments and actions will focus on equity, shared prosperity and long-term growth.

The Governor has convened a Task Force on Business and Jobs Recovery—a diverse group of leaders from business, labor, and the non-profit sector—to develop actionable recommendations and advise the state on how economic recovery can be expedited and address the effects of wage disparity that are being made even worse by the COVID-19 Recession. The Administration is committed to additional actions, informed by the Legislature, the Task Force, and other stakeholders to support a safe, swift and equitable economic recovery.

The Administration is also committed to working with colleges and universities to build on their experience with distance learning and develop a statewide educational program that will allow more students to access training and education through distance learning, allowing non-traditional students who are working and parenting, the opportunity to complete coursework at their own pace and after hours.

CALTRANS INVESTMENTS

In the immediate term, Caltrans will accelerate projects to achieve cost savings, support the creation of new jobs in the transportation sector, and improve roads.

The Federal Highway Administration estimates that approximately 13,000 jobs are created for every billion dollars spent on highway infrastructure. While fuel tax revenues used to fund transportation projects are expected to drop by a total of \$1.8 billion through 2024-25, the May Revision maintains current planning and engineering staffing levels to continue developing and designing previously programmed projects. This will support preparedness for when stimulus funding becomes available.

HOUSING

The state has made significant investments to address a decades-in-the-making housing shortage that has resulted in skyrocketing housing costs, making home ownership an impossibility for many Californians.

Low-income Californians have been disproportionately impacted by the recession. The Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (CARES Act) allows property owners with a mortgage through a government-sponsored entity to request forbearance without fees or penalties for six to twelve months. If the property is not owner-occupied, the owner is required to pass on savings to tenants. However, the forbearance does not defer payments, it postpones them.

STATE SUPPORT FOR RENTERS AND HOMEOWNERS

The Governor took a series of actions to pause evictions statewide and to compel financial institutions to halt foreclosure proceedings. The Judicial Branch also temporarily halted default and eviction proceedings. These efforts have provided immediate relief for Californians.

The May Revision proposes to expend \$331 million in National Mortgage Settlement funds for housing counseling, mortgage assistance and renter legal aid services as follows: the California Housing Financing Agency will administer \$300 million for housing counseling and mortgage assistance, and the remaining \$31 million to the Judicial Council to provide grants to legal aid services organizations.

STATE FUNDING FOR HOUSING

The May Revision maintains the \$500 million in low-income housing state tax credits in the Governor's Budget. This program will continue to expedite housing development throughout the state by leveraging federal bonding capacity to create more opportunities for tax-exempt building of affordable housing. The state also continues ongoing investments including a real estate transaction fee (estimated at \$277 million for 2020-21) for affordable housing, ongoing revenue from cap and trade auction proceeds (estimated at \$452 million for 2020-21) for infill development that also reduces vehicle miles traveled and greenhouse gas emissions, and \$4 billion in Proposition 1 bonds for veterans and affordable housing programs. The Administration will work to expedite allocation of these bond funds.

The May Revision includes \$1.1 billion in available federal funds through the Community Development Block Grant Program for critical infrastructure and disaster relief related to the 2017 and 2018 wildfires.

Additionally, California is estimated to receive a total of \$532 million in federal funds for housing and homeless programs under the CARES Act. These funds will assist the state and local jurisdictions in acquiring housing for people experiencing homelessness, as well as securing low- and moderate-income housing in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. The state intends to utilize these funds to continue bolstering necessary housing production in the aftermath of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Given the increased federal funds and anticipated future actions to support jobs and infrastructure, as well as the effects of the COVID-19 Recession, the following funds are proposed for reversion:

- \$250 million in mixed-income development funds over the next three years.
- \$200 million in infill infrastructure grant funds.
- \$115 million in other housing program funds.

These funds have not been allocated or dedicated to specific projects.

IMPROVING STATE HOUSING PROCESSES AND PROCEDURES

The Administration continues its commitment to implement and identify process improvements to streamline housing programs to remove barriers to increase housing production. These include creation of a joint application for tax credits between the Tax Credit Allocation Committee and California Debt Limit Allocation Committee, the realignment of Housing and Community Development's program award schedules to expedite funding awards and have a greater impact on the ground, and working on improvements to revamp the state's housing planning process with input from key stakeholders and local governments. These efforts will facilitate better, more efficient, and more effective distribution of state resources and ultimately valuable housing production.

The May Revision proposes to leverage federal funds and existing state programs and properties to implement a comprehensive strategy to increase housing supply and to support preservation, protection, and production of housing. This includes:

- Preserving existing subsidized affordable housing stock by stabilizing existing deed-restricted affordable housing and guarding against private sector actors buying up distressed assets;
- Seeking strategies to stabilize tenants in existing units;
- Significantly streamlining, upzoning and producing new housing units, especially on excess and surplus lands, in transit-oriented infill areas and on public land; and
- Building a workforce development strategy to support a skilled and trained housing workforce pipeline with high-road wage rates, and promoting innovative alternative construction methods.

SUPPORTING THE RECOVERY

The CARES Act provides temporary program enhancements and expanded unemployment insurance benefits to millions of workers no longer employed due to the COVID-19 Recession. Most notably, the CARES Act included a federally funded temporary emergency benefit increase of \$600 per week through July 31, 2020 and a federally funded Pandemic Unemployment Assistance (PUA) program to provide up to 39 weeks of unemployment insurance benefits to individuals who do not qualify for traditional unemployment compensation, including business owners, the self-employed, independent contractors, individuals with limited work history, and other individuals not usually eligible for regular state unemployment insurance benefits who are unemployed as a direct result of the COVID-19 Recession. The Short-Term Compensation program included in the CARES Act is another benefit that helps employers retain workers at reduced time and wages—ready to restart operations once stay-at-home orders are eased. Unlike regular unemployment insurance, these benefits are 100-percent funded for up to 26 weeks by the federal government through the end of 2020. It is intended to support businesses in retaining their workers as the economy reopens and customers come back. The Administration is working to address the cumbersome process that has delayed enrollment to increase the number of businesses participating in this program.

A STRONGER, MORE INCLUSIVE ECONOMY

While average per capita income had increased almost 25 percent in real terms from 2007 to 2018, median household income was flat over the same period. Most of the jobs added since the Great Recession were in lower-wage sectors. Job growth was also uneven across regions. Income inequality persisted, and prosperity was not shared by all regions of the state.

The COVID-19 Recession is disproportionately impacting low-wage workers and communities of color, and worsening inequality and opportunity. Informed by the Future of Work Commission and advised by the Task Force on Jobs and Business Recovery, the Administration will continue to work on actions to protect those facing the greatest hardships from COVID-19. It will also work on tangible actions to broaden opportunity, better prepare the state's workforce, and modernize worker safety net protections.

The California state minimum wage increased by \$1 per hour on January 1, 2020 to reach \$12 per hour for businesses with 25 or fewer employees, and \$13 per hour for businesses with 26 or more employees. These increases will affect roughly 60 percent of Californians. Annual increases of \$1 per hour are scheduled to continue until the statewide minimum wage reaches \$15 per hour for everyone, with indexing for inflation after that. The May Revision maintains these scheduled increases.

The 2019 Budget Act significantly expanded the Earned Income Tax Credit (EITC) beginning in tax year 2019, by more than doubling the existing credit from \$400 million to \$1 billion. The expanded program extends credits to 1 million additional households, raising the number of households receiving the credit to 3 million. The expanded credit includes a \$1,000 credit for every family that otherwise qualifies for the credit and has at least one child under the age of 6. The May Revision continues the EITC at this expanded level.

The May Revision also maintains increased resources to protect employees and address the misclassification of employees.
K-12 Education

alifornia provides instruction and support services to roughly six million students in grades kindergarten through twelve in more than 10,000 schools throughout the state. A system of 58 county offices of education, 1,000 local school districts, and more than 1,200 charter schools provides instruction in English, mathematics, history, science, and other core competencies.

The May Revision includes total funding of \$99.7 billion (\$47.7 billion General Fund and \$52 billion other funds) for all K-12 education programs.

PROPOSITION 98—AVOIDING PERMANENT DECLINE

Proposition 98 is a voter-approved constitutional amendment that guarantees minimum funding levels for K-12 schools and community colleges. The Guarantee, which went into effect in the 1988-89 fiscal year, determines funding levels according to multiple factors including the level of funding in 1986-87, General Fund revenues, per capita personal income, and school attendance growth or decline. The Local Control Funding Formula is the primary mechanism for distributing these funds to support all students attending K-12 public schools in California.

The COVID-19 Recession is having a massive impact on the economy and the state's General Fund revenues. This is having an equally significant negative impact on the state's K-14 Proposition 98 Guarantee. The May Revision estimates that the Guarantee will decline by \$19 billion from the Governor's Budget. This decline in funding is approximately 23 percent of the 2019 Budget Act Proposition 98 funding level. Even more troubling, is that declining average daily attendance and declining per capita income numbers cause the Guarantee to stay at a depressed level for the entire forecast period.

To mitigate the deleterious impacts of the state's revenue decline impacts on funding for K-14 schools immediately, the May Revision proposes the following:

- Temporary Revenue Increases. The May Revision proposes the temporary three-year suspension of net operating losses and limitation on business incentive tax credits to offset no more than \$5 million of tax liability per year. These measures along with other more minor tax changes will generate \$4.5 billion in General Fund revenues and approximately \$1.8 billion in benefit to the Proposition 98 Guarantee.
- Federal Funds. The May Revision proposes a one-time investment of \$4.4 billion (\$4 billion federal Coronavirus Relief Fund and \$355 million federal Governor's Emergency Education Relief Fund) to local educational agencies to address learning loss related to COVID-19 school closures, especially for students most heavily impacted by those closures, including supporting an earlier start date for the next school year.
- Revising CalPERS/CalSTRS Contributions. The 2019 Budget Act included \$850 million to buy down local educational agency employer contribution rates for CalSTRS and CalPERS in 2019-20 and 2020-21, as well as \$2.3 billion towards the employer long-term unfunded liability. To provide local educational agencies with increased fiscal relief, the May Revision proposes redirecting the \$2.3 billion paid to CalSTRS and CalPERS towards long-term unfunded liabilities to further reduce employer contribution rates in 2020-21 and 2021-22. This reallocation will reduce the CalSTRS employer rate from 18.41 percent to approximately 16.15 percent in 2020-21 and from 18.2 percent to 16.02 percent in 2021-22. The CalPERS Schools Pool employer contribution rate will be reduced from 22.67 percent to 20.7 percent in 2020-21 and from 25 percent to 22.84 percent in 2021-22.

The May Revision also proposes a significant new obligation for schools to avoid a permanently depressed level of funding for K-14 schools. In 2019-20 and 2020-21, the Proposition 98 funding level drops below the target funding level (Test 2), by a total of approximately \$13 billion. To accelerate the recovery from this funding reduction, the May Revision proposes to provide supplemental appropriations above the constitutionally required Proposition 98 funding level, beginning in 2021-22, and in each of the next several fiscal years, in an amount equal to 1.5 percent of General Fund

revenues per year, up to a cumulative total of \$13 billion. This will accelerate growth in the Guarantee, which the Administration proposes to increase as a share of the General Fund. Currently, Proposition 98 guarantees that K-14 schools receive approximately 38 percent of the General Fund in Test 1 years. The May Revision proposes to increase this share of funding to 40 percent by 2023-24.

The May Revision also reflects the withdrawal of all of the funding in the Public School System Stabilization Account, which was projected at the Governor's Budget to be approximately \$524 in 2019-20. The May Revision projects that no additional deposits will be required and the entire amount is available to offset the decline in the Guarantee.

IMPACTS OF COVID-19 ON K-12 EDUCATION

Since the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic in early March, local educational agencies across the state have closed for classroom instruction, transitioning students and teachers to distance learning models. The loss of classroom-based instruction has had unprecedented impacts on students and families, with significant learning loss for low-income students and students with disabilities.

To provide local educational agencies with flexibility to meet the challenges of serving students in this new environment, the Administration and the Legislature have authorized resources and waivers over the last two months designed to support distance learning. These actions include:

- Passing SB 117, which provided \$100 million to local educational agencies for cleaning and protective equipment, held local educational agencies harmless for Average Daily Attendance (ADA) loss, waived instructional time requirements to prevent funding loss, made it easier for charter schools to convert to a distance learning model, protected funding for after school programs, and extended timelines for assessments, uniform complaint procedures, and special education requirements.
- Issuing Executive Orders N-26-20, N-30-20, N-45-20, and N-56-20. These orders defined expectations for local educational agencies for service delivery during COVID-19 school closures, suspended state academic assessments for the 2019-20 school year, provided additional time for local educational agencies and communities to complete their local control and accountability plans, increased programmatic flexibility for after school programs, and required local educational agencies to be

K-12 EDUCATION

transparent with their communities about actions taken to ensure continuity of student learning during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Additionally, the Superintendent of Public Instruction and the California Collaborative for Educational Excellence have provided guidance and instructional resources to help local educational agencies navigate distance learning and delivery of nutrition and other student services during the COVID-19 pandemic.

The Administration will engage with stakeholders and the Legislature through the spring and summer to determine an appropriate process for the development and adoption of local control and accountability plans and budget overviews for parents that are due December 15, 2020, pursuant to Executive Order N-56-20.

The Administration's priorities for education will include a strong focus on equity for vulnerable students, stability for core instructional programs, learning loss mitigation, and support for helping schools through the current economic downturn. The following May Revision proposals reflect these priorities and provide a roadmap for academic and fiscal recovery.

LEARNING LOSS MITIGATION

The May Revision proposes a one-time investment of \$4.4 billion (\$4 billion federal Coronavirus Relief Fund and \$355 million federal Governor's Emergency Education Relief Fund) to local educational agencies to address learning loss related to COVID-19 school closures, especially for students most heavily impacted by those closures. Specifically, funds may be used for:

- Learning supports that begin prior to the start of the school year, and the continuing intensive instruction and supports into the school year.
- Extending the instructional school year, including an earlier start date, by increasing the number of instructional minutes or days.
- Providing additional academic services for pupils, including diagnostic assessments of student learning needs, intensive instruction for addressing gaps in core academic skills, additional instructional materials or supports, or devices and connectivity for the provision of in-classroom and distance learning.
- Providing integrated student supports to address other barriers to learning, such as the provision of health, counseling or mental health services; professional

development opportunities to help teachers and parents support pupils in distance-learning contexts; access to school breakfast and lunch programs; or programs to address student trauma and social-emotional learning.

Funds will be allocated to local educational agencies offering classroom-based instruction based on a formula that takes into account the share of students most heavily impacted by school closures, including students with disabilities, low-income students, English learners, youth in foster care, and homeless youth.

Additionally, California received \$1.6 billion in federal Elementary and Secondary School Emergency Relief funds. Of this amount, 90 percent (\$1.5 billion) will be allocated to local educational agencies in proportion to the amount of Title I-A funding they receive for COVID-19 related costs. The remaining 10 percent (\$164.7 million) is available for COVID-19 related state-level activities. The May Revision proposes to allocate these funds in the following manner:

- \$100 million for grants to county offices of education for the purpose of developing networks of community schools and coordinating health, mental health, and social service supports for high-needs students. The COVID-19 pandemic has exacerbated conditions associated with poverty, including food insecurity, housing and employment instability, and inadequate health care, which has led to additional barriers to learning.
- \$63.2 million for training and professional development for teachers, administrators, and other school personnel, focused on mitigating opportunity gaps and providing enhanced equity in learning opportunities, addressing trauma-related health and mental health barriers to learning, and developing strategies to support necessary changes in the educational program, such as implementing distance learning and social distancing.
- \$1.5 million for the Department of Education for state operations costs associated with COVID-19 pandemic.

ALIGNING K-12 APPROPRIATIONS WITH AVAILABLE RESOURCES

The reduction in the Proposition 98 minimum guarantee, when combined with statutory technical adjustments, creates a shortfall of \$15.1 billion (\$14.8 billion General Fund) for K-12 schools over 2018-19, 2019-20, and 2020-21. Addressing this gap requires a balance

K-12 EDUCATION

of solutions, including the withdrawal of new proposals, deferrals, and absent additional federal funds, base reductions.

The state is not in a fiscal position to increase rates or expand programs given the drastic budget impacts of the COVID-19 Recession. The following proposals are withdrawn from the Governor's Budget:

- Educator Workforce Investment Grants: \$350 million
- Opportunity Grants: \$300.3 million
- Community Schools Grants: \$300 million
- Special Education Preschool Grant: \$250 million
- Workforce Development Grants: \$193 million
- Teacher Residency Program: \$175 million
- Credential Award Program: \$100 million
- Child Nutrition Programs: \$70 million
- Classified Teacher Credential Program: \$64.1 million
- Local Services Coordination (CCEE): \$18 million
- Computer Science Supplementary Authorization Incentive: \$15 million
- Online Resource Subscriptions for Schools: \$2.5 million
- California College Guidance Initiative: \$2.5 million
- Computer Science Resource Lead: \$2.5 million
- School Climate Workgroup: \$150,000

Additionally, the May Revision suspends the statutory cost-of-living adjustment of 2.31 percent in 2020-21 for all eligible programs.

LOCAL CONTROL FUNDING FORMULA

Absent additional federal funds, the COVID-19 Recession requires a 10 percent (\$6.5 billion) reduction to LCFF. This reduction includes the elimination of a 2.31 percent cost-of-living adjustment. This reduction will be triggered off if the federal government provides sufficient funding to backfill this cut.

The May Revision also proposes apportionment deferrals to align Proposition 98 expenditures and resources with the need of local educational agencies to maintain a level of fiscal stability. In 2019-20, the Budget proposes to defer \$1.9 billion of LCFF apportionments to 2020-21. An additional \$3.4 billion is added to the 2019-20 deferral in 2020-21, for a total of \$5.3 billion in LCFF deferrals scheduled for payment in 2021-22.

SPECIAL EDUCATION

The May Revision maintains the Administration's commitment to increasing special education resources and improving special education financing, programs, and student outcomes. Specifically, the May Revision sustains the Governor's Budget proposal to increase special education base rates, updated at May Revision to \$645 per pupil (reflecting the suspension of the 2.31 percent cost-of-living adjustment), apportioned on a three-year rolling average of local educational agency ADA (allocated to Special Education Local Plan Areas). This new base rate represents a 15 percent increase in the Proposition 98 General Fund contribution to the base formula funding over the amount provided in the 2019 Budget Act.

As in the Governor's Budget, the May Revision proposes that all other existing AB 602 special education categorical funding sources remain as in current law until a finalized formula is adopted.

Further, the May Revision includes \$15 million federal Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) funds for the Golden State Teacher Scholarship Program to increase the special education teacher pipeline, and \$7 million federal IDEA funds to assist local educational agencies with developing regional alternative dispute resolution services and statewide mediation services for cases arising from the COVID-19 pandemic special education distance learning service delivery models.

Finally, the May Revision maintains funding for a study of the current special education governance and accountability structure, and two workgroups to study improved accountability for special education service delivery and student outcomes. The \$1.1 million Proposition 98 General Fund used to fund these proposals is replaced with federal IDEA funds. An additional \$600,000 federal IDEA funds is proposed for: (1) a workgroup to study the costs of out-of-home care, and how these services can be funded in a way that better aligns with the existing provision of these services, and (2) the development of an individualized education program addendum for distance learning.

K-12 CATEGORICAL PROGRAMS

Absent additional federal funds, to limit base reductions to the LCFF, the May Revision includes the following Proposition 98 reductions to K-12 categorical programs, totaling \$352.9 million:

- After School Education and Safety: \$100 million
- K-12 Strong Workforce Program: \$79.4 million
- Career Technical Education Incentive Grant Program: \$77.4 million
- Adult Education Block Grant: \$66.7 million
- California Partnership Academies: \$9.4 million
- Career Technical Education Initiative: \$7.7 million
- Exploratorium: \$3.5 million
- Online Resource Subscriptions for Schools: \$3 million
- Specialized Secondary Program: \$2.4 million
- Agricultural Career Technical Education Incentive Grant: \$2.1 million
- Clean Technology Partnership: \$1.3 million

OTHER K-12 BUDGET ISSUES

Significant Adjustments:

- Local Property Tax Adjustments—An increase of \$84.5 million Proposition 98 General Fund in 2019-20 and \$727 million Proposition 98 General Fund in 2020-21 for school districts, special education local plan areas, and county offices of education as a result of lower offsetting property tax revenues in both years.
- Full-Day Kindergarten Facilities—A decrease of \$300 million one-time non-Proposition 98 General Fund for construction of new, or retrofit of existing, facilities for full-day kindergarten programs. This is roughly the amount that is unexpended from \$400 million provided for this purpose in the 2018 and 2019 Budget Acts. The May Revision proposes sweeping these unexpended program funds to facilitate budgetary resiliency.

- AB 1840 Adjustments—An increase of \$5.8 million one-time Proposition 98 General Fund for Inglewood Unified School District and \$16 million one-time Proposition 98 General Fund for Oakland Unified School District, amounting to 50 percent of the operating deficit of these districts, pursuant to Chapter 426, Statutes of 2018 (AB 1840).
- Categorical Program Growth—A decrease of \$10.9 million Proposition 98 General Fund for selected categorical programs, based on updated estimates of average daily attendance.

FLEXIBILITIES FOR LOCAL EDUCATIONAL AGENCIES

The COVID-19 Recession is going to create tremendous challenges at the local level. The Administration is committed to working with local educational agencies, labor organizations and other stakeholders during this difficult time to offer flexibilities that will minimize impacts to students and allow local educational agencies to continue to make progress on closing the achievement gap for students with disabilities, low-income students, English learners, youth in foster care, and homeless youth. The May Revision includes the following fiscal and programmatic flexibilities:

- Exemptions for local educational agencies if apportionment deferrals create a documented hardship.
- Authority for local educational agencies to exclude state pension payments on behalf of local educational agencies from the calculation of required contributions to routine restricted maintenance.
- Subject to public hearing, increases on local educational agency internal inter-fund borrowing limits to help mitigate the impacts of apportionment deferrals.
- Authority to use proceeds from the sale of surplus property for one-time general fund purposes.
- Options for specified special education staff to utilize technology-based options to serve students.
- Extension of the deadline for transitional kindergarten teachers to obtain 24 college units of early childhood education, from August 1, 2020 to August 1, 2021.

The Administration intends to work with the Legislature and education stakeholders on other options, including expanded flexibility, to protect core services and minimize impacts on students in the context of reduced funding.

K-12 AND EARLY CHILDHOOD EDUCATION

To address the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on child care providers, the state took immediate action to protect providers and families and expand access to care for vulnerable, at-risk children and children of essential workers. Specifically, the Administration and the Legislature authorized SB 117 and Executive Orders N-45-20 and N-47-20 that accomplish the following:

- Provide 30 days of payment protection to providers who experienced closures or reduced attendance due to the COVID-19 pandemic.
- Suspend family fees for 60 days.
- Allow children of essential workers and additional populations of vulnerable children to be eligible for subsidized care, regardless of income.
- Direct the Department of Social Services and the Department of Education to publish guidance on health and safety practices to keep families accessing child care safe during the COVID-19 pandemic.

The Administration also provided \$100 million General Fund, pursuant to SB 89, to clean and sanitize child care facilities, provide protective supplies for child care workers, and increase access to subsidized child care for at-risk children and children of essential workers.

To assist with the child care needs of families outside of the subsidized system, the Department of Social Services worked with employers of essential workers to set up pop-up child care programs. To date, there are close to 500 temporary pop-up child care programs throughout California. The state also released a web portal to help parents locate open child care providers near their home or work.

CARES ACT FUNDING FOR CHILD CARE

California received \$350.3 million through the federal CARES Act for COVID-19 related child care activities. To maximize the benefits of these funds to providers and families, the May Revision proposes the following expenditure plan:

- \$144.3 million for state costs associated with SB 89 expenditures, family fee waivers, and provider payment protection.
- \$125 million for one-time stipends for state-subsidized child care providers offering care during the COVID-19 pandemic.
- \$73 million for increased access to care for at-risk children and children of essential workers.
- \$8 million to extend family fee waivers until June 30, 2020.

DEPARTMENT OF EARLY CHILDHOOD DEVELOPMENT

The Governor's Budget proposed to establish the Department of Early Childhood Development under the California Health and Human Services Agency effective July 1, 2021, to promote a high-quality, affordable, and unified early childhood system. The Governor's Budget included \$6.8 million General Fund in 2020-21 and \$10.4 million ongoing General Fund to transition the existing early learning and child care programs from the Department of Education and the Department of Social Services to the new department.

To achieve General Fund savings while maintaining the goal of consolidating the state's early learning and child care programs under one agency, the May Revision proposes to modify this proposal by transferring the child care programs to the Department of Social Services. This will align all child care programs within a single department in state government and will ease the administration of collective bargaining commencing later this year. The May Revision maintains \$2 million General Fund in 2020-21 to support this transition.

STATE PRESCHOOL

The May Revision protects access to the State Preschool program for income-eligible children. While the current fiscal situation requires a pause in the state's planned early education investments, the Administration's priority to work toward universal preschool access for all children in unchanged.

Absent additional federal funds, the COVID-19 Recession makes the following reductions necessary to balance the state budget. These reductions will be triggered off if the federal government provides sufficient funding to restore them:

- \$159.4 million General Fund to eliminate 10,000 slots scheduled to begin April 1, 2020 and 10,000 additional slots scheduled to begin April 1, 2021.
- \$130 million Proposition 98 General Fund to align State Preschool funding with demand.
- \$94.6 million Proposition 98 General Fund and \$67.3 million General Fund to reflect a 10 percent decrease in the State Preschool daily reimbursement rate.
- \$20.5 million Proposition 98 General Fund and \$11.6 million General Fund to reflect suspension of a 2.31 percent cost-of-living adjustment.
- \$3.3 million Proposition 98 General Fund and \$3 million General Fund to eliminate a 1 percent add-on to the full-day State Preschool reimbursement rate.

CHILD CARE

When considering the availability of state General Fund and federal resources at May Revision, the Administration prioritizes access to subsidized child care for income-eligible families. State subsidized child care is critical to keeping low-income women in the workforce, which is more important than ever given the COVID-19 Recession. California received an increase of \$53.3 million federal Child Care and Development Block Grant funds for federal fiscal year 2020, which the May Revision proposes to increase access for approximately 5,600 children in the Alternative Payment Program. Absent additional federal funds, the COVID-19 Recession makes the following reductions necessary to balance the state budget. These reductions will be triggered off if the federal government provides sufficient funding to restore them:

- \$363 million one-time General Fund and \$45 million one-time federal Child Care and Development Block Grant funds from the 2019 Budget Act for child care workforce and infrastructure.
- \$223.8 million General Fund to reflect a 10 percent decrease in the Standard Reimbursement Rate and the Regional Market Rate.
- \$35.9 million General Fund to reflect to reflect lower caseload estimates in CalWORKs Stage 2 and Stage 3 child care.
- \$25.3 General Fund to reflect suspension of a 2.31 percent cost-of-living adjustment.
- \$10 million one-time General Fund from the 2019 Budget Act for child care data systems

• \$4.4 million one-time General Fund to reduce resources available for the Early Childhood Policy Council, leaving \$2.2 million available for both 2020-21 and 2021-22.

Additionally, the May Revision appropriates \$13.4 million federal funds through the Health and Human Services Agency to reflect the state's 2020 Preschool Development Grant award.

This page intentionally blank to facilitate double-sided printing.

HIGHER EDUCATION

igher Education includes the California Community Colleges (CCC), the California State University (CSU), the University of California (UC), the Student Aid Commission, and several other entities. The May Revision includes \$18.6 billion General Fund and local property tax for all higher education entities in 2020-21.

EQUITY AND ACCESS

FINANCIAL AID COMMITMENT

The May Revision reflects the Administration's commitment to supporting equity and access at the UC, CSU, and CCCs. The May Revision maintains the state's investment in two years of free community college while also providing students with continued access to major financial aid programs, including the California College Promise fee waiver, Cal Grant awards, the students with dependent children Cal Grant supplement, and the Middle Class Scholarship. Protecting these programs ensures that hundreds of thousands of low and middle income Californians can still attend a CCC, CSU, or UC campus without the burden of paying tuition.

EXPANDING ACCESS THROUGH TECHNOLOGY AND INNOVATIVE PRACTICES

The May Revision reflects the state's need to accommodate more students while resources are constrained. Although the economic response from the

COVID-19 pandemic will constrain the state's financial resources, the number of students seeking to enroll at UC, CSU, and CCC campuses is expected to grow in the coming years. CCCs, in particular, will likely see notable increases because their enrollment tends to rise when economic challenges emerge.

The Administration expects that the UC, CSU, and CCCs will continue to work toward maximizing access and maximizing equity, even in an era of constrained state resources. Each segment is expected to harness its innovative strength in order to:

- Create, expand, and continually improve the quality of online educational opportunities that are broadly accessible.
- Adopt policies that better enable underrepresented students interested in job reskilling to enroll in college courses and programs.
- Collaboratively adopt the use of a common online learning management system, for example, Canvas, which is already used by over 80 percent of the UC, CSU, and CCCs.
- Expand opportunities for competency-based education and for credit-by-exam to enable students to earn credit for a broader range of previous experiences, including on-the-job training, internships, military service, or independent efforts.
- Collaboratively develop a common approach to awarding credit for similar learning outcomes, regardless of which segment or campus was involved.
- Establish system-wide policy goals in the following areas:
 - The percentage of courses using open educational resources and offered online.
 - The percentage of students earning credit through competency-based education and/or credit by exam.
 - Providing registration priority to underrepresented students.
- Maintain or further invest in programs that support students' basic needs particularly for underrepresented students.

USE OF RESTRICTED FUND SOURCES

Numerous statutes authorize the CSU and the CCCs to charge fees to support specific operating and/or enterprise activities, such as campus health services, student parking, student housing, and meal services. The UC's broad autonomy also enables the UC to

charge similar fees. To assist the UC, CSU, and CCCs, the Administration will pursue statutory changes to enable the UC, CSU and CCCs to use restricted fund balances, except lottery balances, to address COVID-19 related impacts and the loss of revenue from university enterprise functions.

Coupled with this, restricted fund balance flexibility would be a requirement for the CSU and the CCCs, and a request of the UC, that any restricted fund balances first be used to mitigate the impacts to programs and services that predominantly support underrepresented student access to, and success at, a college or university, and to expand the number of students annually served in online courses and programs.

Additionally, the Administration will pursue statutory changes authorizing the UC to temporarily use the savings from the refinancing of specified debt to address COVID-19 related impacts and the loss of revenue from university enterprise functions.

FEDERAL CARES ACT FUNDS

The CARES Act included a national total of \$30.8 billion to support an Education Stabilization Fund. Of this funding, roughly \$14 billion is allocated to a Higher Education Emergency Relief Fund, roughly \$13.2 billion is allocated to an Elementary and Secondary School Emergency Relief Fund and \$3 billion is allocated to a Governor's Emergency Education Relief Fund. The UC, CSU, and CCC's are expected to receive at least \$260 million, \$525 million, and \$579 million, respectively, from the Higher Education Emergency Relief Fund. The federal methodology for allocating these funds to schools and institutions varies, and institutions of higher education are required to expend half of the higher education funds to provide emergency grants to students. The Administration expects CCCs, CSU, and UC to set-aside a portion of the funding for emergency grants to students to provide emergency grant assistance to foster youth.

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

Consisting of ten campuses, the UC is the primary institution authorized to independently award doctoral degrees and professional degrees. The UC educates approximately 280,000 undergraduate and graduate students and receives the highest state subsidy per student among the state's three public higher education segments. In 2018-19, the UC awarded 77,000 degrees. An additional 400,000 students participate in continuing education programs through the university extensions.

Significant Adjustments:

- UC PATH—Increase the authorization for the UC Office of the President to assess campuses to support UC PATH from \$15.3 million to \$46.8 million and include provisional language requiring the UC Office of the President to collaborate with campuses to maximize their use of non-core funds to support the assessment.
- Graduate Medical Education—An increase of \$1.5 million ongoing General Fund to maintain the Proposition 56 Graduate Medical Education Program at an ongoing total of \$40 million.
- UC Riverside School of Medicine—Maintain \$11.3 million ongoing General Fund to support the current operations of the UC Riverside School of Medicine.
- UC San Francisco School of Medicine Fresno Branch Campus—Maintain \$1.2 million ongoing General Fund to support the UC San Francisco School of Medicine Fresno Branch Campus in partnership with UC Merced.
- Subject Matter Project—\$6 million federal funds to support subject matter projects to address learning loss in mathematics, science, and English/language arts resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic.
- Animal Shelter Grant Program—Maintain \$5 million one-time General Fund for an animal shelter grant demonstration project.

The state is not in a fiscal position to expand programs given the drastic budget impacts of the COVID-19 Recession. The following proposals are withdrawn from the Governor's Budget:

- \$169.2 million ongoing General Fund to support a 5-percent UC base increase.
- \$3.6 million ongoing General Fund to support a 5-percent UC Division of Agriculture and Natural Resources base increase.
- \$3 million ongoing General Fund to establish the Center for Public Preparedness Multi-Campus Research Initiative.
- \$4 million one-time General Fund to support degree and certificate completion programs at UC extension centers.
- \$1.3 million one-time General Fund to support a UC Subject Matter Project in computer science.

Absent additional federal funds, the COVID-19 Recession makes the following reductions necessary to balance the state budget. These reductions will be triggered off if the federal government provides sufficient funding to restore them:

- A decrease of \$338 million ongoing General Fund to reflect a 10-percent reduction in support of UC. In implementing this reduction, the Administration expects UC to minimize the impact to programs and services serving underrepresented students and student access to the UC.
- A decrease of \$34.4 million ongoing General Fund to reflect a 10-percent reduction in support of UC, UC Office of the President, UC PATH, and the UC Division of Agriculture and Natural Resources.
- A decrease of \$4 million limited-term General Fund provided to support summer term financial aid.

CALIFORNIA STATE UNIVERSITY

The CSU serves approximately 410,000 undergraduate students across 23 campuses and receives funding from a variety of sources, including state General Fund, federal funds, lottery funds, and student tuition and fees. In 2018-19, the CSU awarded over 127,000 degrees. The CSU also provides opportunities for residents to enroll in professional and continuing education programs.

The state is not in a fiscal position to expand programs given the drastic budget impacts of the COVID-19 Recession. The following proposals are withdrawn from the Governor's Budget:

- \$199 million ongoing General Fund to support a 5-percent increase in base resources.
- \$6 million one-time General Fund to support degree and certificate completion programs.

Absent additional federal funds, the COVID-19 Recession makes the following reductions necessary to balance the state budget. These reductions will be triggered off if the federal government provides sufficient funding to restore them:

• A decrease of \$398 million ongoing General Fund to reflect a 10-percent reduction in support for the CSU. In implementing this reduction, the Administration expects the CSU to minimize the impact to programs and services serving underrepresented students and student access to the CSU.

• A decrease of \$6 million limited-term General Fund provided to support Summer Term Financial Aid.

CALIFORNIA COMMUNITY COLLEGES

The CCCs are the largest system of higher education in the nation, serving roughly one-quarter of the nation's community college students, or approximately 2.1 million students. The CCCs provide basic skills, career education, and undergraduate transfer education with 73 districts, 115 campuses, and 78 educational centers. In 2018-19, the community colleges awarded more than 98,000 certificates, 186,000 degrees and transferred about 103,000 students to four-year institutions.

OTHER COMMUNITY COLLEGE FLEXIBILITIES

To assist CCCs in their recovery from the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic and provide CCCs with additional near term certainty, the May Revision proposes statutory changes to:

- Exempt direct COVID-19 related expenses incurred by districts from the 50 Percent Law. This would not include revenue declines.
- Suspend procedures regarding the development of short-term career technical education courses and programs to expedite the offering of these programs and courses.
- Reflect the revised 2019-20 Student Centered Funding Formula rates.
- Further utilize past-year data sources that have not been impacted by COVID-19 within the Student Centered Funding Formula.
- Extend the Student Centered Funding Formula hold harmless provisions for an additional two years and require reductions to the Student Centered Funding Formula that are necessary to balance the budget to be proportionately applied to all CCCs by reducing the Formula's rates, stability, and hold harmless provisions.

Significant Adjustments:

• The May Revision sustains support for two years of free community college, for the Student Success Completion Grants, sustains several categorical programs at current funding levels, including the Educational Opportunity Programs and Services Program and the Disabled Students Programs and Services Program, and sustains the proposal to provide \$10 million ongoing Proposition 98 General Fund to support immigrant legal services.

- The May Revision maintains \$106.4 million Proposition 98 General Fund to support the proposed CCC System Support Program.
- Other adjustments:
 - An increase of \$130.1 million Proposition 98 General Fund as a result of decreased offsetting local property tax revenues.
 - A decrease of \$11.4 million ongoing Proposition 98 General Fund to establish or support food pantries at community college campuses. The May Revision proposes statutory changes to support community college food pantries within available Student Equity and Achievement Program funding.
 - A decrease of \$5.8 million ongoing Proposition 98 General Fund to support Dreamer Resource Liaisons. The May Revision proposes statutory changes to support Dreamer Resource Liaisons within available Student Equity and Achievement Program funding.
 - Deferral of \$330.1 million Proposition 98 General Fund from 2019-20 to 2020-21.
 - Deferral \$662.1 million Proposition 98 General Fund from 2020-21 to 2021-22.
- CCC Facilities—Including projects proposed at the Governor's Budget, the May Revision proposes total general obligation bond funding of \$223.1 million including \$28.4 million to start 25 new capital outlay projects and \$194.7 million for the construction phase of 15 projects anticipated to complete design by spring 2020. This allocation represents the next installment of the \$2 billion available to CCCs under Proposition 51.

The state is not in a fiscal position to expand programs given the drastic budget impacts of the COVID-19 Recession. The following proposals are withdrawn from the Governor's Budget:

 \$700,000 one-time General Fund provided to the Chancellor's Office to convene a working group and develop the report required by SB 206. The Administration expects the Chancellor's Office to seek private philanthropy to support the work group and to develop the required report.

- \$15 million one-time Proposition 98 General Fund for a faculty pilot fellowship program.
- \$10 million one-time Proposition 98 General Fund for part-time faculty office hours.
- \$10 million one-time Proposition 98 General Fund to develop and implement zero-textbook cost degrees.
- \$5 million ongoing Proposition 98 General Fund to provide instructional materials for dual enrollment students.
- \$9.3 million ongoing Proposition 98 General Fund, of which \$0.1 million is attributable a revised cost-of-living adjustment at the May Revision, for a 2.31 percent cost-of-living adjustment for various categorical programs.

Absent additional federal funds, the COVID-19 Recession makes the following reductions necessary to balance the state budget. These reductions will be triggered off if the federal government provides sufficient funding to restore them:

- \$167.7 million ongoing Proposition 98 General Fund, of which \$0.6 million is attributable a revised cost-of-living adjustment at the May Revision, for a 2.31 percent cost-of-living adjustment for apportionments.
- \$31.9 million ongoing Proposition 98 General Fund for enrollment growth.
- \$83.2 million Proposition 98 General Fund, of which \$40.4 million was one-time, for support of apprenticeship programs, the California Apprenticeship Initiative, and work-based learning models.
- Decreasing available Student Centered Funding Formula Proposition 98 General Fund by \$593 million Proposition 98 General Fund, or roughly 10 percent when combined with a foregone cost-of-living adjustment. To maintain student access to CCCs, the Administration proposes statute to proportionally reduce district allocations through adjustments to the Formula's rates, stability provisions, and hold harmless provisions.
- Decreasing support for the CCC Strong Workforce Program by \$135.6 million Proposition 98 General Fund.
- Decreasing support for the Student Equity and Achievement Program by \$68.8 million Proposition 98 General Fund.

- Decreasing Support for the Part-Time Faculty Compensation, Part-Time Faculty Office Hours, and the Academic Senate of the CCCs by \$7.3 million Proposition 98 General Fund.
- Reducing Support for Calbright College by \$3 million Proposition 98 General Fund.

The May Revision also proposes to defer \$330 million from 2019-20 to 2020-21 and \$662.1 million from 2020-21 to 2021-22. These deferrals will help to maintain programs given the magnitude of the reduction proposed to the schools. Also, the community colleges will benefit from supplemental payments to increase the Proposition 98 guarantee starting in 2021-22.

CALIFORNIA STUDENT AID COMMISSION

The California Student Aid Commission administers financial aid programs, including the Cal Grant program and the Middle Class Scholarship Program. The state's Cal Grant program is estimated to provide over 394,000 financial aid awards to students who meet specified eligibility criteria in 2019-20.

The Administration remains committed to fostering equity and access within the state's higher education institutions. In an effort to support college affordability, the May Revision maintains all financial aid programs, adjusted for caseload.

Significant Adjustments:

- Cal Grant Program Costs—An increase of \$599.7 million General Fund in 2020-21 to account for the following:
 - Participation Estimates—A decrease of \$348,000 in 2020-21 to reflect a decrease in the estimated number of new recipients in 2019-20. The May Revision also reflects increased costs of \$11.89 million in 2019-20.
 - Temporary Assistance for Needy Families Reimbursements (TANF)—A decrease of \$600 million in 2020-21, which increases the amount of General Fund needed for program costs by a like amount. This is a technical adjustment and reflects increased TANF needed in the state's CalWORKs program.
- Tuition Award for Students at Private Nonprofit Institutions—A decrease of \$8.9 million General Fund to reflect the reduction of the maximum Cal Grant award for private nonprofit institutions from \$9,084 to \$8,056. Current law specified the application of

this adjustment because required students with associates degree for transfer admittance levels were not met.

The state is not in a fiscal position to expand programs given the drastic budget impacts of the COVID-19 Recession. The following proposals are withdrawn or modified from the Governor's Budget:

- \$1.8 million limited-term to support new leased space for the California Student Aid Commission's headquarters
- \$88.4 million one-time General Fund provided in the 2019 Budget Act to support the Golden State Teacher Grant Program
- \$15 million one-time General Fund provided in the 2019 Budget Act to support the Child Savings Accounts Grant Program
- \$4.5 million one-time General Fund to revise the proposal for the Student Debt Loan Work group and Outreach to only support the work group, and no longer provide outreach grants to higher education institutions

HASTINGS COLLEGE OF THE LAW

Hastings College of the Law is affiliated with the UC system, but is governed by its own Board of Directors. Located in San Francisco, it primarily serves students seeking a Juris Doctor degree, but also has masters programs. In 2018-19, Hastings enrolled 964 full-time equivalent students. Of these, 940 were Juris Doctor students.

The state is not in a fiscal position to expand programs given the drastic budget impacts of the COVID-19 Recession. The following proposal is withdrawn from the Governor's Budget:

• \$1.4 million ongoing General Fund to support operational costs

Absent additional federal funds, the COVID-19 Recession makes the following reductions necessary to balance the state budget. This reduction will be triggered off if the federal government provides sufficient funding to restore it:

• A decrease of \$1.5 million ongoing general fund to reflect a 10-percent reduction in support of the Hastings College of the Law.

CALIFORNIA STATE LIBRARY

The California State Library serves as the central reference and research library for the Governor and Legislature. Additionally, the State Library provides critical assistance to the 186 library jurisdictions and nearly 1,128 libraries across the state.

The state is not in a fiscal position to expand programs given the drastic budget impacts of the COVID-19 Recession. The following proposals are withdrawn from the Governor's Budget:

- \$1 million one-time General Fund to support the Lunch at the Library program
- \$1 million one-time General Fund to support the Online Services (Zip Books) program
- \$132,000 ongoing General Fund to support a Director of Legislative Affairs position at the State Library

Absent additional federal funds, the COVID-19 Recession makes the following reduction necessary to balance the state budget. This reduction will be triggered off if the federal government provides sufficient funding to restore it:

• A decrease of \$1.75 million ongoing General Fund to reduce funding to the Library Services Act

SCHOLARSHARE INVESTMENT BOARD

The ScholarShare Investment Board administers the Golden State ScholarShare 529 College Savings Trust Program, the Governor's Scholarship Programs, and the California Memorial Scholarship Program.

The state is not in a fiscal position to expand programs given the drastic budget impacts of the COVID-19 Recession. The following proposal is withdrawn from the Governor's Budget:

• A decrease of \$15 million one-time General Fund provided in the 2019 Budget Act to support the Child Savings Accounts Grant Program

FRESNO DRIVE

The May Revision maintains \$2 million one-time General Fund to support the Fresno Developing the Region's Inclusive and Vibrant Economy (DRIVE) initiative's Fresno-Merced Food Innovation Corridor concept. While the Administration recognizes the significance of this project to economic development, the state is not in the fiscal condition to allocate funding levels proposed in the Governor's Budget and the May Revision proposes reducing the remaining funding allocated for this project as follows:

- \$31 million one-time General Fund to support the Fresno-Merced Food Innovation Corridor concept
- \$17 million one-time General Fund to support a plan to design educational pathways to improve social and economic mobility in the greater Fresno Region. The Collaborative is expected to receive a grant from the funding allocated in the 2019-20 budget for Innovation Grants

Health and Human Services

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH CARE SERVICES

Medi-Cal, California's Medicaid program, is administered by the Department of Health Care Services. Medi-Cal is a public health care program that provides comprehensive health care services at no or low cost for low-income individuals. The federal government mandates basic services be included in the program, including: physician services; family nurse practitioner services; hospital inpatient and outpatient services; laboratory and radiology services; family planning; and early and periodic screening, diagnosis, and treatment services for children. In addition to these mandatory services the state provides optional benefits, such as outpatient drugs and medical equipment. The Department also operates the California Children's Services and the Primary and Rural Health programs, and oversees county-operated community mental health and substance use disorder programs.

The Medi-Cal budget is \$99.5 billion (\$22.7 billion General Fund) in 2019-20 and \$112.1 billion (\$23.2 billion General Fund) in 2020-21. The May Revision assumes that caseload will increase significantly due to economic conditions associated with the COVID-19 Recession. Specifically, the May Revision assumes that caseload will peak at 14.5 million in July 2020, or about 2.0 million above what caseload would have been absent the COVID-19 pandemic.

The May Revision maintains Medi-Cal program eligibility, including for the optional expansion and undocumented children and young adults, in order to help the state's low income residents respond to the COVID-19 pandemic.

The state is not in a fiscal position to increase rates or expand programs given the drastic budget impacts of the COVID-19 Recession. The following proposals are withdrawn from the Governor's Budget:

- California Advancing and Innovating Medi-Cal (CalAIM)—The May Revision proposes to delay implementation of the CalAIM initiative, resulting in a decrease of \$695 million (\$347.5 million General Fund) in 2020-21. In addition, the May Revision removes \$45.1 million General Fund in 2020-21 and \$42 million General Fund in 2021-22 in associated funding for the Behavioral Health Quality Improvement Program.
- Full-Scope Medi-Cal to Undocumented Older Adults—The May Revision proposes to withdraw this proposal for a savings of \$112.7 million (\$87 million General Fund), inclusive of In-Home Supportive Services costs.
- Medi-Cal Aged, Blind, and Disabled Income Level Expansion—The May Revision proposes not to implement the 2019 Budget Act expansion of Medi-Cal to aged, blind, and disabled individuals with incomes between 123 percent and 138 percent of the federal poverty level, for a savings of \$135.5 million (\$67.7 million General Fund). Furthermore, the May Revision proposes not to implement the Aged, Blind, and Disabled Medicare Part B disregard.
- 340B Supplemental Payment Pool—The May Revision proposes to withdraw this
 proposal to provide payments to non-hospital clinics for 340B pharmacy services for
 a savings of \$52.5 million (\$26.3 million General Fund) in 2020-21, growing to
 \$105 million (\$52.5 million General Fund) in 2021-22 and thereafter.
- Postpartum Mental Health Expansion—The May Revision proposes not to implement the 2019 Budget Act expansion of Medi-Cal to post-partum individuals who are receiving health care coverage and who are diagnosed with a maternal mental health condition, for a savings of \$34.3 million General Fund in 2020-21.
- Hearing Aids—The May Revision proposes to withdraw this proposal to assist with the cost of hearing aids and related services for children without health insurance coverage in households with incomesup to 600 percent of the federal poverty level, for a savings of \$5 million General Fund.

 2019 Budget Act Reversions—The May Revision proposes to revert and reduce funding from various augmentations that were included in the 2019 Budget Act. These adjustments include reverting funding for behavioral health counselors in emergency departments, Medi-Cal enrollment navigators, and the Medical Interpreters Pilot Project. In addition, the May Revision proposes to eliminate the augmentation for caregiver resource centers. These changes result in General Fund savings of \$25 million in 2019-20 and 2020-21, and \$10 million in 2021-22.

Absent additional federal funds, the COVID-19 Recession makes the following reductions necessary to balance the state budget. These reductions will be triggered off if the federal government provides sufficient funding to restore them:

- Adult Dental and Other Optional Benefits—The May Revision proposes to reduce adult dental benefits to the partial restoration levels of 2014. In addition, the May Revision proposes to eliminate audiology, incontinence creams and washes, speech therapy, optician/optical lab, podiatry, acupuncture, optometry, nurse anesthetists services, occupational and physical therapy, pharmacist services, screening, brief intervention and referral to treatments for opioids and other illicit drugs in Medi-Cal, and diabetes prevention program services, for a total General Fund savings of \$54.7 million.
- Proposition 56 Adjustments—Beginning in 2020-21, the May Revision proposes to shift \$1.2 billion in Proposition 56 funding from providing supplemental payments for physician, dental, family health services, developmental screenings, and non-emergency medical transportation, value-based payments, and loan repayments for physicians and dentists to support growth in the Medi-Cal program compared to 2016 Budget Act. About \$67 million in Proposition 56 funding would continue to support rate increases for home health providers, pediatric day health care facilities, pediatric sub-acute facilities, AIDS waiver supplemental payments, already awarded physician and dentist loan repayments, and trauma screenings (and associated trainings).
- Community-Based Adult Services (CBAS) and Multipurpose Senior Services Program (MSSP)—The May Revision proposes to eliminate the CBAS and MSSP programs. The effective date for CBAS would be January 1, 2021 for a General Fund savings of \$106.8 million in 2020-21 and \$255.8 million in 2021-22 (full implementation). The effective date for MSSP would be no sooner than July 1, 2020. These proposals are discussed in detail under The Department of Aging.

- Federally Qualified Health Centers (FQHC) Payment Adjustments—The May Revision proposes to eliminate special carve outs for FQHCs for a savings of \$100 million (\$50 million General Fund).
- Estate Recovery—The May Revision proposes to reinstate the estate recovery policy in place before the 2016 Budget Act for a General Fund savings of \$16.9 million beginning in 2020-21.
- Martin Luther King, Jr. Hospital—The May Revision proposes to eliminate a supplemental payment for this hospital, which results in \$8.2 million General Fund savings in 2020-21 and \$12.4 million ongoing.
- County Administration—The May Revision proposes to hold funding for county administration at the 2019 Budget Act level, inclusive of \$12.7 million General Fund approved in March 2020 through the Control Section 36.00 process, for a savings of \$31.4 million (\$11 million General Fund).
- Family Mosaic Project—The May Revision proposes to eliminate this state-funded project for an ongoing General Fund savings of \$1.1 million beginning in 2020-21.

To reduce costs, the May Revision also proposes efficiencies, as follows:

 Managed Care Efficiencies—The May Revision proposes various changes to the way that managed care capitation rates are determined. These changes include various acuity, efficiency, and cost containment adjustments. These adjustments would be effective for the managed care rate year starting January 1, 2021, and would yield General Fund savings of \$91.6 million in 2020-21 and \$179 million in 2021-22, growing thereafter. Additionally, the May revision assumes a 1.5 percent rate reduction for the period July 1, 2019, through December 31, 2020, for General Fund savings of \$182 million in 2020-21.

The May Revision also contains the following adjustments:

- Enhanced Federal Funding—A decrease of \$5.1 billion General Fund, associated with the assumed receipt of an enhanced Federal Medical Assistance Percentage (FMAP) through June 30, 2021. This includes federal funding reflected in the Department of Social Services and Department of Developmental Services budgets for Medicaid-covered services.
- Managed Care Organization (MCO) Tax—A decrease of \$1.7 billion General Fund in 2020-21 associated with the April 2020 federal approval of a revised MCO tax.

- Drug Rebate Reserve—A decrease of \$181 million General Fund due to not restoring a drug rebate volatility reserve.
- County Medical Services Program (CMSP)—The CMSP Board has amassed a considerable reserve since the state changed their realignment allocation in the wake of implementing the Affordable Care Act. The 2019 Budget Act suspended the Board's annual allocation until the reserve level reaches two years of expenditures, shifting the revenues the Board otherwise would have received to offset General Fund costs in the CalWORKs program. In light of the COVID-19 pandemic, the May Revision proposes to shift \$50 million of the reserves in each of the next four fiscal years to offset General Fund CalWORKs costs. In recognition of the expedited timeline by which the reserves would return to reasonable levels, the May Revision also proposes to restore the Board's annual allocation beginning in 2021-22.
- Skilled Nursing Facilities (SNFs)—To support COVID-19 response in SNFs, the May Revision maintains the nursing facility reform framework proposed in the Governor's Budget. In addition, the May Revision assumes a 10-percent rate increase for SNFs for four months during the COVID-19 pandemic, at a General Fund cost of \$72.4 million in 2019-20 and \$41.6 million in 2020-21. The Administration is waiting approval from the federal Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services to implement this increase.
- e-cigarette Tax—A decrease of \$10 million General Fund in 2020-21, and \$33 million General Fund ongoing beginning in 2021-22, associated with shifting unallocated revenues from the proposed e-cigarette tax increase to support growth in Medi-Cal costs.

DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL SERVICES

The Department of Social Services (DSS) serves, aids, and protects needy and vulnerable children and adults in ways that strengthen and preserve families, encourage personal responsibility, and foster independence. The Department's major programs include CalWORKs, CalFresh, In-Home Supportive Services (IHSS), Supplemental Security Income/State Supplementary Payment (SSI/SSP), Child Welfare Services, Community Care Licensing, and Disability Determination. The May Revision includes \$32.1 billion (\$13 billion General Fund) for DSS programs in 2020-21.

The Department administers a wide array of federal and state-funded services that provide cash assistance; food and nutrition; services to help protect children and assist

families; care and assistance programs for adults; services for foster parents, youth and families; adoption services; hearings and appeals; and services for refugees, immigrants, trafficking victims, disaster victims, and housing and homelessness services. The May Revision maintains eligibility for these critical services as the state recovers from the COVID-19 pandemic. The May Revision also maintains critical services as many families are in need as the state recovers from the COVID-19 Recession.

CALWORKS

The CalWORKs program, California's version of the federal Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF) program, provides temporary cash assistance to low-income families with children to meet basic needs. Eligibility requirements and benefit levels are established by the state. Counties have flexibility in program design, services, and funding to meet local needs.

Total TANF expenditures are \$11.2 billion (state, local, and federal funds) in 2020-21. The amount budgeted includes \$9.2 billion for CalWORKs program expenditures and \$2 billion in other programs. Other programs include Child Care, Child Welfare Services, Foster Care, Department of Developmental Services programs, the Statewide Automated Welfare System, Work Incentive Nutritional Supplement, California Community Colleges Child Care and Education Services, Cal Grants, and the Department of Child Support Services. Average monthly CalWORKs caseload is estimated to be approximately 724,000 families in 2020-21, a 102 percent increase from the Governor's Budget projection due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

The May Revision maintains CalWORKs program eligibility, in order to support the state's low-income residents respond during the COVID-19 pandemic. In addition, the May Revision includes an increase of \$82.3 million General Fund/TANF Block Grant for CalWORKs county administration to facilitate enrollment in the program and services to beneficiaries.

The May Revision assumes the Safety Net Reserve is used to support health and social services programs over the course of two years. This proposal would result in a savings of \$450 million General Fund in 2020-21 and \$450 million in 2021-22.

Absent additional federal funds, the COVID-19 Recession makes the following reductions necessary to balance the state budget. These reductions will be triggered off if the federal government provides sufficient funding to restore them:

- CalWORKs Employment Services and Child Care—The May Revision reflects reduced assumptions about the uses of CalWORKs Employment Services and Child Care. These changes would result in a savings of \$665 million General Fund in 2020-21.
- CalWORKs Expanded Subsidized Employment—The May Revision reduces all but the base funding for CalWORKs Subsidized Employment. This proposal would result in a savings of \$134.1 million General Fund in 2020-21.
- CalWORKs Home Visiting—The May Revision reduces funding for CalWORKs Home Visiting. This proposal would result in a savings of \$30 million General Fund in 2020-21.
- CalWORKs Outcomes and Accountability Review (CalOAR)—The May Revision eliminates funding for CalOAR, but provides counties the options the ability to continue implementing this improvement. This proposal would result in a savings of \$21 million General Fund in 2020-21.

IN-HOME SUPPORTIVE SERVICES

The IHSS program provides domestic and related services such as housework and transportation, and personal care services to eligible low-income aged, blind, and disabled persons. These services are provided to assist individuals to remain safely in their homes. The May Revision includes \$14.7 billion (\$4.3 billion General Fund) for the IHSS program in 2020-21. Average monthly caseload in this program is estimated to be 581,901 recipients in 2020-21, a 0.4-percent decrease from the Governor's Budget.

To reduce costs, the May Revision also proposes efficiencies, as follows:

- Conform IHSS Residual Program to Timing of Medi-Cal Coverage—The May Revision assumes the IHSS Residual Program conforms to timing of Medi-Cal coverage. This proposal would result in a savings of \$72.6 million General Fund in 2020-21.
- IHSS Payroll savings—The May Revision assumes the Department will enter into a contract with the state Case Management, Information, and Payroll System vendor to perform IHSS payroll functions. This proposal would result in a savings of \$9.2 million General Fund in 2020-21.

Absent additional federal funds, the COVID-19 Recession makes the following reductions necessary to balance the state budget. These reductions will be triggered off if the federal government provides sufficient funding to restore them:

- IHSS Service Hours—The May Revision assumes a 7-percent reduction in the number of hours provided to IHSS beneficiaries, effective January 1, 2021. This proposal would result in a savings of \$205 million General Fund in 2020-21.
- County and Public Authority Administration—The May Revision freezes IHSS county administration funding at the 2019-20 level. This proposal would result in a savings of \$12.2 million General Fund in 2020-21.

SUPPLEMENTAL SECURITY INCOME/STATE SUPPLEMENTARY PAYMENT (SSI/SSP)

The federal SSI program provides a monthly cash benefit to eligible aged, blind, and disabled persons who meet the program's income and resource requirements. In California, the SSI payment is augmented with an SSP grant. These cash grants assist recipients with basic needs and living expenses. The federal Social Security Administration administers the SSI/SSP program, making eligibility determinations, computing grants and issuing combined monthly checks to recipients. The state-only Cash Assistance Program for Immigrants provides monthly cash benefits to aged, blind, and disabled legal noncitizens who are ineligible for SSI/SSP due solely to their immigration status.

The May Revision includes \$2.7 billion General Fund in 2020-21 for the SSI/SSP program. This represents a 0.4-percent increase from the Governor's Budget. The average monthly caseload in this program is estimated to be 1.2 million recipients in 2020-21, a 0.7-percent increase from the Governor's Budget. The May Revision preserves funding for the expansion of CalFresh eligibility to SSI recipients.

Absent additional federal funds, the COVID-19 Recession makes the following reductions necessary to balance the state budget. This reduction will be triggered off if the federal government provides sufficient funding to restore them:

SSI/SSP Grants—The May Revision assumes an offset to the SSP grant that
is equivalent to the amount of the federal January 2021 cost of living adjustment to
the SSI portion of the grant. This proposal would result in a savings of \$33.6 million
General Fund in 2020-21, but no reduction in overall SSI/SSP grants received
by recipients compared to the prior year.

CHILDREN'S PROGRAMS

Child Welfare Services include family support and maltreatment prevention services, child protective services, foster care services, and permanency programs. California's child welfare system provides a continuum of services for children who are either at risk of, or have suffered, abuse, neglect, or exploitation. Program success is measured in terms of improving the safety, permanence, and well-being of children and families. The May Revision includes \$506.1 million General Fund on 2020-21 for these programs, an decrease of \$90.5 million General Fund since the Governor's Budget. When federal, state, 1991 Realignment, and 2011 Realignment funds are included, total funding for children's programs is over \$6.7 billion in 2020-21.

The state is not in a fiscal position to increase rates or expand programs given the drastic budget impacts of the COVID-19 Recession. The following proposals are withdrawn from the Governor's Budget:

- Foster Family Agencies—The May Revision eliminates Foster Family Agency social worker rate increases. This proposal would result in a savings of \$4.8 million General Fund in 2020-21.
- Family Urgent Response System—The May Revision eliminates the Family Urgent Response System. This proposal would result in a savings of \$30 million General Fund in 2020-21.
- Public Health Nurse Early Intervention Program—The May Revision eliminates the Public Health Nurse Early Intervention Program in Los Angeles County. This proposal would result in a savings of \$8.3 million General Fund in 2020-21.

Absent additional federal funds, the COVID-19 Recession makes the following reductions necessary to balance the state budget. This reduction will be triggered off if the federal government provides sufficient funding to restore them:

 Continuum of Care Reform Rates—The May Revision assumes a reduction in Continuum of Care Reform short-term residential treatment program provider payment rates of 5-percent. It also assumes the suspension of additional level of care rates 2 through 4. This proposal would result in a savings of \$28.8 million General Fund in 2020-21.

DEPARTMENT OF DEVELOPMENTAL SERVICES

The Department of Developmental Services (DDS) provides individuals with developmental disabilities a variety of services that allow them to live and work independently or in supported environments. California provides services to individuals with developmental disabilities as an entitlement. The May Revision includes \$9.2 billion (\$5.5 billion General Fund) and estimates that approximately 366,353 individuals will receive developmental services in 2020-21.

Prior to 1969, services for individuals with developmental disabilities were primarily limited to those provided in state-operated institutions. The Lanterman Developmental Disabilities Services Act established a statewide network of regional centers and related services to allow consumers to live independent and productive lives in the community. The May Revision maintains the entitlement to services for individuals with developmental disabilities despite the economic and budgetary challenges resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic.

The state is not in a fiscal position to increase rates or expand programs given the drastic budget impacts of the COVID-19 Recession. The following proposals are withdrawn from the Governor's Budget:

- Enhanced Performance Incentive Program—Align Regional Center performance contracts and require Regional Centers to meet an advanced tier of performance measures and outcomes to be eligible for an incentive payment. This results in a savings of \$60 million General Fund in 2020-21, 2021-22 and 2022-23.
- Enhanced Caseload Ratios for Young Children—Reduce the regional center services coordinator caseload ratio for children who are three to five years old. This results in a savings of \$11.8 million General Fund in 2020-21.
- Systemic, Therapeutic, Assessment, Resources and Treatment Training—Provide training and supportive services for individuals with co-occurring developmental disabilities and mental health needs. This results in a savings of \$2.6 million General Fund in 2020-21.
- Provider Rate Adjustments—Provide supplemental rate increases for Early Start Specialized Therapeutic Services, Infant Development Programs and Independent Living services. This results in a savings of \$10.8 million General Fund in 2020-21 and \$21.6 million in 2021-22.
Absent additional federal funds, the COVID-19 Recession makes the following reductions necessary to balance the state budget. These reductions will be triggered off if the federal government provides sufficient funding to restore them:

- Cost Sharing for Higher Income Families—Establish a cost-sharing program and would result in a savings of approximately \$2 million General Fund in 2020-21 and \$4 million ongoing.
- Rate Reductions, Expenditure, and Utilization Reviews—Adjust provider rates and review expenditure trends resulting in anticipated savings of \$300 million General Fund in 2020-21.
- Uniform Holiday Schedule—Implement the uniform holiday schedule outlined in Welfare and Institutions Code section 4692. This proposal would result in a savings of approximately \$31.3 million General Fund in 2020-21.
- Regional Center Operations—A reduction to the operations budget for Regional Centers. This proposal results in a savings of \$30 million General Fund in 2020-21 and \$55 million ongoing.

To reduce costs, the May Revision also proposes efficiencies, as follows:

 Maximize Federal Funding for Eligible Services and Enroll Individuals into Medi-Cal—The May Revision includes an increase in anticipated federal funds to include additional individuals with developmental disabilities eligible for and enrolled in Medi-Cal and new waiver eligible services. This proposal would result in a savings of \$27 million General Fund in 2020-21 and \$40 million ongoing.

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC HEALTH

The Department of Public Health is charged with protecting and promoting the health and well-being of the people of California. The Budget includes \$3.2 billion (\$209.1 million General Fund) in 2020-21 for the Department.

The Department has been at the forefront of the state's response to the COVID-19 pandemic. The Department has been extensively planning, preparing, and responding to the COVID-19 pandemic since mid-January. The Department's efforts include issuing a stay-at-home order to save lives, increasing testing capacity, increasing hospital surge capacity, and issuing state guidance for the many sectors of our communities impacted by COVID-19.

HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

The May Revision maintains and increases the Department's disease surveillance and identification workforce. Specifically, the May Revision proposes \$5.9 million General Fund for 2020-21 and \$4.8 million General Fund ongoing, to support laboratory staff to increase the laboratories' testing capacity, and to purchase equipment and laboratory supplies that are specifically utilized for COVID-19 testing. Additionally, resources will support emergency coordination, communication, and response, and provide ongoing support for public health laboratory capacity and disease surveillance.

Despite the budget challenges the state will face in the immediate future as a direct result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the May Revision continues to prioritize funding augmentations for infectious disease prevention and control that were included in the 2019 Budget Act. Specifically, the May Revision maintains \$5 million General Fund each for STD, human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), and hepatitis C virus prevention and control.

The state is not in a fiscal position to increase rates or expand programs given the drastic budget impacts of the COVID-19 Recession. The following proposal is withdrawn:

• Department of Public Health Home Visiting and Black Infant Health—\$4.5 million General Fund ongoing beginning in 2020-21.

DEPARTMENT OF STATE HOSPITALS

The Department of State Hospitals administers the state mental health hospital system, the Forensic Conditional Release Program, the Sex Offender Commitment Program, and the evaluation and treatment of judicially and civilly committed patients. The May Revision includes \$2.1 billion (\$1.9 billion General Fund) in 2020-21 for the support of the Department's programs. The patient population is expected to reach 6,791 by the end of 2020-21, including patients receiving competency treatment in jail-based settings.

The Administration continues to promote the safety of State Hospital patients and staff during the COVID-19 pandemic. The May Revision includes investments in the Conditional Release Program community program directors, pharmacy modernization, statewide roof repairs and replacement, statewide ligature risk mitigation special repair funding (suicide prevention retrofitting), protective services staffing, and the post-incident debriefing and support (violent incident response peer-support network). The state is not in a fiscal position to implement new programs given the drastic budget impacts of the COVID-19 Recession. The following proposals are reduced or withdrawn from the Governor's Budget:

- Treatment Planning and Delivery—The May revision reduces the Governor's Budget proposal that would have increased treatment team ratios and supported implementation of trauma-informed care and the development of a comprehensive discharge planning program in 2020-21. The proposal continues to provide increased ratios for primary care physicians in the state hospitals. This results in savings of \$22.6 million General Fund in 2020-21.
- State Hospital System Operations and Administration—The May Revision withdraws investments for various operational and administrative activities including quality improvement and internal auditing, regulation promulgation, and an electronic document management system. This proposal results in savings of \$7.7 million General Fund in 2020-21.
- Community Care Collaborative Pilot Program—The May Revision withdraws the
 proposal that would have established a six-year pilot program in three counties to
 provide funding and incentives to treat and serve individuals deemed incompetent
 to stand trial in the community and increase local investments in strategies to
 reduce the rate of arrests, rearrests, and cycling in and out of institutions for this
 population. This results in a savings of \$24.6 million General Fund in 2020-21. The
 Administration will continue to work with the Legislature on an alternative to address
 the current backlog of incompetent to stand trial individuals and more effectively
 serve this population in the community.

DEPARTMENT OF AGING

The California Department of Aging (CDA) contracts with the network of 33 county and non-profit Area Agencies on Aging, that directly manage an array of federal and state-funded services that provide nutritious meals at home and in the community; help older adults find employment; support older and disabled individuals to live as independently as possible; promote healthy aging and community involvement; and assist family members in their care giving role.

The May Revision includes \$218.4 million (\$30.8 million General Fund) for CDA, a decrease of \$36.5 million General Fund from the 2020-21Governor's Budget.

The May Revision maintains critical services delivered through the Area Agencies on Aging. Maintaining many of these core services will be particularly critical in serving older adults, people with disabilities, and families in the state as this population navigates and recovers from the COVID-19 pandemic.

Absent additional federal funds, the COVID-19 Recession makes the following reductions necessary to balance the state budget. This reduction will be triggered off if the federal government provides sufficient funding to restore them:

 Community-Based Adult Services (CBAS) and Multipurpose Senior Services Program (MSSP)—The May Revision proposes to eliminate the CBAS and MSSP programs. The effective date for CBAS would be January1, 2021, for a savings of \$1.6 million General Fund in 2020-21 and \$2.7 million ongoing. The effective date for MSSP would be no sooner than July 1, 2020, for a savings of \$22.2 million General Fund in 2020-21 and \$21.8 million ongoing.

DEPARTMENT OF CHILD SUPPORT SERVICES

The Department of Child Support Services promotes parental responsibility to enhance the well-being of children by providing child support services to establish parentage and collect child support. The May Revision includes \$316.6 million General Fund on 2020-21 for child support programs, an increase/decrease of \$47.7 million General Fund since the Governor's Budget.

The state is not in a fiscal position to increase rates or expand programs given the drastic budget impacts of the COVID-19 Recession. The following proposal is withdrawn from the Governor's Budget:

• Child Support Disregard Pass-through—Child support disregard pass-through statutory change proposal. This results in savings of \$8.4 million General Fund in 2020-21.

Absent additional federal funds, the COVID-19 Recession makes the following reductions necessary to balance the state budget. These reductions will be triggered off if the federal government provides sufficient funding to restore them:

• Local Child Support Agencies—The May Revision assumes the funding levels for local child support agencies reverts to the 2018 funding level. This proposal results in savings of \$38.2 million General Fund in 2020-21.

To reduce costs, the May Revision also proposes efficiencies, as follows:

• State Operations and Contracts—The May Revision reduces the Department's state operations and contract costs. This proposal results in savings of \$8.3 million General Fund in 2020-21.

OTHER POLICY PROPOSALS AND MAJOR WORKLOAD ADJUSTMENTS

The May Revision maintains expanded subsidies in the Covered California Marketplace, including the extension of subsidies to individuals who are between 400 and 600 percent of poverty, up to approximately \$75,000 for individuals and \$150,000 for a family of four. The May Revision also includes the following significant policy proposals and workload adjustments.

 Covered California Adjustments—A decrease of \$164.2 million General Fund in 2019-20 and \$90.3 million General Fund in 2020-21 to reflect lower-than-projected enrollment in state subsidies. In addition, an increase of \$15 million General Fund revenues in 2020-21 to reflect increased individual mandate penalty revenues associated with an assumed higher number of uninsured individuals due to COVID-19 Recession.

The state is not in a fiscal position to increase rates or expand programs given the drastic budget impacts of the COVID-19 Recession. The following proposal is withdrawn from the Governor's Budget:

- California Cognitive Care Coordination Initiative—\$3.6 million General Fund one-time to reflect the withdrawal of this proposal.
- Mental Health Services Act Reform—The May Revision defers this proposal.
- Office of Health Care Affordability—The May Revision defers this proposal.

Absent additional federal funds, the COVID-19 Recession makes the following reductions necessary to balance the state budget. This reduction will be triggered off if the federal government provides sufficient funding to restore them:

• Song-Brown Healthcare Workforce Training Program—A decrease of \$33.3 million General Fund ongoing due to not implementing the 2019 Budget Act action to make funding for the Song-Brown program ongoing.

1991 AND 2011 REALIGNMENT

The programs and funding for 1991 and 2011 Realignment are funded through two sources: state sales tax and Vehicle License Fees. These fund sources are projected to decline by 13 percent from 2018-19 to 2019-20 and grow slightly in 2020-21. This decline is significant and the first time since 2011 Realignment, there has been a significant decline in realigned revenues to support the entitlement programs funded by realignment.

See Homelessness and Local Government chapter for more details on the allocation of Coronavirus Relief Funds to fund public health, and to protect vulnerable populations impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic.

2018-19 State Fiscal Year													
	CalWORKs		Social	Mental	Family	Child							
Amount	MOE	Health	Services	Health	Support	Poverty	Totals						
Base Funding													
Sales Tax Account	\$752,888	\$-	\$2,295,806	\$34,036	\$450,130	\$104,422	\$3,637,281						
Vehicle License Fee Account	367,663	900,036	172,864	95,260	299,963	254,172	2,089,958						
Total Base	\$1,120,551	\$900,036	\$2,468,670	\$129,296	\$750,093	\$358,594	\$5,727,239						
Growth Funding													
Sales Tax Growth Account:	-	-	33,922	-	-	-	33,922						
Caseload Subaccount	-	-	(33,922)	-	-	-	(33,922)						
County Medical Services Growth Subaccount	_	_	_	_	_	_	_						
General Growth Subaccount		_											
Vehicle License Fee Growth Account	-	- 131	- 62,948	- 164	-	40,139	103 382						
Total Growth	\$-	\$131		<u>\$164</u>			103,382						
	·	•	\$96,870	•		\$40,139	\$137,304						
Total Realignment 2018-19 ²	\$1,120,551	\$900,167	\$2,565,540	\$129,460	\$750,093	\$398,733	\$5,864,543						
	2019	9-20 State	Fiscal Year										
Base Funding													
Sales Tax Account	\$655,721	\$-	\$2,029,056	\$-	\$392,037	\$90,945	\$3,167,759						
Vehicle License Fee Account	339,033	911,547	201,734		210,842	271,393	1,934,549						
Total Base	\$994,754	\$911,547	\$2,230,790	\$-	\$602,879	\$362,338	\$5,102,308						
Growth Funding													
Sales Tax Growth Account:	-	-	-	-	-	-	-						
Caseload Subaccount	-	-	-	-	-	-	-						
County Medical Services Growth Subaccount	-	-	-	-	-	-	-						
General Growth Subaccount	-	-	-	-	-	-	-						
Vehicle License Fee Growth Account	-	-	-	-	-	-	-						
Total Growth	\$-	\$-	\$-	\$-	\$-	\$-	\$-						
Total Dealignment 2010 20 ²	\$994,754	\$911,547	\$2,230,790	\$-	\$602,879	\$362,338	\$5,102,308						
Total Realignment 2019-20 ²	· ·	· ·		φ-	\$002,079	\$302,330	\$5,102,300						
Dees Funding	2020	J-21 State	Fiscal Year										
Base Funding Sales Tax Account	* 055 7 04	۴	\$0,000,050	¢	¢000.007	\$00.045	MO 407 750						
Vehicle License Fee Account	\$655,721	\$-	\$2,029,056	\$-	\$392,037	\$90,945	\$3,167,759						
Total Base	339,033	886,580	201,734		235,809	271,393	1,934,549						
	\$994,754	\$886,580	\$2,230,790	\$-	\$627,846	\$362,338	\$5,102,308						
Growth Funding													
Sales Tax Growth Account:	-	-	2,606	-	-	-	2,606						
Caseload Subaccount	-	-	(2,606)	-	-	-	(2,606)						
County Medical Services Growth Subaccount	-	-	-	-	-	-	-						
General Growth Subaccount	-	-	-	-	-	-	-						
Vehicle License Fee Growth Account	63,002	31,060	-	-	-	74,243	168,305						
Total Growth	\$63,002	\$31,060	\$2,606	\$-	\$-	\$74,243	\$170,911						
Total Realignment 2020-21 ²	\$1,057,756	\$917,640	\$2,233,396	\$-	\$627,846	\$436,581	\$5,273,219						
¹ Dollars in thousands.													

1991 Realignment Estimate¹- at 2020-21 May Revision

² Excludes \$14 million in Vehicle License Collection Account moneys not derived from realignment revenue sources.

	2018-19	2018-19 Growth	2019-20	2019-20 Growth	2020-21	2020-21 Growth
Law Enforcement Services	\$2,560.7		\$2,297.9		\$2,327.0	
Trial Court Security Subaccount	\$5 9.7	7.3	478.2		481.1	
Enhancing Law Enforcement Activities	555.7	7.5	470.2	-	401.1	-
Subaccount ²	489.9	221.3	489.9	181.6	489.9	244.9
Community Corrections Subaccount	1,311.2	54.8	1,152.0	-	1,173.8	-
District Attorney and Public Defender Subaccount	37.9	3.7	35.0		36.5	
Juvenile Justice Subaccount	162.0	7.3	142.8	_	145.7	
Youthful Offender Block Grant Special Account	10210			-		-
	(153.1)	(6.9)	(135.0)	-	(137.7)	-
Juvenile Reentry Grant Special Account	(8.9)	(0.4)	(7.8)	-	(8.0)	-
Growth, Law Enforcement Services		294.4		181.6		244.9
Mental Health ³	1,120.6	6.8	1,120.6	-	1,120.6	-
Support Services	3,756.7		3,277.1		3,330.8	
Protective Services Subaccount	2,336.2	61.0	2,021.8	-	2,047.2	-
Behavioral Health Subaccount	1,420.5	67.8	1,255.3	-	1,283.6	-
Women and Children's Residential Treatment Services	(5.1)	-	(5.1)	-	(5.1)	
Growth, Support Services		135.6		-		-
Account Total and Growth	\$7,868.0		\$6,877.2		\$7,023.3	
Revenue						
1.0625% Sales Tax	7,156.8		6,199.8		6,276.5	
General Fund Backfill ⁴	-		6.0		12.0	
Motor Vehicle License Fee	711.2		671.4		734.8	
Revenue Total	\$7,868.0		\$6,877.2		\$7,023.3	

2011 Realignment Estimate¹- at 2020-21 May Revision

This chart reflects estimates of the 2011 Realignment subaccount and growth allocations based on current revenue forecasts and in accordance with the formulas outlined in Chapter 40, Statutes of 2012 (SB 1020).

¹ Dollars in millions.

² Base Allocation is capped at \$489.9 million. Growth does not add to the base.

³ Base Allocation is capped at \$1,120.6 million. Growth does not add to the base.

⁴ General Fund backfill pursuant to Revenue and Taxation Code sections 6363.9 and 6363.10.

Homelessness and Local Government

L ocal governments deliver important services directly to people. County governments are primarily responsible for delivering health, public health, and social services programs like indigent health, behavioral health, CalWORKs, nutritional assistance eligibility, and child welfare services, among others. Many of these programs are entitlement programs and the COVID-19 Recession is causing a significant increase in caseloads. Counties also manage jails and supervise offenders on probation at the direction of the courts. Many of these programs are supported through 2011 and 1991 Realignment revenues (sales tax and vehicle license fee revenues). These revenues are being impacted significantly by the COVID-19 Recession. City governments are responsible for zoning and land use, parks, animal control, police and fire. In addition to their distinct responsibilities, cities and counties have also made considerable efforts in recent years to coordinate services and plan for housing to address homelessness.

HOMELESSNESS

California has experienced significant increases in the number of unsheltered individuals in recent years, a problem inextricably linked to the state's underproduction of affordable housing. The Administration's response has simultaneously focused on preservation and production of new affordable housing while also investing in comprehensive solutions to address homelessness. The Governor's State of the State address in February 2020 laid out a clear, comprehensive agenda on homelessness: greater investment in solutions, more accountability at all levels of government, and streamlining to facilitate the implementation of innovative approaches. Over the past two years, the Budget has included over \$1.15 billion General Fund in direct homelessness funding to local governments and Continuums of Care, including \$500 million for the Homeless Emergency Aid Program (HEAP) and \$650 million for the Homeless Housing, Assistance and Prevention Program (HHAP).

The Governor's Budget proposed another substantial infusion of funding for homelessness, including \$750 million General Fund to establish the California Access to Housing Fund. The Governor's Budget also included \$695 million (\$348 million General Fund) for California Advancing and Innovating Medi-Cal, which would have expanded the whole person care model statewide among other changes to address social determinants of health in the state's Medi-Cal system.

The COVID-19 Recession has substantially altered the state's fiscal outlook. Nevertheless, the Administration's broad goals to reduce homelessness have not changed; moving individuals and families experiencing homelessness into stable housing and providing support to help stabilize and prevent homelessness. But, given the state's current fiscal constraints, the strategy to achieve those goals has needed to evolve.

PROJECT ROOMKEY

At the outset of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Administration acted quickly to prioritize protecting the spread of the virus in the homeless population. Project Roomkey is a multi-agency state effort to provide safe isolation motel rooms for vulnerable individuals experiencing homelessness. This occupancy program is currently supported by the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) through May 31, 2020. The state will request 30-day extensions as necessary.

Early in the COVID-19 pandemic, \$100 million was allocated to local governments and Continuums of Care to help reduce the spread of COVID-19 among Californians experiencing homelessness using the existing HHAP allocation formulas. This funding was provided to implement social distancing and increased sanitation at shelters and to support Project Roomkey. In addition, \$50 million was provided to the Department of Social Services to secure hotel and motel rooms and acquire trailers to safely house homeless populations most at risk due to COVID-19.

As of mid-May, Project Roomkey and its county partners have secured over 15,000 hotel and motel units, of which more than 7,200 are occupied, and purchased and disbursed 1,305 trailers to local governments for the same purpose. Local governments are paying only for the occupied motel rooms, and these expenditures will leverage federal reimbursements through FEMA.

These units are providing short-term emergency shelter for homeless individuals to mitigate the spread of COVID-19 among this vulnerable population and maintain hospital and emergency room capacity in the event a surge of critically ill COVID-19 patients.

LEVERAGING FEDERAL FUNDS TO CREATE A PERMANENT SOLUTION

The state is not in a fiscal position to expand programs given the drastic budget impacts of the COVID-19 Recession. Instead of General Fund, the May Revision proposes \$750 million in federal funding and directs the use of these funds to purchase hotels and motels secured through Project Roomkey, to be owned and operated by local governments or non-profit providers. The state will also use these funds to provide significant technical assistance to local jurisdictions or other parties seeking to purchase and operate former Project Roomkey hotels and motels to address homelessness in their localities. The state has worked with local governments to include purchase options where feasible. These purchases are necessary to protect public health and stop the spread of COVID-19 in the homeless population. These efforts also help to maintain hospital and emergency room capacity in the event of a surge of critically ill COVID-19 patients.

In addition to Project Roomkey, the state will continue to work with local governments and service providers to maximize federal funding to provide safe interim housing options, rapid rehousing opportunities and rental subsidies for individuals and families experiencing homelessness.

The May Revision includes:

 Homeless Coordinating and Financing Council Administrative Resources— \$1.5 million General Fund ongoing and 10 permanent Homeless Coordinating and Financing Council positions to effectively carry out statutory mandates and strengthen its strategic coordination of the state's efforts to address homelessness.

LOCAL GOVERNMENT

The CARES Act provides a direct allocation of \$9.5 billion to California and \$5.8 billion to cities and counties with populations over 500,000 (includes 15 counties, 5 cities, and the

city and county of San Francisco). CARES Act funding provides relief to states and local governments for expenditures incurred between March 1 and December 30, 2020, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. According to federal guidance, this funding must be used for expenditures incurred for COVID-19 related activities before December 30, 2020, and cannot be used to backfill lost revenues.

The May Revision allocates a portion of the state's CARES Act funding to local governments—\$450 million to cities and \$1.3 billion to counties—to be used toward homelessness, public health, public safety, and other services to combat the COVID-19 pandemic.

- Cities—Six California cities received a direct CARES Act allocation as a result of their size—for a total of \$1.5 billion direct from the federal government. The May Revision supplements this by providing \$450 million to all cities that did not receive a direct allocation. Of these recipients, cities with populations above 300,000 will receive a direct state allocation while all other cities will be provided funding through their counties. Recipient jurisdictions must spend these funds consistent with federal law and are advised to prioritize these dollars to supplement existing efforts by counties and Continuums of Care to address the impacts of COVID-19 on people experiencing homelessness, including but not limited to outreach and hygiene efforts, shelter and housing supports, public safety, and rental subsidies.
- Counties—The state is allocating \$1.3 billion of its CARES Act funding directly to counties based on population size to address the public health, behavioral health, and other health and human services needs that have arisen as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Funding is contingent on adherence to federal guidance and the state's stay-at-home orders and will be released upon jurisdictions' certification of both.

PUBLIC SAFETY

DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS AND REHABILITATION

The California Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation (CDCR) incarcerates people convicted of the most violent felonies, supervises those released to parole, and provides rehabilitation programs to help them reintegrate into the community. The department strives to facilitate the successful reintegration of the individuals in its care back to their communities equipped with the tools to be drug-free, healthy, and employable members of society by providing education, treatment, and rehabilitative and restorative justice programs. The May Revision proposes total funding of \$13.4 billion (\$13.1 billion General Fund and \$311 million other funds) for the Department in 2020-21.

The Governor's Budget projected an overall adult inmate average daily population of 123,716 in 2020-21. Spring projections, prior to impacts associated with the COVID-19 pandemic, assumed an average daily population of 122,536, a difference of 1,180. The Governor's Budget projected an overall parolee average daily population of 55,082 in 2020-21. The average daily parolee population is now projected to be 56,966, an increase of 1,884. These projections are prior to proposals outlined below.

PRISON CAPACITY

The adult prison population has steadily declined over many years, presenting opportunities for CDCR to reduce its reliance on contract prison capacity. After more

than a decade, CDCR terminated its final remaining contract to house inmates out-of-state in June 2019. In addition, CDCR terminated a contract with a private in-state facility for male inmates in September 2019. Given the projected continued decline in the inmate population throughout 2019-20 and 2020-21, the May Revision continues the Administration's plan to close all private in-state contract correctional facilities for male inmates in 2020-21. While the last private in-state contract facility, Golden State Correctional Facility, was set to close on April 30, 2020, the contract was extended through the end of May 2020 to reduce inmate movement and facilitate increased physical distancing given the COVID-19 pandemic. The May Revision also reflects the Administration's plan to phase out two of the remaining three male, public in-state contract correctional facilities by 2021, and the third by July 2022.

The Governor's Budget indicated that if population trends hold, the Administration would close a state-operated prison within the next five years. The May Revision proposes to close one facility beginning in 2021-22 and a second facility beginning in 2022-23. These closures will be achieved through various actions that will further reduce the prison population through rehabilitation.

COVID-19 RESPONSE

CDCR took a series of proactive measures to reduce the presence and spread of COVID-19 in its institutions. Among other things, CDCR restricted inmate movement, activated gyms and dayrooms to create physical distancing, modified the parole suitability hearing process to take place by video and telephone conference, restricted family visitation and provided inmates with free telephone calls, initiated a staff screening process upon entering facilities, suspended large-scale construction projects within the secure perimeter of CDCR facilities, and suspended in-person rehabilitative programs and education classes. CDCR also delayed the Basic Correctional Officer Academy and modified the training to provide for social distancing, and employed the California Prison Industry Authority to produce cloth face masks and hand sanitizer for inmates and staff.

On March 24, 2020, the Governor issued Executive Order N-36-20, to mitigate the spread of COVID-19 in the state's adult institutions by stopping intake for 30 days, which was subsequently extended to 60 days. Intake is expected to resume on May 26, 2020. In addition, CDCR initiated the release of inmates who were within 60 days of release at the beginning of April 2020, and who were not serving a current term for domestic violence, a violent felony, or required to register as a sex offender. These measures provided immediate relief to enable CDCR to increase physical distancing as well as

limit the introduction and spread of COVID-19. As of May 6, 2020, the adult inmate population was 117,498, compared to 122,941 as of March 25, 2020, a reduction of 5,443 inmates.

CDCR estimates that approximately 3,500 inmates will be held in county jails as a result of the suspension of intake for 60 days. Once intake resumes, those inmates will be transferred to CDCR over a period of approximately 28 days.

EARNING RELEASE THROUGH REHABILITATION

The May Revision sustains academic, vocational and rehabilitative program investments made in recent years to continue the progress made to support inmates in preparing for release.

The May Revision proposes the closure of two adult institutions—one beginning in 2021-22 and a second beginning in 2022-23. The closures are estimated to result in savings of \$100 million in 2021-22, \$300 million in 2022-23 and \$400 million ongoing.

- Reduce Reception Center Process to 30 days—The suspension of intake provided CDCR the opportunity to move the majority of inmates from reception centers to mainline institutions, thereby creating space in the reception centers to facilitate safely reopening intake. CDCR plans to reduce the reception center process to as little as 30 days instead of 90 to 120 days. This will allow inmates to begin participating in academic and rehabilitative programs sooner and will likely enable CDCR to convert some existing Reception Center housing to General Population housing in 2020-21. This change will save \$3.7 million General Fund in 2020-21, and significantly more in future years with the exact amount depending on the timing and details of future prison closures.
- Changes to Good Conduct Credits—CDCR will pursue changes to good conduct credits that will be applied prospectively. While the changes are still being developed, they will be informed by preliminary recidivism data associated with existing good conduct credits. The preliminary estimate is that these changes will save \$2.7 million General Fund in 2020-21, and significantly more in future years with the exact amount depending on the timing and details of future prison closures.

TEMPORARY MODIFIED WORK ASSIGNMENTS

The May Revision includes \$16.7 million General Fund annually for two years to provide modified work assignment posts for staff with medical conditions that result in restrictions or limitations, such as pregnancy, to provide them opportunities to continue working or return to work earlier than would otherwise be possible. This proposal advances the Administration's commitment to the health and wellness of its correctional staff and promotes the recruitment and retention of a diverse workforce. The Department will use the period covered by the limited term funding to determine the appropriate level of ongoing resources for this program.

The May Revision sustains the following General Fund proposals submitted in the Governor's Budget:

- Mental Health Psychiatry Registry—\$13.3 million (\$1.4 million included in the Governor's Budget)
- Intake Cell Retrofits for Suicide Prevention—\$3.8 million one-time
- Medical Guarding and Transportation—\$14.8 million
- Expansion of Statewide Telepsychiatry Program—\$5.9 million
- Legionella Remediation at California Health Care Facility—\$9.7 million in 2019-20 and \$4.3 million ongoing
- Information Technology Security Staffing and Tools—\$2.9 million
- Existing Capital Outlay Projects—\$40.8 million to support several existing CDCR projects actively in the construction phase, as well as several projects that are necessary to comply with legal requirements and public health and safety needs.

VALLEY STATE PRISON YOUTH OFFENDER REHABILITATIVE COMMUNITY

The Governor's Budget proposed \$6.2 million General Fund in 2020-21, and \$10.1 million ongoing, to establish Youth Offender Rehabilitative Communities. These are programs that house offenders under the age of 26 together at select adult institutions in campus-style environments conducive to positive behavioral programming. As a result of COVID-19, inmate movement has been restricted. However, in recognition that these communities serve to connect youth offenders to positive mentors, as well as rehabilitative and educational programs targeted to their unique needs, the May Revision proposes to retain a model program that will be established at Valley State

Prison in Chowchilla. This reduces the Governor's Budget proposal to \$1.3 million in 2020-21 and \$2 million ongoing.

OTHER SIGNIFICANT ADJUSTMENTS

To reduce costs, the May Revision also proposes efficiencies, as follows:

- Consolidate Fire Camps—The May Revision proposes the consolidation of fire camps that are currently not at capacity. The May Revision assumes the closure of eight camps, that will be selected in coordination with the California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection (CAL FIRE). The locations selected will take into consideration proximity to other fire camps in an effort to minimize impacts to communities that rely on the services provided by inmate fire crews. CDCR's savings are estimated to be \$7.4 million General Fund in 2020-21 and \$14.7 million ongoing.
- Draw Down Federal Funds for Health Care for Community Reentry Programs—Under federal policy, individuals who are considered prison inmates are ineligible for Medicaid benefits. However, this exclusion does not apply to individuals residing in supervised residential treatment facilities, such as reentry facilities designed to transition individuals from prison to the community. The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS), which sets these policies, recently issued guidance outlining how it distinguishes between prisons and supervised residential treatment facilities. Specifically, CMS has stated that in order to qualify for Medicaid eligibility residents must generally have freedom to seek employment in the community and access resources available to the general public, such as education, libraries, and healthcare facilities. CDCR is implementing operational changes at its reentry facilities to adhere to these guidelines in a manner that ensures public safety, thereby allowing the state to draw down federal funding for residents' health care and saving \$4.2 million General Fund in 2020-21 and \$8.5 million ongoing.
- Eliminate the Integrated Services for Mentally III Parolee Program—The Integrated Services for Mentally III Parolee Program provides wraparound services, including some transitional housing for approximately 1,500 of 18,000 mentally iII parolees. While the Administration remains committed to mental health treatment in the community, this program has shown limited effectiveness at reducing recidivism. In an effort to make better use of limited state funding (this program is costly, at \$10,000 per parolee), the May Revision proposes to eliminate the program. The Department will adjust policies to connect these individuals with community resources, which ultimately provides better continuity of care long-term. Elimination

of this program is expected to result in savings of \$8.1 million General Fund in 2020-21 and \$16.3 million ongoing General Fund.

- Eliminate Parole Outpatient Clinics—The Department employs mental health clinicians that provide treatment to parolees out of parole offices across the state called Parole Outpatient Clinics. With the passage of the Affordable Care Act, most parolees now have access to mental health services through Medi-Cal or other insurance. Therefore, the services provided in the Parole Outpatient Clinics can otherwise be accessed through Medi-Cal or other insurance. The May Revision proposes to no longer fund Parole Outpatient Clinics to eliminate redundancy in services and utilize services where the state receives financial participation from the federal government through Medi-Cal. This will also help long-term continuity of care since individuals can only access Parole Outpatient Clinic services while on parole. This proposal retains Parole Outpatient Clinic psychiatrists to continue meeting emergency medication needs for parolees with mental illness. This proposal is expected to result in estimated savings of \$9.1 million General Fund in 2020-21, and \$17.6 million ongoing General Fund.
- Remote Court Appearance—CDCR will pursue efforts to increase video capabilities to enable remote court appearances by inmates and staff. This will result in efficiencies associated with transportation of inmates from their assigned prison to a prison closer to the court, and daily transportation of inmates to court. This will also reduce inmate absences from rehabilitation and work assignments.

CAP PAROLE TERMS

In an effort to align community supervision terms with evidence that most recidivism occurs earlier in the supervision period, create incentives for positive behavior change, and more effectively use limited state resources, the May Revision proposes to cap supervision for most parolees at 24 months, establish earned discharge for non-Penal Code section 290 registrants at 12 months, and establish earned discharge at 18 months for certain Penal Code section 290 registrants. This proposal is expected to result in estimated savings of \$23.2 million General Fund in 2020-21, increasing to \$76 million ongoing General Fund in 2023-24.

OTHER CHANGES

The May Revision also removes \$20.6 million from CDCR's baseline budget to eliminate the Tattoo Removal Program (\$2.1 million) and to reduce ongoing prison maintenance funding (\$18.5 million).

The state is not in a fiscal position to expand programs given the drastic budget impacts of the COVID-19 Recession. The following significant proposals are withdrawn from the Governor's Budget:

- Academic Information Technology Modernization—\$26.9 million to provide laptops to inmates participating in academic and vocational training to better prepare inmates for reentry.
- Expanding Higher Education Opportunities—\$1.8 million for tuition, books, materials, training, and equipment for inmate-students.
- Expanded Inmate Visitation—\$4.6 million for an additional visitation day at nine institutions.
- Staff Development and Support—\$21.4 million to enhance staff development through new training for correctional officers and counselors.
- Video Surveillance—\$21.6 million General Fund in 2020-21 and \$2.1 million ongoing to expand video surveillance capabilities at three facilities.
- Quality Management and Patient Safety—\$9.9 million General Fund in 2020-21 and \$11.8 million ongoing General Fund to evaluate risks and implement best practices to improve the health care delivery system.
- Health Care Facility Updates at the California Rehabilitation Center—\$5.9 million one-time funding for various maintenance projects.
- Various Capital Outlay Projects—\$70.8 million associated with the withdrawal of various projects proposed in the Governor's Budget. The May Revision also reduces the overall out year costs for CDCR projects by approximately 67 percent.

The May Revision also proposes to modify the following proposals included in the Governor's Budget:

• Centralize Discrimination Complaints—Reduces the proposal from \$1.8 million ongoing to \$943,000 to promote objectivity and fairness in the investigation of equal opportunity complaints.

• Roof Replacement—Reduces the proposal from \$78.2 million over two years for two roof replacement projects to \$37.6 million for one roof replacement at California State Prison, Sacramento.

REALIGN DIVISION OF JUVENILE JUSTICE

The Division of Juvenile Justice currently houses approximately 800 offenders. The Governor's Budget proposed to transfer the Division of Juvenile Justice to a newly created independent department within the Health and Human Services Agency. That approach was intended to align the rehabilitative mission of the state's juvenile justice system with trauma-informed and developmentally appropriate services supported by programs overseen by the state's Health and Human Services Agency.

The May Revision proposes to expand on previous successful efforts to reform the state's juvenile justice system by transferring the responsibility for managing all youthful offenders to local jurisdictions. The May Revision proposes to stop intake of new juvenile offenders effective January 1, 2021 and begin the closure of all three state juvenile facilities and the fire camp through the attrition of the current population. Offenders over the age of 18 that will eventually be transferred to an adult institution will be prioritized for placement in the Youth Offender Rehabilitative Community established at Valley State Prison.

Closing state juvenile facilities and directing a portion of the state savings to county probation departments will enable youth to remain in their communities and stay close to their families to support rehabilitation. Local juvenile detention facilities have a significant number of vacant beds, providing an opportunity to house a greater number of youthful offenders locally. In 2019, the average daily population for local juvenile halls and camps and ranches was about 3,600, and their rated capacity is currently about 11,200. In recognition that some youth currently housed in state juvenile facilities have sex behavior treatment or mental health treatment needs, the May Revision includes \$2.4 million General Fund in 2020-21, increasing to \$9.6 million ongoing, to be awarded as competitive grants by the Board of State and Community Corrections. Grants will be awarded to county probation departments that will serve as hubs to meet the specific treatment needs of youth throughout the juvenile justice system.

LOCAL PUBLIC SAFETY

Proposition 47 Savings—Voters passed Proposition 47 in November 2014, which requires misdemeanor rather than felony sentencing for certain property and drug crimes and permits inmates previously sentenced for these reclassified crimes to petition for resentencing. The Department of Finance currently estimates net savings of \$102.9 million General Fund for Proposition 47 when comparing 2019-20 to 2013-14, a decrease of \$19.6 million from the Governor's Budget estimate for 2019-20. These funds will be allocated according to the formula outlined in the initiative.

Post Release Community Supervision—The May Revision includes \$12.9 million General Fund for county probation departments to supervise the temporary increase in the average daily population of offenders on Post Release Community Supervision (PRCS) as a result of the implementation of Proposition 57. This is a decrease of \$902,000 from the amount estimated in the Governor's Budget.

Adult Probation Reform

The Governor's Budget included \$60 million General Fund annually for three years and \$30 million General Fund in 2023-24, to supervise and provide probation services for misdemeanants, with the aim of improving public safety by reducing recidivism of these individuals. The Budget also included reforms to reduce felony and misdemeanor probation terms to two years, and allow for earned discharge for probationers. The Governor's Budget also included \$11 million ongoing General Fund, in addition to baseline funding of \$112.7 million General Fund, to stabilize SB 678 funding provided to counties. While the Administration is still supportive of the policy objectives included in these reforms, given the state's current fiscal situation, the May Revision withdraws the probation reform proposed in the Governor's Budget.

The Administration recognizes the importance of county probation departments in the public safety continuum and plans to continue discussions on how to protect public safety and improve rehabilitation efforts in the community.

The May Revision maintains the existing SB 678 calculation, which will provide county probation departments \$112.7 million General Fund in 2020-21.

BOARD OF STATE AND COMMUNITY CORRECTIONS

The Governor's Budget stated the intent to strengthen the state's oversight of county jails. The Board of State and Community Corrections will more actively engage counties regarding deficiencies identified as part of its inspections through its public board meeting process and to the extent resources allow, conduct more frequent follow-up inspections. The Board will also provide additional technical assistance to those counties where issues are identified. Also, as part of the Title 15 jail standards review, the Board will make sure the standards are consistent with national best practices.

Absent additional federal funds, the COVID-19 Recession makes the following reduction necessary to balance the state budget. This reduction will be triggered off if the federal government provides sufficient funding to restore it:

• Adult Reentry Grant—\$37 million to provide competitive awards to community-based organizations to support offenders formerly incarcerated in state prison.

COMMISSION ON PEACE OFFICER STANDARDS AND TRAINING

To meet the short-term needs of local law enforcement training due to the COVID-19 pandemic and the potential long-term impact of reduced state and local budgets, the Commission on Peace Officer Standards and Training (POST) will leverage existing funding provided in the 2018 Budget Act to provide for the strategic development and implementation of a framework to support distance learning opportunities for all California law enforcement agencies.

Specifically, the May Revision proposes to use \$10 million General Fund previously appropriated to: (1) create a Distance Learning Grant Program, (2) increase the functionality of POST's Learning Portal, and (3) upgrade previously produced and developed distance learning courses and videos.

The May Revision proposes the establishment of a Distance Learning Grant Program to allocate \$5 million to governmental entities and non-profit law enforcement educational institutions to develop and deliver training through innovative, distance learning modalities with a focus on use of force and de-escalation, implicit bias and racial profiling, community policing, cultural diversity, and organizational wellness. The POST Learning Portal is a secure website available for California peace officers, dispatchers, and law enforcement instructors to access self-paced training courses and applications to support law enforcement training in California. Access to the Learning Portal is free to California law enforcement in the POST program. POST will explore replacing, enhancing, and/or modernizing the functionality of the Learning Portal by adding and incorporating additional modules that would provide law enforcement agencies the ability to develop their own agency-specific courses to develop and deliver their own instructor-led distance training.

Finally, POST will identify and upgrade existing distance learning courses and videos but are in legacy software formats no longer supported, such as Adobe Flash Player. By converting these materials, POST can ensure that relevant training materials continue to be accessible to local law enforcement agencies. POST also anticipates continued creation of high-quality, online in-service and specialized training videos that enable law enforcement to meet Continuous Professional Training mandates through distance learning options.

To reduce costs, the May Revision also proposes to revert \$16.5 million in unspent funding appropriated in prior budgets.

VICTIM SERVICES

Crime victims and their families bear significant physical, emotional, and financial burdens. The May Revision reflects the Administration's continuing commitment to both assist crime victims and their families in recovering from such traumas, and to proactively make strategic investments to protect those who face a high risk of victimization by maintaining the following Governor's Budget proposals:

- Restitution Fund Backfill—\$23.5 million one-time General Fund to backfill declining fine and fee revenues in the Restitution Fund, allowing the Victim Compensation Board to continue operating at its current resource level.
- California Violence Intervention and Prevention (CalVIP) Grant Program—\$9 million General Fund ongoing for the Board of State and Community Corrections to continue funding the CalVIP program, which provides competitive grants to cities and community-based organizations to support services such as community education, diversion programs, outreach to at-risk transitional age youth, and violence reduction models.

IMPROVING INDIGENT DEFENSE

Currently, the Office of the State Public Defender's mission is focused on assisting individuals sentenced to death with post-conviction appeals. The Governor's Budget included \$4 million General Fund in 2020-21 and \$3.5 million annually thereafter to expand the Office's mission to include improving the quality of indigent defense services provided by counties. Specifically, these resources were intended to provide training and technical assistance for attorneys providing indigent defense, with the goal of promoting more effective representation statewide. Absent additional federal funds, the COVID-19 Recession makes a reduction of this amount to \$2.1 million ongoing necessary to balance the state budget. This reduction will be triggered off if the federal government provides sufficient funding to restore it.

In addition, the state is not in a fiscal position to expand programs given the drastic budget impacts of the COVID-19 Recession. The May Revision withdraws \$10 million one-time General Fund included in the Governor's Budget for the Board of State and Community Corrections to administer a pilot program, in consultation with the Office of the State Public Defender, to supplement local funding for indigent criminal defense.

DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE

As chief law officer of the state, the Attorney General has the responsibility to see that the laws of California are uniformly and adequately enforced. This responsibility is fulfilled through the diverse programs of the Department of Justice (DOJ). The department provides legal services on behalf of the people of California; serves as legal counsel to state agencies; provides oversight, enforcement, education, and regulation of California's firearms laws; provides evaluation and analysis of physical evidence; and supports data needs of California's criminal justice community. The May Revision includes total funding of approximately \$1.1 billion, including \$365.9 million General Fund, to support the DOJ. This represents a reduction from the Governor's Budget of \$14 million, of which \$4.3 million is General Fund. Absent additional federal funds, the COVID-19 Recession makes this reduction necessary to balance the state budget. This reduction will be triggered off if the federal government provides sufficient funding to restore it.

BUREAU OF FIREARMS

The Bureau of Firearms regulates and enforces the manufacture, sale, ownership, safety training, and transfer of firearms. In recent years, there have been several laws enacted that affect the purchasing and ownership of a firearm in California, thereby increasing the Bureau's workload. The May Revision continues the Administration's commitment to strengthen gun violence protections by including the following significant investments:

- Chapter 730, Statutes of 2019 (AB 879)—\$5.9 million General Fund in 2020-21 and \$8.3 million in 2021-22 to regulate and track the sale of firearm precursor parts. This represents an increase of \$928,000 in 2020-21 and \$3.3 million in 2021-22 from the Governor's Budget due to updated implementation costs. AB 879 requires the sale of firearm precursor parts to be conducted by or processed through a licensed firearm precursor part vendor beginning July 1, 2024. Precursor parts can be used to manufacture "ghost guns" that are untraceable due to a lack of serial numbers or identifying markers. Given the risk that such guns present to public safety, the May Revision includes resources to accelerate the implementation of these requirements to July 1, 2022.
- Firearms Information Technology Modernization—\$2.4 million Dealers' Record of Sale (DROS) Special Account to begin the planning and analysis phase of combining and modernizing the existing firearms tracking systems. DOJ currently tracks firearms using 11 information technology systems that are antiquated, costly to update, and inefficient at gathering data. New firearms policies and reporting requirements are difficult to implement given the disconnected structure of these systems. Modernizing these systems will enable DOJ to respond to changing business needs and legislative mandates efficiently and in a cost-effective manner.
- Chapter 737, Statutes of 2019 (SB 61)—\$2.1 million DROS Special Account in 2020-21, \$1 million in 2021-22, and \$379,000 annually thereafter to implement and enforce the provisions of SB 61 that prohibit the sale of semiautomatic centerfire rifles to any person under 21 years of age, except a law enforcement officer or active duty member of the Armed Forces, and prohibit a person from making an application to purchase more than one semiautomatic centerfire rifle in any 30-day period. This represents a reduction of \$379,000 in 2020-21 and \$379,000 in 2021-22 to remove limited-term legal positions included in the Governor's Budget proposal.
- Chapter 738, Statutes of 2019 (SB 376)—\$981,000 DROS Special Account in 2020-21, \$306,000 in 2021-22, and \$232,000 annually thereafter to track and report annual firearms sales, loans, and transfers to enforce the provision under SB 376 that

reduces the threshold for which a manufacturer's license is required from 100 firearms manufactured annually to 50.

 "Other" Firearm Registration—\$128,000 DROS Special Account in 2020-21 and \$862,000 in 2021-22 to close regulatory loopholes for assault weapons that are not currently defined as a rifle, pistol, or shotgun. This proposal enables DOJ to appropriately define and regulate such weapons.

OTHER SIGNIFICANT ADJUSTMENTS

The May Revision also includes the following adjustments:

- Bureau of Forensic Services—\$3.8 million General Fund to backfill the continued decline in fine and fee revenues in the DNA Identification Fund, bringing the total amount available to \$35.8 million one-time funds (\$25.8 million General Fund and \$10 million Fingerprint Fees Account). This funding will enable DOJ to continue processing forensic evidence for client counties.
- Replacement of License 2000 System—\$724,000 Gambling Control Fines & Penalties Account in 2020-21 for the initial planning and analysis phase of replacing the License 2000 System, which is used by the Bureau of Gambling Control and Gambling Control Commission to manage cardroom licensing, registration, and auditing functions.
- Sex Offender Registration (Chapter 541, Statutes of 2017 (SB 384)) Funding Alignment—A net change of zero by moving \$4.8 million General Fund expenditures proposed in the Governor's Budget for 2020-21 and 2021-22 to 2022-23 and 2023-24, to align the funding to implement SB 384 with an updated implementation timeline.

The state is not in a fiscal position to expand programs given the drastic budget impacts of the COVID-19 Recession. The following proposals are withdrawn from the Governor's Budget:

- Bureau of Forensic Services Equipment and Facility Maintenance—\$7.3 million ongoing General Fund to replace forensic laboratory equipment and perform facility maintenance.
- Tax Recovery in the Underground Economy Enforcement Teams (Chapter 626, Statutes of 2019 (AB 1296))—\$5.7 million ongoing General Fund.
- Healthcare Rights and Access Section—\$2.2 million ongoing General Fund.

• Northern Region: Consolidated Forensic Science Laboratory Campus—\$9.5 million General Fund for the acquisition phase of a new Consolidated Forensic Science Laboratory Campus project in the Sacramento area. The project, which is estimated to cost approximately \$440 million, will be put on hold indefinitely. This page intentionally blank to facilitate double-sided printing.

Judicial Branch

The Judicial Branch consists of the Supreme Court, courts of appeal, trial courts, and the Judicial Council. The trial courts are funded with a combination of General Fund, county maintenance-of-effort requirements, fines, fees, and other charges. Other levels of the Judicial Branch receive most of their funding from the General Fund. The May Revision includes total funding of \$4.3 billion (\$2.2 billion General Fund and \$2.1 billion other funds) in 2020-21 for the Judicial Branch, of which \$1 billion General Fund is provided to support trial court operations. The Judicial Council is responsible for managing the resources of the Judicial Branch.

MAINTAINING ACCESS TO JUSTICE

OPERATIONAL CHANGES IN RESPONSE TO COVID-19

The Judicial Branch has had to radically change their operations to protect the public from the spread of COVID-19 while also maintaining access to justice. Actions taken by the Judicial Council include extending court deadlines, suspending jury trials, using technology to conduct proceedings remotely, and suspending evictions and foreclosures. Trial courts have also taken actions to protect the public by closing courthouses and courtrooms, limiting operations to only essential court functions, and suspending collection activities, among others.

These actions have resulted in delays in court operations and a backlog of cases that will take time for the courts to process as they continue to practice physical distancing.

JUDICIAL BRANCH

In an effort to help the trial courts address the backlog of cases and resume normal operations, the May Revision includes \$50 million one-time General Fund in 2020-21.

The COVID-19 pandemic has required the Judicial Branch to reevaluate processes and like state government, the Judicial Branch should use this crisis as an opportunity to make more convenient and efficient court operations. The May Revision includes \$25 million ongoing General Fund for modernizing court operations with the goal of achieving efficiencies and increasing access to court services online. For example, the Judicial Council may allocate this funding for projects such as enabling electronic case filing, digitizing court documents, resolving disputes online, and utilizing video technology to facilitate remote participation in hearings.

These efficiency efforts are even more important to maintain access to justice given the COVID-19 Recession. Absent additional federal funds, the COVID-19 Recession makes the following reductions necessary to balance the state budget. These reductions will be triggered off if the federal government provides sufficient funding to restore them:

- Trial Courts—A base reduction of \$178.1 million General Fund in 2020-21 and ongoing and an additional decrease of \$28.1 million General Fund beginning in 2021-22 associated with a 5 percent reduction in operating expenses, which will be achieved through efficiencies.
- State Level Judiciary—A decrease of \$23.2 million General Fund in 2020-21 and ongoing and an additional decrease of \$10.6 million in 2021-22 associated with a 5 percent reduction in operating expenses, which will be achieved through efficiencies.
- Other Judicial Branch Programs—A decrease of \$15.2 million ongoing General Fund to reflect a 5 percent reduction to the following programs: Dependency Counsel; Court Interpreters; California Collaborative and Drug Court Projects; Court Appointed Special Advocate Program; Model Self-Help Program; Equal Access Fund; Family Law Information Centers; and Civil Case Coordination.

The May Revision withdraws the following proposals included in the Governor's Budget given the drastic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the state's economy:

- Trial Court Operations—\$107.6 million ongoing General Fund to support trial court operations.
- Court Facilities—\$43.6 million General Fund to begin the design and construction of courthouse projects, consistent with the Judicial Council Facilities Reassessment. This

action suspends \$2 billion (\$505 million General Fund) over the next five years as the courts reassess how they use their facilities in the wake of the COVID-19 pandemic.

- Information Technology Initiatives—\$10.3 million General Fund in 2020-21 to advance three information technology initiatives. These initiatives can be funded from the \$25 million for modernization.
- Court Navigator Program—\$8.1 million General Fund in 2020-21 and \$15.5 million ongoing to fund court navigators in trial courts.
- Digitizing Documents—\$6.9 million General Fund in 2020-21 and \$11.3 million General Fund in 2021-22 to digitize court records in approximately 15 courts, including appellate and trial courts. This initiative can be funded from the \$25 million for modernization.
- Appellate Court Appointed Counsel Projects—\$1.2 million ongoing General Fund to support increased costs for contractual services provided by the Supreme Court and the Courts of Appeal Court Appointed Counsel projects.
- Statutory Statewide External Audit Program—\$1 million ongoing General Fund to support audits conducted by the State Controller's Office.

ONLINE ADJUDICATION OF INFRACTIONS AND EXPANSION OF ABILITY TO PAY

The May Revision maintains funding included in the Governor's Budget to expand the ability to pay program statewide. This program is even more critical with the onset of the COVID-19 Recession as it will enable low-income individuals to apply online to have fines and fees from infractions reduced in accordance with their ability to pay. Eligible participants will have their penalties reduced by 50 percent or more and can make payments over a period of time. In addition, online adjudication allows individuals to avoid physically appearing in court, thereby reducing public health risks to court users and staff.

OTHER SIGNIFICANT ADJUSTMENTS

The May Revision also includes the following adjustments:

• Fine and Fee Revenues—Consistent with this Administration's prior commitment to prevent declining revenues in this area from impacting court operations, the May Revision includes an additional \$238.5 million one-time General Fund in 2020-21 to backfill these losses. Specifically, \$90.9 million for estimated lost revenue in 2019-20 and \$147.6 million for 2020-21. As of the Governor's Budget, the backfill was

estimated to be \$41.8 million in 2019-20 and \$35.2 million in 2020-21, bringing the total backfill over the two-year period to \$315.5 million General Fund.

- Trial Court Employee Benefits—\$30 million ongoing General Fund for trial court employee health benefit and retirement costs, which is a decrease of \$5.1 million from the Governor's Budget due to updated cost estimates.
- Language Access—\$9.9 million General Fund in 2020-21 and \$9.6 million General Fund annually thereafter for increased costs for court interpreters and to purchase equipment for the newly established Video Remote Interpreting Program. This is an increase of \$1 million ongoing General Fund from the Governor's Budget due to updated court interpreter costs.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

he California Environmental Protection Agency's programs promote the state's economic vitality in a sustainable manner by reducing greenhouse gas emissions, enhancing environmental quality, and protecting public health.

The Secretary coordinates the state's regulatory programs and provides fair and consistent enforcement of environmental law. The May Revision includes \$3.9 billion (\$42 million General Fund, \$3.8 billion special funds, and \$18.3 million bond funds) for programs included in this Agency.

The impacts of climate change and environmental pollution continue to be an urgent threat to the environment and vulnerable populations. For these reasons, the May Revision continues to prioritize the state's limited resources on emergency preparedness and protecting vulnerable populations.

CAP AND TRADE EXPENDITURE PLAN

The Governor's Budget proposed a \$965 million Cap and Trade Expenditure Plan, which continued support for several existing ongoing programs while prioritizing community air protection, where emissions have a disproportionate impact on disadvantaged populations in both urban and rural communities.

In light of current economic conditions, there is significant uncertainty surrounding the amount of Cap and Trade proceeds that will be generated in the upcoming auctions, which could result in lower auction proceeds than previously estimated as statewide emissions of greenhouse gases have decreased significantly.

The May Revision maintains the Governor's Budget Cap and Trade Expenditure Plan, and establishes a "pay-as-you-go" budget mechanism to authorize budget act expenditures based on actual proceeds received at each quarterly auction. This proposed budget mechanism will prioritize initial auction proceeds for the following programs:

- Air Quality in Disadvantaged Communities: AB 617 Community Air Protection Program and agricultural diesel emission reduction.
- Forest Health and Fire Prevention, including implementation of the requirements of Chapter 391, Statutes 2019 (AB 38).
- Safe and Affordable Drinking Water.

Departments would be directed to prioritize non-discretionary costs, such as salaries and wages, and any remaining auction proceeds would be allocated to other programs proportionally.

DEPARTMENT OF TOXIC SUBSTANCES CONTROL REFORM

The May Revision maintains the Administration's commitment to governance and fiscal reform for the Department of Toxic Substances Control.

Over the course of the past year, the Administration has developed a vision for the future of the department through stakeholder engagement, input from members and committees of the Legislature, and three public workshops conducted in Sacramento, Bakersfield and Los Angeles.

In response to the public processes, the Governor's Budget proposed a comprehensive reform package that: (1) creates a board structure to provide transparency of departmental decision making and additional policy guidance, and (2) reforms the fee setting processes to appropriately fund the activities of the Department.

GOVERNANCE

The May Revision maintains the proposal to establish a new Board of Environmental Safety to enhance the department's management structure, reflecting stakeholder input and addressing longstanding concerns about the department. Specifically, the new five-member Board will:

- Set and review fees through a public process;
- Provide an appeal forum for permit decisions; and
- Provide strategic guidance for the department director on key issues, including the hazardous waste permitting process and prioritization of site cleanup. The Board will also have an independent ombudsperson to serve as an impartial resource to the public for the evaluation of suggested actions the department should undertake.

FISCAL REFORM

The May Revision also maintains the proposal to establish a sustainable funding source to enable the Department to meet its statutory requirements, as well as eliminate the need for a General Fund backfill in future years. This proposal is comprised of three elements:

- Fee Authority—Statutory changes to authorize the Board to go through a public fee-setting process, with spending levels subject to the budget process. This will create fiscal stability into the future as circumstances change.
- Hazardous Waste Fee Restructure—Statutory language that will streamline the existing fee structure to provide the Board with the ability to set fees through a public process to distribute the cost of managing hazardous waste more equitably and support the polluter-pays principle.
- Toxic Substances Control Account—Statutory changes to authorize the Board to adjust the Environmental Fee through a public process.

CLIMATE RESILIENCE

The state is not in a fiscal position to expand programs given the drastic budget impacts of the COVID-19 Recession. The following proposal is withdrawn from the Governor's Budget:

• Climate Catalyst Fund—\$250 million General Fund

Since the Governor's Budget was released, climate leaders both inside and outside the Administration have identified more than 700 climate-related projects seeking more than \$5.8 billion in near-term capitalization. These include projects in transportation emission reduction, sustainable agriculture and forestry, circular economy, and clean power market expansion. While budget realities preclude the use of General Fund to provide low-interest loans and loan guarantees for these projects, the Administration remains committed to leveraging private capital to support a Climate Catalyst Fund.

OTHER ADJUSTMENTS

DEPARTMENT OF TOXIC SUBSTANCES CONTROL

To reduce costs, the May Revision proposes fund shifts as follows:

- Funding from the Air Pollution Control Fund—\$59 million in expenditures from the General Fund to Air Pollution Control Fund penalty revenues on a one-time basis.
- Stringfellow Superfund Site—\$5.5 million in expenditures from the General Fund to existing special funds specifically dedicated for this purpose.

The state is not in a fiscal position to expand programs given the drastic budget impacts of the COVID-19 Recession. The following proposal is withdrawn from the Governor's Budget:

• New Clean up at Orphan Sites—\$4.2 million General Fund.

STATE WATER RESOURCES CONTROL BOARD

To reduce costs, the May Revision proposes a fund shift as follows:

• Funding from the Air Pollution Control Fund—\$24 million in expenditures from the General Fund to Air Pollution Control Fund penalty revenues on a one-time basis.
OFFICE OF ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH HAZARD ASSESSMENT

The state is not in a fiscal position to expand programs given the drastic budget impacts of the COVID-19 Recession. The following proposal is withdrawn from the Governor's Budget:

• Evaluating Unassessed Chemicals Using Precision Prevention Methodologies—\$6 million General Fund This page intentionally blank to facilitate double-sided printing.

NATURAL RESOURCES

The Natural Resources Agency consists of 26 departments, boards, commissions and conservancies responsible for administering programs to conserve, restore, and enhance the natural, historical, and cultural resources of California. The May Revision includes \$6.7 billion (\$3.5 billion General Fund, \$1.8 billion special funds, and \$1.4 billion bond funds) for programs included in this Agency.

The impacts of climate change and environmental pollution continue to be an urgent threat to the environment and vulnerable populations. The Agency's departments are on the frontlines of battling wildfires, navigating droughts and floods, and preparing for sea-level rise. For these reasons, the May Revision continues to prioritize the state's limited resources on emergency preparedness and protecting the public from climate risks.

DEPARTMENT OF WATER RESOURCES

The May Revision maintains the following critical flood and water quality projects proposed in the Governor's Budget:

 American River Common Features Flood Control Project—\$46 million one-time General Fund for the 2020-21 cost associated with a Sacramento region flood control project that leverages \$1.5 billion in federal funding. The total state share for this project is \$277 million, and the remaining state share will be considered for inclusion in future infrastructure investments.

- New River Improvement Project—\$18 million one-time General Fund and \$10 million Proposition 68 bond funds to support the New River Improvement Project, which will address solid waste and pollution exposure challenges in the City of Calexico, and support health, recreation, and economic benefits in the area.
- Salton Sea Management Plan—\$19.3 million Proposition 68 bond funds to address the air quality and habitat restoration objectives at the Salton Sea through implementation of the North Lake Pilot Project.

GENERAL FUND SOLUTIONS

The state is not in a fiscal position to expand programs given the drastic budget impacts of the COVID-19 Recession. The following proposals are withdrawn from the Governor's Budget:

- Sustainable Groundwater Management Act Implementation—\$40 million General Fund. The state remains committed to supporting local communities' transition to sustainable groundwater use, and the Department of Water Resources will allocate \$26 million of existing Proposition 68 bond funds to local agencies in critically overdrafted basins to help defray the cost of implementation projects. In addition, a state interagency team will be created to work with stakeholders to identify tools and strategies to address the economic, environmental, and social effects of changing land use and agricultural production. Additional funding for SGMA-related projects may be considered for inclusion in future infrastructure investments.
- Tijuana River Project—\$35 million General Fund given potential alternative sources of funding which may be allocated for this purpose.

STATE PARKS

The May Revision maintains funding for the following projects to enhance the state park system.

• Establishing a New State Park—\$5 million General Fund, reduced from \$20 million in the Governor's Budget, to create a new state park that is inclusive and supports

equitable access for all Californians. The Department will work with various philanthropic, conservation, and park interest groups to secure a property and design the vision and operations for the new park.

- Acquiring Lands to Expand Parks—\$4.6 million from various bond funds to acquire inholding properties that expand existing state parks and provide other co-benefits such as protecting biodiversity.
- Improving Facilities in Urban Areas—\$6.1 million Proposition 68 bond funds to expand access to state parks in urban areas and make other improvements to parks that serve disadvantaged communities.
- Enhancing Access Programming—\$8.8 million Proposition 68 bond funds to expand both technological and physical access to parks, as well as culturally inclusive enhancements to park programming and interpretive exhibits.

GENERAL FUND SOLUTIONS

To reduce costs, the May Revision proposes fund shifts as follows:

- Indian Heritage Center—\$95 million from the General Fund to lease revenue bonds. State Parks is in the process of completing the preliminary plans for the project. Once the plans are finalized, the state can explore the option of financing the project from lease revenue bonds.
- Deferred Maintenance—\$45 million from the General Fund to Proposition 68 bond funds for deferred maintenance projects in the state parks system.

The state is not in a fiscal position to expand programs given the drastic budget impacts of the COVID-19 Recession. The following proposal is withdrawn from the Governor's Budget:

• Outdoor Equity Grants Program—\$20 million General Fund to establish the outdoor equity grants program under Chapter 675, Statutes of 2019 (AB 209). The state remains committed to working with stakeholders to keep access to parks for all communities a priority.

Absent additional federal funds, the COVID-19 Recession makes the following reduction necessary to balance the state budget. This reduction will be triggered off if the federal government provides sufficient funding to restore it:

 Base Reductions—\$30 million ongoing General Fund beginning in 2021-22. State Parks will work with stakeholders to work on a reduction plan that maintains equity and regional access. The Department is collaborating regionally with local and federal park operators to ease current use restrictions and adapt park operations to updated public health conditions as informed by state and local public health orders, particularly as they relate to physical distancing. The Department will monitor fiscal impacts of recent and ongoing restricted park operations and any budget adjustments necessary from these modified operations will be addressed at a later time.

DEPARTMENT OF FISH AND WILDLIFE

The May Revision prioritizes funding for the following purposes:

- Cutting Green Tape—\$4 million to increase the scale and pace of restoration work, incorporate efficiencies into grant programs, and incorporate the use of programmatic permitting options.
- Land Management—\$2.2 million to improve the management of more than one million acres of wildlife areas and ecological reserves owned by the Department.

The state is not in a fiscal position to expand programs given the drastic budget impacts of the COVID-19 Recession. The following proposal is withdrawn from the Governor's Budget:

• Advancing Biodiversity Protection—\$13.8 million General Fund.

Absent additional federal funds, the COVID-19 Recession makes the following reduction necessary to balance the state budget. This reduction will be triggered off if the federal government provides sufficient funding to restore it:

 Baseline General Fund Reduction and Repurpose of the Habitat Conservation Fund—\$33.7 million General Fund to reduce the Department's state operations General Fund expenditure level. This reduction will be partially offset by a \$18.9 million shift from the Habitat Conservation Fund to the new Biodiversity Protection Fund to support the Department's core biodiversity conservation and enforcement programs.

OTHER GENERAL FUND SOLUTIONS

The state is not in a fiscal position to expand programs given the drastic budget impacts of the COVID-19 Recession. The following proposals are withdrawn from the Governor's Budget:

- Light Detection and Ranging (LiDAR) Technology—\$80 million General Fund.
- California Conservation Corps Residential Centers—\$3.5 million General Fund associated with the cancellation of the expansion of the Corps' residential center program.

To reduce costs, the May Revision proposes efficiencies as follows:

 Natural Resources Agency New Facility Relocation—\$4.8 million associated with a reduction of the Governor's Budget proposal. The move into the new Natural Resources building will be put on hold until a evaluation on telework opportunities is completed. For additional information, see the Government Efficiencies section of the Statewide Issues and Various Departments chapter. This page intentionally blank to facilitate double-sided printing.

LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT

The Labor and Workforce Development Agency addresses issues relating to California workers and their employers. The Agency is responsible for labor law enforcement, workforce development, and benefit payment and adjudication. The Agency works to combat the underground economy and to help businesses and workers in California.

Since 2019, the Budget has included targeted investments to strengthen the states' workforce training programs and health care and safety net services. Increases of \$35 million in pre-apprenticeship and apprentice training, \$36 million in prison to employment training, and over \$60 million in Mental Health workforce investments continue to provide the needed resources for the state to meet its ever-changing workforce needs and supplying a pathway for Californians to improve their upward economic mobility.

In light of the unprecedented increase in unemployment due to the COVID-19 Recession, the state must continue to show leadership in addressing workforce health and safety concerns of all Californians as well as support and promote high-quality jobs so workers, families, and communities can secure and maintain economic security. The May Revision continues to move forward with many of the Governor's Budget proposals to strengthen the state's workforce and benefit systems as California looks to recover from this recession.

UNEMPLOYMENT INSURANCE

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Employment Development Department (EDD) has been inundated with an unprecedented surge in unemployment insurance (UI) claims. As of May 9, EDD has processed and approved approximately 4.4 million UI claims that will provide over \$12.2 billion in UI benefits. In an effort to address the nationwide impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, the federal government enacted the Families First Act and the CARES Act, both providing temporary program enhancements and expanded unemployment insurance benefits to millions of workers who are no longer employed due to the COVID-19 Recession. Most notably, the CARES Act included a federally funded temporary emergency benefit increase of \$600 per week through July 31, 2020 and a federally funded Pandemic Unemployment Assistance (PUA) program to provide up to 39 weeks of UI benefits to individuals who do not qualify for traditional unemployment compensation, including business owners, the self-employed, independent contractors, individuals with limited work history, and other individuals not usually eligible for regular state UI benefits who are unemployed as a direct result of the COVID-19 pandemic. The PUA program runs through December 31, 2020.

These federal investments will help stabilize income for the affected workforce in the short term. However, enhanced and expanded benefits are temporary. Additionally, the CARES Act allows states to borrow from the federal government to pay state UI benefits with no interest, but only through the end of 2020. California, like other states, has already begun borrowing and similar to the Great Recession, the state will likely need to borrow in the tens of billions of dollars, resulting in significant future annual interest payments until the loans are repaid. For context, the state borrowed over \$65 billion from 2009-2017 and paid total interest of \$1.4 billion from 2011-2018.

To address the increased volume of UI claims, EDD has implemented several strategies to increase efficiencies and maintain program continuity. EDD has launched a new call center and expanded hours at existing call centers that will now operate seven days a week from 8:00 a.m. to 8:00 p.m. It has implemented a one-stop shop for those applying for unemployment insurance as well as the new federal PUA program and streamlined the eligibility requirements for claimants allowing for expedited approvals. Additionally, EDD has administratively redirected hundreds of staff internally and added hundreds more from across various state departments to review and process claims.

The May Revision maintains \$46 million to continue implementation of the Benefit Systems Modernization Project. This project will modernize and consolidate the department's Unemployment Insurance (UI), Disability Insurance (DI), and PFL benefit systems. The state of this legacy system and the need to replace it has come into sharp focus during the COVID-19 pandemic as millions of Californians have accessed the system to apply for UI benefits.

RECENT STATE ACTIONS

The COVID-19 pandemic has had significant impacts on California's workers and businesses, driving the unemployment rate above Great Recession levels. In order to mitigate these impacts, the Administration took a number of executive actions to extend UI claim call center hours to meet increased UI demand, provide financial support for immigrant workers affected by the COVID-19 Recession, announce the receipt of philanthropic funding to assist undocumented workers, implement federal funding to assist individuals affected by the COVID-19 Recession, and create a time-limited rebuttable presumption for accessing workers' compensation benefits applicable to Californians who must work outside of their homes during the stay at home order, among other things.

REALIGNING WORKFORCE TRAINING

The COVID-19 Recession is causing unemployment levels the state has never seen. As the economy recovers, it is critical that the state's workforce training programs are aligned to the jobs that employers need. For these reasons, the Administration is prioritizing the reorganization of various entities under California's Labor Agency that aligns fragmented programs and services to better support data, policy, and program analysis of the state's workforce training programs. The proposed consolidation of the state's workforce training programs under a new Department of Better Jobs and Higher Wages is needed more now than ever given the underlying changes in the state's economy. The Department will be comprised of the California Workforce Development Board, the Employment Training Panel, Workforce Services Branch, and Labor Market Information Division, which are currently in the Employment Development of Industrial Relations.

PAID FAMILY LEAVE

The May Revision continues to include the expansion of job protections for any worker eligible for paid family leave (PFL) benefits and resources to support small businesses

that extend these benefits to their employees. It also maintains a \$10 million General Fund investment for the Social Entrepreneurs for Economic Development initiative, providing entrepreneurial training for individuals, including those who are undocumented.

ENFORCEMENT OF LABOR LAWS

Chapter 296, Statutes of 2019 (AB 5) established a new statutory employment test to determine whether a worker may be classified as an independent contractor instead of an employee. State labor laws provide employees certain protections like minimum wage, unemployment insurance, and protections against discrimination. The misclassification of workers as independent contractors has been a nationwide problem for many years, depriving these workers of their lawful benefits. The employment test under AB 5 presumes all workers are employees unless the employer can demonstrate a worker meets specified conditions, known as the ABC Test.

As mentioned above, the federal CARES Act provides benefits for workers traditionally not eligible for UI benefits. While the CARES Act provides some relief to workers who are misclassified, these workers will lose this benefit when the federal stimulus ends because their misclassification prohibits them from accessing the traditional state UI system. Companies who continue to misclassify their employment status avoid providing benefits and contributing to the unemployment benefit system, hurting California workers and adding pressure to the state's UI system.

The May Revision maintains the Governor's Budget proposal to enforce compliance with AB 5, including \$17.5 million for the Department of Industrial Relations, \$3.4 million for the Employment Development Department, and \$780,000 for the Department of Justice.

Statewide Issues and Various Departments

his Chapter describes items in the Budget that are statewide issues or related to various departments.

TRANSFORMING STATE GOVERNMENT

The COVID-19 pandemic has disrupted state government operations, forcing the state to find creative ways to adapt and deliver core functions. It has also created an opportunity to rethink the way the state delivers services to its nearly 40 million residents. Investments in technology have already advanced the ability of government to deliver services during the current pandemic, and the state is committed to building on this progress to make California an example of what government should look like in the 21st century.

Transforming state government will include lessons learned from the state's real time experiment with a statewide telework program. The state's response has shown that teleworking on a large scale is possible, and the ability to optimize a telework approach can reduce the state's carbon footprint and leased office space, while increasing the state's digital presence for the benefit of both California's employees and the people they serve.

GOVERNMENT EFFICIENCY

The Administration, coordinated by the Government Operations Agency, will work with agencies and departments to examine their workforce to determine classifications and/or positions that can telework without disruption to serving the citizens of California. Increased telework could reduce statewide absenteeism, increase employee retention, promote inclusion, and move the state toward being an "employer of choice." Telework is also environmentally favorable, as it reduces vehicle miles traveled and improves air quality.

The COVID-19 pandemic challenged the state to reexamine in-person processes to protect state employees and the public. For example, the Department of Motor Vehicles (DMV) temporarily closed its field offices, but encouraged the public to use its alternative service channels such as online, mail, and kiosks, and a new Service Advisor on DMV's website. Additionally, DMV launched its Virtual Field Office to create new digital options for transactions with DMV staff that previously required an in-person office visit. As a result, a substantial majority of all DMV transactions can now be processed without a field office visit. The state will build on DMV's successful pilot program and look to implement similar digital-based services in other agencies or departments that provide a direct service to the public.

In an effort to transform the way the state conducts business and serves Californians, the Administration will use the Office of Digital Innovation to assist agencies and departments to rethink how to meet the public's needs, including by delivering more government services online. The state will build on the lessons learned through establishing the COVID19.ca.gov website to build a new CA.gov website. The new site will be user-centered to allow Californians simple, easily understood transactions and to access all state information at a single portal.

WORKSPACE INNOVATIONS

With an increased remote workforce, the Administration, led by the Department of General Services (DGS), will evaluate the state's real estate portfolio to determine which agencies and departments may be able to reduce lease space. Agencies and departments may be able to reconfigure their workspace to include additional meeting rooms and hoteling space, thereby reducing their lease footprint. Reducing space will decrease not only lease costs, but also energy costs. Additionally, DGS will look for possible restacking opportunities in state-owned buildings.

Absent additional federal funds, the COVID-19 Recession makes reductions necessary to balance the state budget. The May Revision includes several budget solutions that reduce costs, such as pausing building renovations and reducing proposed relocation costs.

- State Office Building Projects, Sacramento Region—Withdrawal of \$721.7 million Public Buildings Construction Fund for the design-build phase of three office building renovation projects in the Sacramento Region: Gregory Bateson (\$183.6 million), Jesse Unruh (\$116.8 million), and Natural Resources (\$421.3 million). These projects will be paused until a statewide evaluation of office space needs has been completed.
- Health and Human Services Relocation to the Clifford L. Allenby Building—A decrease of \$4.1 million General Fund to reduce the level of resources associated with the relocation of the Department of Developmental Services, the Department of State Hospitals, and the California Health and Human Services Agency to the new Clifford L. Allenby Building.
- Natural Resources Agency New Facility Relocation—A decrease of \$4.8 million General Fund associated with a reduction of a Governor's Budget proposal to relocate staff from the Natural Resources Agency into the New Natural Resources Headquarters Building.

ADDITIONAL EFFICIENCY AND COST SAVING MEASURES

In addition to the efficiencies described above, the May Revision proposes a 5-percent reduction to nearly all state department budgets beginning in 2021-22.

- Reduce Travel
 - Reduce statewide travel costs by using video conferencing for meetings or trainings, where possible.
 - Reduce state fuel and insurance costs by assessing use of telematics (a mini GPS device that tracks distance, time, location, and speed) in state vehicles.
- Improve State Processes
 - Improve processes and quality of services from the customer's point of view by encouraging agencies and departments to attend the Department of Human Resources' Lean Academy.

- Establish performance-based oversight of regulatory programs to better measure, track, and allocate limited resources based on predetermined program performance measures.
- Other Cost Saving Opportunities
 - Reevaluate the state fleet and vehicle home storage permits.
 - Identify opportunities for efficiency in technology contracts.

EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION

Absent additional federal funds, the COVID-19 Recession requires reductions necessary to balance the state budget. These reductions will be triggered off if the federal government provides sufficient funding to restore them. Savings in employee compensation will need to be part of the budget solution absent federal funds.

Collective bargaining negotiations will commence or continue with all of the state's bargaining units to reduce pay by approximately 10 percent, relative to June 2020 pay levels. The May Revision assumes these savings will begin with the July 2020 pay period. The state will make every attempt to reach these savings through collective bargaining. However, the Administration will include a budget provision to impose reductions if the state cannot reach an agreement. The May Revision assumes savings of an additional \$2.8 billion (\$1.4 billion General Fund).

The May Revision prioritizes maintaining \$604 million ongoing (\$261 million General Fund) in salary increases for the state's lowest paid workers in Chapter 4, Statutes of 2016 (SB 3), and the \$260 per month payments to improve affordability and access to healthcare. The May Revision also maintains funding for all 2021 calendar year increases in health care premiums and enrollment for active state employees, and retiree health care prefunding for active employees.

STATE RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTIONS

The state faces unfunded pension obligations of \$167 billion, which will continue to increase in the foreseeable future as the state's retirement systems absorb the impact of the current recession. While the state has made great strides in paying down those liabilities to ensure the long-term security of the state's retirement benefits, the current budget problem requires a judicious approach.

Proposals necessary to balance the state budget include:

- CalPERS State Annual Pension Contribution Payment Offset—Chapter 33, Statutes of 2019 (SB 90) authorized a \$3 billion General Fund supplemental pension payment toward the California Public Employees' Retirement System (CalPERS) state plans' unfunded liabilities with the goal of maximizing the state's savings over the next three decades. Of the \$3 billion, \$2.5 billion was paid to CalPERS in 2019. CalPERS applied approximately \$100 million of the \$2.5 billion to produce savings in the 2019-20 employer contributions. The May Revision proposes to redirect the remaining \$2.4 billion over the next two years to pay the state's obligations that will produce more immediate savings to the state and results in a reduction in the state's retirement contribution.
- Redirect Remaining \$500 million General Fund Supplemental Pension Payment—The May Revision proposes statutory changes to eliminate the remaining \$500 million General Fund supplemental pension payment to CalPERS as authorized under SB 90. SB 90 was subsequently amended by Chapter 859, Statutes of 2019 (AB 118) to specify that of the \$500 million payment to CalPERS, \$243 million would be applied to the California Highway Patrol (CHP) retirement plan. The Governor's Budget proposed to accelerate the payment in 2019-20; however, current fiscal challenges warrant the elimination of these discretionary payments so the funds can be directed toward offsetting General Fund costs to maintain core programs. AB 118 also authorized multiple payments of \$25 million annually beginning in 2019-20 through 2022-23 from the Motor Vehicle Account (MVA) toward the CHP plan. The 2019-20 payment from the MVA is scheduled to be paid as planned. However, the May Revision proposes to suspend the remaining \$25 million annual MVA payments through 2022-23, along with the elimination of the \$243 million General Fund supplemental pension payment to CHP. The May Revision expects to achieve this through collective bargaining with the association.
- Suspension of California State Teachers' Retirement Systems (CalSTRS) Annual Rate Increases—Given the COVID-19 Recession, the May Revision proposes statutory changes that will suspend the annual rate increases authorized by the Teachers' Retirement Board at the 2019-20 level until 2023-24. The Administration will instead continue to make supplemental payments from the Proposition 2 required debt payments. This proposal will provide \$1.8 billion General Fund savings over the multiyear to the state's annual contribution to the CalSTRS defined benefit program.

The State Retirement and Health Care Contributions figure provides an historical overview of contributions to CalPERS, CalSTRS, the Judges' Retirement System (JRS), JRS II, and the Legislators' Retirement System (LRS) for pension and health care benefits.

	CalPERS ^{4/}	CSU CalPERS	CalSTRS	JRS	JRS II	LRS ^{5/}	Active Health & Dental ^{6/}	Retiree Health & Dental	CSU Retiree Health	Employer OPEB Prefunding ^{7/}
2011-12	\$3,174		\$1,259	\$195	\$58		\$2,439	\$1,505		0
2012-13	2,948 ^{8/}	\$449 ^{8/}	1,303	160	51		2,567	1,365 ^{8/}	\$222 ^{8/}	0
2013-14	3,269	474	1,360	188	52	\$1	2,697	1,383	225	22
2014-15	4,042	543	1,486	179	63	1	2,797	1,462	256	38
2015-16	4,338	585	1,935	190	67	1	2,968	1,556	263	63
2016-17	4,754	621	2,473	202	68	1	3,104	1,623	272	342 ^{10/}
2017-18	5,188	661	2,790	199	80	1	3,192	1,695	285	189
2018-19	5,506	683	3,082	194	84	1	3,255	1,759	313	394
2019-20	5,946	716	3,323	263	87	1	3,443	1,892	331	562
2020-21 ^{3/ 9/}	6,259	733	3,597	225	85	1	3,713	2,068	362	703

State Retirement and Health Care Contributions 1/2/4/

(Dollars in Millions)

^{1/} The chart does not include contributions for University of California pension or retiree health care costs.

²⁷ The chart does not reflect the \$6 billion supplemental pension payment to CaIPERS in 2017-18 authorized by Chapter 50, Statutes of 2017 (SB 84). Chapter 33, Statutes of 2019 (SB 90), and Chapter 859, Statutes of 2019 (AB 118), authorized multiple one-time supplemental pension payments to CaIPERS and CaISTRS, which are also not reflected in the chart. The impact of the adjustments to the SB 90 and AB 118 supplemental pension payments, as proposed by the May Revision to the Governor's Budget, are also not reflected in the chart.

^{3/} The chart does not reflect the suspension of the Teachers' Retirement Board's statutory authority to increase the state contribution rate for fiscal years 2020-21 through 2023-24, as proposed by the May Revision.

^{4/} In addition to the Executive Branch, this includes Judicial and Legislative Branch employees. Contributions for judges and elected officials are included in JRS, JRS II, and LRS. Amounts displayed in this column reflect statewide contributions to the five CaIPERS state plans, including contributions from employers that are not included in the annual Budget Act.

^{5/} The state continues to make employer contributions to the Legislators' Retirement System. CalPERS reported the estimated 2020-21 contribution amount is \$84,308.

^{6/} These amounts include health, dental, and vision contributions for employees within state civil service, the Judicial and Legislative Branches, and the California State University (CSU).

^{7/} Amount reflects the employer contribution to pay down the Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) unfunded liability.

^{8/} Beginning in 2012-13, CSU pension and health care costs are displayed separately.

^{9/} Estimated as of the 2020-21 May Revision. Of the total estimated 2020-21 contributions, contributions sourced from the General Fund are estimated to be \$4,015 million for CaIPERS, \$733 million for CSU CaIPERS, \$1,744 million for Active Health and Dental, and \$335 million for OPEB Prefunding. Fiscal year 2020-21 contributions to CaISTRS, JRS, JRS II, LRS, and Retiree Health & Dental (including CSU) are all General Fund costs.

¹⁰ Amount includes a one-time prefunding contribution of \$240 million pursuant to Chapter 2, Statutes of 2016 (AB 133).

CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF FOOD AND AGRICULTURE

FAIRGROUNDS

The Network of California Fairs, consisting of 77 fairgrounds throughout California, have historically supported their own operations through revenue-generating activities with limited supplemental state support. A total of 53 of the 77 fairgrounds are state-affiliated fairs and have state civil service employees. As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, fairs are canceling revenue-generating activities and are projected to lose approximately \$98 million in revenue between March and June 2020, and revenue loss is expected to continue.

Many fairs have little to no reserves and must initiate the layoff process immediately as they may become insolvent. The May Revision includes \$40.3 million General Fund in 2019-20 to support state-affiliated fairs that are projected to have insufficient reserves to pay legally mandated costs that may be incurred during the state civil service layoff process, including staff salary, payout of leave balances, and unemployment insurance.

The Administration will work with fairs, local governments, and partners toward alternative options due to the lack of General Fund subsidies available in this budget. The Administration plans to engage the Legislature and stakeholders over the course of the next year to develop a thoughtful approach to transition the state's relationship with fairs, while acknowledging the need to continue supporting property that may be necessary for emergency operations.

PROPOSITION 12

On November 6, 2018, California voters approved Proposition 12, which expanded current animal housing requirements and established new, more stringent minimum space standards on housing for calves raised for veal, breeding pigs and egg-laying hens. The measure also makes it illegal for businesses in California to knowingly sell eggs or uncooked pork or veal that came from animals housed in a manner that does not meet the new confinement requirements, including products from animals raised and maintained at facilities located in California and out-of-state. The Department is finalizing statutorily mandated regulations to establish comprehensive program requirements.

The May Revision proposes \$1.4 million and 6 positions in 2020-21, and \$2.8 million and 15 positions ongoing to support full implementation of Proposition 12, and also includes statutory changes to establish new fee authority that will support associated program costs. This proposal will be funded for two years by a short-term loan from within the Food and Agriculture Fund until this new fee revenue can support all program costs.

OTHER SIGNIFICANT ADJUSTMENTS

The state is not in a fiscal position to expand programs given the drastic budget impacts of the COVID-19 Recession. The following proposals are withdrawn from the Governor's Budget:

- State Water Efficiency and Enhancement Program Grants—\$20 million General Fund
- Cal Expo Fiscal Support and Assessment—\$2.25 million General Fund

Absent additional federal funds, the COVID-19 Recession makes the following reduction necessary to balance the state budget. The reduction will be triggered off if the federal government provides sufficient funding to restore it:

• California Biodiversity Initiative Baseline Reduction—A decrease of \$3.9 million General Fund ongoing beginning in 2020-21.

CALIFORNIA PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION

BROADBAND EXPANSION

The COVID-19 pandemic requires significant numbers of Californians to telework, learn via distance education, and receive healthcare through telehealth. The drive toward these technology platforms highlights the state's inequities in access to computers, technology tools, and connectivity. In response, the California Public Utilities Commission (Commission) took action in April to help bridge this digital divide by making \$25 million available from the California Teleconnect Fund for hotspots and Internet service for student households, prioritizing rural, small, and medium-sized school districts. The Commission also made \$5 million available from the California Department of Education and devices. The Commission coordinated with the California Department of Education and

this funding will be prioritized toward low-income communities and communities with high percentages of residents with limited English proficiency.

To identify which areas of the state lack sufficient access to broadband, the May Revision includes \$2.8 million and 3 positions in additional resources from the Public Utilities Commission Utilities Reimbursement Account for the Commission to enhance its broadband mapping activities. This additional information will better inform the state's broadband infrastructure grant program, improve safety by providing broadband speed data at emergency response locations such as fairgrounds, and enhance the state's ability to compete for federal broadband funding.

The May Revision proposes statute intended to increase the ability of the state to compete for federal funding to improve access to broadband Internet in California.

WILDFIRE MITIGATION EFFORTS

Chapter 81, Statutes of 2019 (AB 111), added \$50.1 million in 2019-20 for the Commission to review and enforce utility wildfire mitigation plans and implement Chapter 79, Statutes of 2019 (AB 1054). These bills were enacted to facilitate consumer access to safe, reliable, and affordable power by providing a durable solution to the problems arising from utility-caused wildfires. The bills established a new Wildfire Safety Division, created procedures and standards applicable to catastrophic wildfire proceedings, codified the prudent manager standard for wildfire liability, and established a Wildfire Fund and mechanisms to capitalize the fund to protect ratepayers.

The May Revision continues to build on the Commission's emergency response and preparedness efforts and includes an additional 11 positions for the Commission to further improve its Wildfire Mitigation Plan guidelines and performance metrics.

Overall, the Governor's Budget and May Revision together contain 106 new positions and \$30 million for the Commission to address issues related to utility-caused wildfires.

DEPARTMENT OF MOTOR VEHICLES

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the DMV temporarily closed its field offices to protect both its employees and the public.

DMV took several immediate actions to accommodate the needs of the public. All driver licenses that expire between March 1 and May 31, 2020, have been extended,

and temporary paper extensions have been made available for seniors. The validity of expiring commercial driver licenses, endorsements, and certificates has been extended through June 30, 2020. In-person renewals have also been waived for eligible driver license and identification cardholders with expirations in March, April, and May 2020.

During its temporary closure, DMV began procuring personal protective equipment for its staff and developing plans to promote appropriate physical distancing within its offices for an eventual public reopening. DMV began a limited reopening of 25 field offices and 10 industry business centers on May 8 to honor existing appointments and serve customers whose unique transactions cannot be completed through one of DMV's multiple alternative service channels.

During this closure the DMV has continued to encourage the public to utilize its alternative service channels such as online, mail, and kiosks, and customers can use the Service Advisor on DMV's website to learn about service options. Additionally, DMV also quickly launched its DMV Virtual Field Office to create new digital options for transactions with DMV staff that previously required an in-person office visit. As a result, a substantial majority of all DMV transactions can now be processed without a field office visit.

The federal deadline by which a federally compliant driver license or identification will be required to board domestic flights or enter secure federal facilities has been extended until October 2021. DMV continues to be funded to provide REAL IDs by this deadline. As offices reopen, DMV will be able to address these and other transactional needs in field offices.

CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF VETERANS AFFAIRS

The California Department of Veterans Affairs (CalVet) works to serve the nearly 1.6 million veterans and their families living in California. CalVet strives to ensure that veterans of every era and their families receive state and federal benefits and services they have earned as a result of honorable military service. CalVet operates eight homes throughout the state that provide residential and medical care services to aged or disabled California veterans who served on active duty.

To reduce costs, the May Revision also proposes the following fund shift:

• Southern California Veterans Cemetery—A transfer of \$24.5 million from the Southern California Veterans Cemetery Master Development Fund to the General Fund. The

May Revision also includes a withdrawal of the Governor's Budget proposal to allocate \$700,000 from the Fund to conduct a study of various sites in the Irvine area for the future development of a Veterans Cemetery in Southern California.

ELECTRONIC HEALTHCARE RECORD SYSTEM

The May Revision includes one-time funding of \$1.2 million General Fund to begin implementation a new information technology project for a single electronic healthcare record system to replace multiple legacy systems. The system will streamline data entry and will provide a centralized repository for the health records to modernize CalVet's medical record keeping.

MASTER PLAN

In January 2020, CalVet released its statutorily required Master Plan for the overall operation of the veterans homes. The Master Plan discusses veteran population trends in California, the potential location of future facilities and alternate service delivery models, and includes several recommendations, some of which are reflected in the May Revision as follows:

- Closure of the Barstow Veterans Home—The Barstow Home was identified in the Master Plan as not meeting most criteria for an ideal veterans home, including proximity to veterans populations, proximity to the federal Veterans Administration healthcare system, availability of health care service providers, presence of a local nursing program, and availability of a sizable local health care workforce. In light of statewide fiscal challenges, the May Revision proposes to initiate the closure of the home. Barstow Home funding for 2020-21 now reflects a \$400,000 General Fund reduction to operating costs, and a projected \$3 million reduction in associated revenue. Long-term General Fund savings from closing the home are expected to be \$14 million annually.
- Realigning Levels of Care—The Governor's Budget proposed realigning the levels of care at the Yountville, Chula Vista, and Barstow Homes. The proposal has been modified in the May Revision to reflect the Barstow closure, and a one-year delay for realignment at Chula Vista and Yountville. The May Revision includes a \$2.6 million net General Fund savings in 2020-21 as a result of these changes.
- Mental Health Services for Veterans—The May Revision includes \$1.1 million General Fund in 2020-21 and \$2.1 million ongoing to improve behavioral health services at

the veterans homes by standardizing mental health support staffing. This reflects a six-month delay in the implementation of this Governor's Budget proposal, resulting in a decrease of \$1.1 million General Fund in 2020-21.

CALIFORNIA CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION

The May Revision sustains the Governor's Budget proposal for \$10.2 million Financial Protection Fund and 44 positions in 2020-21, growing to \$19.3 million and 90 positions ongoing in 2022-23, to revamp the Department of Business Oversight (DBO) as the Department of Financial Protection and Innovation, and empower the Department to provide consumers greater protection from predatory practices while facilitating innovation and ensuring a level playing field for all companies operating responsibly in California.

This proposal, known as the California Consumer Financial Protection Law, seeks to cement California's consumer protection leadership amidst a consumer-protection retreat by federal agencies, including the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau. The fragmented oversight of financial services has left consumers vulnerable to abuse. These problems are further exacerbated in times of crisis, including the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic.

The goals of this proposal are to:

- Protect consumers from predatory businesses, without imposing undue burdens on honest and fair operators.
- Restore financial protections that have been paralyzed at the federal level.
- Spur—not stifle—innovation in financial services by improving regulatory communication and anticipating emerging products and services. Extend state oversight to important financial-services providers not currently subject to state supervision, such as debt collectors.
- Increase public outreach and education, especially for vulnerable populations.
- Expand fact-based decision-making through studies on consumer behaviors and market impacts of financial products and services.
- Provide more effective services to consumers by increasing responses to consumer complaints and integrating consumer needs and experiences into oversight and enforcement. This proposal will not affect entities licensed through a different

department or agency, provided the entity is acting within the scope of their license.

The Department expects that initial start-up costs for the first three years of the new program will be covered by using the available settlement proceeds in the State Corporations and Financial Institutions Funds (which will become the new Financial Protection Fund), cost recovery on examinations, and potential new settlements; future costs are expected to be covered by fees on the newly covered industries.

The May Revision includes budget bill language that makes the funding and positions contingent upon the Legislature passing the necessary statutory language to implement the new program. This approach is intended to continue the discussion on the proposal's statutory language into the summer to give the Legislature more time to evaluate the proposal.

RESPONSIBLE BEVERAGE SERVICE TRAINING ACT DELAY

The Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control (ABC) licenses and regulates persons and businesses engaged in the manufacture, importation, distribution, and sale of alcoholic beverages in the State of California. The Department's mission is to administer the provisions of the Alcoholic Beverage Control Act in a manner that fosters and protects the health, safety, welfare, and economic well-being of the people of California.

The Governor's Budget included \$3.1 million Alcohol Beverage Control Fund to provide the capacity and resources to implement the Responsible Beverage Service Training Act, established in Chapter 847, Statutes of 2017 (AB 1221), and to provide electronic payment services. These resources will introduce new online functionality for electronic payments, enable online applications for new licenses and renewals, electronic notification of application status or renewal notices, and provide a database of certificates of alcohol servers in compliance with AB 1221.

AB 1221 requires that alcohol servers receive training on responsible beverage service within 60 days of their employment date, beginning July 1, 2021. This change in law creates a new statewide mandate for licensees and a new training requirement for as many as one million alcohol servers.

The May Revision includes statutory language to delay the July 1, 2021 alcohol server training requirement to July 1, 2022, to provide relief to licensees through the delayed

collection of responsible beverage service-associated training fees. The licensees, who are expected to cover the costs for servers to participate in the training, are being severely impacted by the downturn in the economy. ABC will continue developing the Responsible Beverage Service training system, and the online payment services and licensing application systems as part of their business modernization efforts. Licensees will benefit from these improved services as these projects move forward in 2020-21.

CANNABIS

The Governor's Budget announced the Administration's intent to consolidate the cannabis-regulatory functions in the Departments of Consumer Affairs, Food and Agriculture, and Public Health into a single Department of Cannabis Control, and stated more details would be submitted to the Legislature in the spring.

The Administration was in the process of developing a more detailed plan, including establishing workgroups tasked with building a foundation and infrastructure for the transition. However, this process was interrupted by the COVID-19 pandemic, requiring a delay in the consolidation as planned. Instead of initiating this change through the May Revision, the Administration will release details of a proposed consolidation in the 2021-22 Governor's Budget.

In light of the delayed cannabis consolidation effort, the May Revision includes special fund proposals from each of the licensing entities to address expiring limited-term funding and positions. These proposals include \$68.2 million for the Department of Consumer Affairs, Bureau of Cannabis Control, \$20.8 million for the Department of Public Health, and \$54.8 million for the Department of Food and Agriculture to continue cannabis licensing and enforcement activities, as well as make improvements to enforcement including, but not limited to, proposed statutory changes to shift sworn investigators from the Department of Consumer Affairs' Division of Investigations to its Bureau of Cannabis Control.

UPDATED ALLOCATION OF THE CANNABIS TAX FUND

Proposition 64 specified the allocation of resources in the Cannabis Tax Fund, which are continuously appropriated. Pursuant to Proposition 64, expenditures are prioritized for regulatory and administrative workload necessary to implement, administer, and enforce the Cannabis Act, followed by research and activities related to the legalization of cannabis and the past effects of its criminalization. Once these priorities have been met, the remaining funds are allocated to youth education, prevention,

early intervention, and treatment; environmental protection; and public safety-related activities. The Budget estimates \$296.9 million will be available for these purposes in 2020-21, and the structure of these allocations is unchanged from 2019-20:

- Youth education, prevention, and early intervention and treatment and school retention—60 percent (\$178.1 million)
- Environmental protection—20 percent (\$59.4 million)
- Public safety-related activities—20 percent (\$59.4 million)

These figures reflect a total reduction of \$35.9 million compared to the Governor's Budget estimate due to lower than expected tax receipts as result of the COVID-19 pandemic.

CANNABIS TAX REFORM

The Governor's Budget proposed to simplify tax administration for cannabis by changing the point of collection of cannabis taxes. The changes would have moved the responsibility for the cultivation excise tax from the final distributor to the first, and for the retail excise tax from the distributor to the retailer. The Administration remains committed to simplifying and improving cannabis tax administration and will work with stakeholders on a proposal for inclusion in the budget next year.

CALIFORNIA VOLUNTEERS

As the State Service Commission for California, California Volunteers manages programs and initiatives aimed at increasing the number of Californians engaged in service and volunteering. This includes the lead role for Emergency Support Function – 17 (ESF-17), in which California Volunteers is responsible for volunteer and donation management during the COVID-19 pandemic response and recovery. The state's response to the COVID-19 pandemic has highlighted the need to build-up and support these activities. The May Revision provides \$2.9 million ongoing General Fund for administrative and strategic planning staff, including emergency volunteer coordinators located in the three most populated regions of the state. This infrastructure builds the state's capacity to respond to the COVID-19 pandemic, as well as future emergencies, by increasing opportunities for Californians to serve their communities in a time of need. The May Revision also provides \$10.1 million ongoing General Fund to sustain nearly 500 AmeriCorps volunteer positions that were established with funding from the 2019 Budget Act. AmeriCorps volunteers serve statewide in programs that address critical community needs in education, public safety, health and human services, and the environment. AmeriCorps members also are participating in COVID-19 response and recovery by volunteering in food banks, assisting with meal deliveries to seniors, and meeting a variety of other COVID-19 related community needs as they arise. While the AmeriCorps program provides valuable services to communities at any time, it is particularly important now that organizations supported by volunteers, such as schools, local governments and nonprofit organizations, are facing increased fiscal constraints. The program also presents an opportunity for Californians laid off due to the COVID-19 pandemic to gain valuable work experience while earning a stipend and a grant for higher education.

SECRETARY OF STATE

The CARES Act included \$400 million in new Help America Vote Act funds, made available to states to prevent, prepare for, and respond to the COVID-19 pandemic for the 2020 federal election cycle. This funding is intended to provide states with additional resources to protect the 2020 elections from the effects of COVID-19. California has received \$36.3 million, which is available for expenditure through December 31, 2020. Among other things, the funding can be used to increase California's ability to vote-by-mail, expand early voting and online registration, and improve the safety of voting in-person by providing additional voting facilities, more polling place workers, and personal protective equipment.

Executive Order N-64-20, issued on May 8, 2020, requires each county elections official to send vote-by-mail ballots for the November 3, 2020 General Election to all registered voters so that Californians can exercise their right to vote in a safe and accessible manner. The Administration will continue to work with the Legislature and the Secretary of State to determine how requirements for in-person voting opportunities and other details of the November election will be implemented, while preserving public health and giving county elections officials needed flexibility.

DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS

The May Revision proposes statutory changes to increase fees for the following boards and bureaus to provide sufficient funding for operational costs. The need for fee increases is generally due to cost growth over the last few years.

- Acupuncture Board
- Board of Behavioral Sciences
- Bureau of Private Postsecondary Education
- Medical Board of California
- Podiatric Medical Board

The state is not in a fiscal position to increase rates or expand programs given the drastic budget impacts of the COVID-19 Recession. The following proposals are withdrawn or modified from the Governor's Budget:

- Board and Bureau Workload—A decrease of \$1.4 million various special funds to phase in or remove certain resources proposed in the Governor's Budget.
- Organizational Change Management Process Improvement—A decrease to fund only currently filled positions at this time.
- Increased Workload Related to Health Care Practitioners and Unprofessional Conduct, Medical Board and Investigation and Enforcement Unit proposals (SB 425)—Various decreases to phase-in resources requested in the Governor's Budget.

CALIFORNIA HORSE RACING BOARD

In response to Governor Gavin Newsom's direction to implement additional safety measures and reviews at Santa Anita Park, a review panel was formed to examine the horses' past performance, review their medical history, and perform physical examinations at Santa Anita. The Governor's Budget included \$1.3 million Horse Racing Fund and 12 positions in 2020-21 and ongoing to implement enhanced safety procedures at tracks across the state.

STATEWIDE ISSUES AND VARIOUS DEPARTMENTS

However, given the economic uncertainty and the currently unknown changes facing the future operations of horse racing tracks, the May Revision is modifying the original proposal by phasing in the positions over a four-year period of time, providing an initial savings of \$1,169,000 and \$444,000 ongoing. This modification is informed by the knowledge and experience gained over the initial implementation of the safety panel over the past 10 months, which identified opportunities for improvements, as well as a more strategic and methodical approach to extend the practice to all racing statewide.

This revised proposal provides for immediate fiscal relief for the racing industry while still providing the needed resources to continue the existing safety review panel and extend it to all racing statewide. In addition, this proposal will provide the needed resources to effectively implement the necropsy review program without creating a backlog in other enforcement and administrative action investigation cases.

Additionally, the May Revision includes an increase of \$1.3 million special fund to support growing contract costs related to more stringent testing equipment requirements, changes in the methodology and scope of equine drug testing at the Kenneth L. Maddy Laboratory at the University of California, Davis, and employee compensation costs.

OTHER SIGNIFICANT ADJUSTMENTS

To reduce costs, the May Revision also proposes the following efficiency and fund shift:

 Department of General Services, Capitol Annex Projects—A transfer of \$754.2 million from the State Project Infrastructure Fund to the General Fund. These funds were previously earmarked for the design and construction of a series of projects necessary for the renovation or reconstruction of the Capitol Annex. Funding remains available for pre-construction activities for the projects, and the costs associated with the design and construction phases will be shifted to lease-revenue bond financing.

Absent additional federal funds, the COVID-19 Recession makes the following reductions necessary to balance the state budget. These reductions will be triggered off if the federal government provides sufficient funding to restore them:

• California Arts Council—Withdrawal of a one-time increase of \$10.5 million General Fund in 2020-21.

- California Military Department, California Cadet Corps—Reversal of the 2018-19 expansion of the California Cadet Corps for a decrease of \$6.3 million General Fund in 2020-21 and \$8 million General Fund in 2021-22.
- Precision Medicine Program—Reversion of \$18.1 million in previously appropriated funds that have yet to be allocated. The 2016, 2017, and 2018 Budget Acts included a total of \$50 million for this program and \$30 million remains unallocated. This adjustment allows the Office of Planning and Research to retain \$2.1 million to administer previously allocated research grants as well as \$9.8 million for research related to Adverse Childhood Events.

STATE APPROPRIATIONS LIMIT CALCULATION

Pursuant to Article XIIIB of the California Constitution, the 2020-21 limit is estimated to be \$115.9 billion. The revised limit is the result of applying the growth factor of 3.62 percent to the prior year limit. The revised 2020-21 limit is \$695 million below the \$116.6 billion estimated in January. This decrease is primarily due to changes in the following factors:

- Per Capita Personal Income
 - January Percentage Growth: 4.08%
 - May Revision Percentage Growth: 3.73%
- State Civilian Population
 - January Percentage Growth: 0.44%
 - May Revision Percentage Growth: 0.21%
- K-14 Average Daily Attendance
 - January Percentage Growth: -0.33%
 - May Revision Percentage Growth: -0.67%

This page intentionally blank to facilitate double-sided printing.

ECONOMIC OUTLOOK

The longest economic expansion in U.S. history ended in March 2020 with the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic. Just one month earlier, both the U.S. and California were at historic low unemployment rates, at 3.5 percent and 3.9 percent, respectively. California in particular had an extraordinarily strong economy with a nominal Gross Domestic Product of \$3.1 trillion in 2019, and employment growth rates that had consistently outpaced the rest of the nation.

The first U.S. case of COVID-19 was confirmed on January 20, 2020 and on January 26, 2020 in California. California immediately began implementing its pandemic plan, which had been developed over the last 10 years to ensure that public health would be protected in the case of a pandemic. This planning included implementing policies necessary to protect the public health, such as stay-at-home orders—first for the most vulnerable and then the general population, social distancing guidelines for when Californians had to leave their home and the closure of non-essential businesses. These policies resulted in a COVID-19 incidence that was lower in California than the rest of the United States. As of May 1, over 1 million cases and 67,000 deaths were reported in the nation. In California, 55,000 cases had been reported by May 1 (5 percent of the nation's total cases), and over 2,000 deaths (or 3 percent of all U.S. deaths). The public health measures put in place to slow the spread of the pandemic also had an immediate impact on the state's economy. And, the continuing pandemic—with no treatment or vaccine currently available—will have an ongoing impact on California's economic outlook.

ECONOMIC OUTLOOK

Over 30 million Americans filed an initial unemployment claim from mid-March through early May. This includes 4.0 million claims from California—one out of every five California workers has filed an unemployment claim since mid-March. California's economic outlook has been affected dramatically by the pandemic.

California unemployment rate is expected to peak at 24.5 percent in the second quarter of 2020, before slowly decreasing to 10.6 percent by the fourth quarter of 2023. California personal income and construction permits are expected to decrease by around 9 percent and 21 percent, respectively in 2020, while inflation is projected to decreate from 3 percent in 2019 to 1 percent in 2020.

Economic recovery from the COVID-19 Recession is projected to be only slightly faster than during the Great Recession. Recognizing uncertainty around current unprecedented events and subsequent policy actions, an extended disruption scenario was modeled to illustrate how the pace and type of recovery may vary given different policy environments, business choices, and consumer behaviors.

THE NATION

After a growth of 2.3 percent in 2019, the May Revision assumes U.S. real GDP will contract by 5.4 percent in 2020—a drop more than twice the 2.5-percent decrease in 2009 at the height of the Great Recession. GDP growth is projected to begin to rebound starting in 2021, growing at 4 percent on average through 2023. The U.S. forecast was finalized based on data available in early April; unlike the California outlook, it does not incorporate data from the rest of April and early May.

U.S. real GDP contracted by 4.8 percent on a seasonally adjusted annualized rate basis in the first quarter of 2020. Household consumption saw its highest quarterly decline since 1980, reflecting the introduction of stay-at-home orders and business closures throughout the country. Second-quarter real GDP is expected to fall by 26.5 percent on a seasonally adjusted annualized rate basis due to the continuation of widespread stay-at-home orders and various non-essential business closures. Consumption, which makes up about two-thirds of GDP, is expected to be the primary drag on growth as households stop spending money on goods and services as a result of business closures, rising unemployment, ongoing public health concerns, and lower consumer confidence. (See figure on Contributions to U.S. Real GDP Growth.) Investment, imports, and exports, are also projected to decline sharply in 2020; as a result, U.S. real GDP will fall by 5.4 percent within one year after the longest period of economic expansion in U.S. history. During the Great Recession, U.S. real GDP fell by 4.0 percent over seven quarters from its peak in the fourth quarter 2007 to its trough in the second quarter of 2009.



Source: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis; CA Department of Finance, May Revision Forecast.

The U.S. unemployment rate rose from 3.5 percent in February 2020 to 4.4 percent in March 2020, with the number of employed decreasing from 158.8 million to 155.8 million. At the same time, the labor force - those employed or actively looking for work - fell from 164.5 million to 162.9 million. The unemployment rate rose to 14.7 percent in April, with the number of employed decreasing to 133.4 million. The number of people actively looking for work rose to 23.1 million, bringing the labor force to 156.5 million.

In the second quarter of 2020, the U.S. unemployment rate is projected to average 8.4 percent, only four months after averaging around 3.5 percent from September 2019 to February 2020—its lowest rate since December 1969. (See figure on Selected Economic Indicators.) Compared to the Great Recession, from the point unemployment began to rise in the third quarter of 2007, it took almost two years for the unemployment rate to reach 8.7 percent before eventually peaking at 10.0 percent in October 2009. Unemployment claims data since early April, that are not incorporated

ECONOMIC OUTLOOK

in the U.S. forecast, suggests the U.S. unemployment rate will be much higher than the 8.4 percent forecast in the second quarter.



S&P 500 Index, 1995 to 2020

Shaded areas indicate U.S. recession. Source: S&P Dow Jones Indices.

The stock market was especially volatile in early 2020. With record intra-day swings, single-day gains, and the largest point drops in history, along with business and political uncertainty, several companies temporarily suspended dividend payouts. The Standard and Poor's 500 index (S&P 500) fell almost one third from almost 3,400 to 2,300 in just over four weeks through February and March. (See figure on S&P 500 Index.)

In response to the economic fallout from COVID-19, Congress passed a series of measures to alleviate some of the negative impacts. The most significant of which was the CARES Act, which made over \$2 trillion available for relief, including direct stimulus checks for individuals, expanding the scope and benefit amount of unemployment insurance, loans for large businesses, some direct aid for state and local governments and forgivable Paycheck Protection Program (PPP) loans for small businesses, designed to encourage worker retention. Uptake of PPP loans was so rapid that funds were quickly exhausted and Congress authorized an additional \$310 billion for the program in April.
					Fore	cas	t				
		2017		2018		2019	2020	2021		2022	2023
United States											
Nominal gross domestic product, \$ billions	\$	19,519	\$	20,580	\$	21,428	\$ 20,578	\$ 22,181	\$	23,413	\$ 24,259
Real gross domestic product, percent change		2.4%		2.9%		2.3%	-5.4%	6.3%		4.0%	1.6%
Contributions to real GDP growth											
Personal consumption expenditures		1.8%		2.1%		1.8%	-3.7%	4.9%		2.6%	0.8%
Gross private domestic investment		0.8%		0.9%		0.3%	-3.3%	2.1%		1.8%	0.1%
Net exports		-0.3%		-0.3%		-0.2%	1.4%	-0.9%		-0.6%	0.8%
Government purchases of goods and services		0.1%		0.3%		0.4%	0.3%	0.3%		0.1%	-0.19
Personal income, \$ billions	\$	16,879	\$	17,819	\$	18,602	\$ 18,913	\$ 19,494	\$	20,406	\$ 21,176
Corporate profits, percent change		0.7%		-3.3%		0.2%	-20.3%	50.6%		2.4%	1.8%
Housing permits, thousands		1,282		1,329		1,386					-
Housing starts, thousands		1,209		1,250		1,298	1,077	1,121		1,259	1,244
Median sales price of existing homes	\$	248,800	\$	261,600	\$	274,600	·			·	· -
Federal funds rate, percent		1.0%		1.8%		2.2%	0.4%	0.1%		0.1%	0.1%
Consumer price index, percent change		2.1%		2.4%		1.8%	0.7%	2.3%		2.6%	2.7%
Unemployment rate, percent		4.4%		3.9%		3.7%	8.0%	7.9%		4.3%	3.6%
Civilian labor force, millions		160.3		162.1		163.5	163.6	163.1		165.4	167.2
Nonfarm employment, millions		146.6		148.9		150.9	144.1	142.7		150.9	154.1
		11010		11010		10010				10010	
California											
Personal income, \$ billions	\$	2,370	\$	2,514	\$	2,634	2,400	\$ 2,402	\$	2,510	\$ 2,647
Exports of goods, percent change		5.3%		3.6%		-2.7%					
Housing permits, thousands		114		117		113	89	95		104	118
Housing unit net change, thousands	•	85	•	78	•	95					
Median sales price of existing homes	\$		\$	569,480	\$	592,450					
Consumer price index, percent change		2.9% 4.8%		3.7% 4.3%		3.0% 4.1%	1.0% 18.0%	2.9% 17.6%		3.5% 15.6%	3.4% 12.1%
Unemployment rate, percent Civilian labor force, millions		4.0% 19.2		4.3% 19.3		4.1% 19.4	10.0%	17.0%		19.5	12.17
Nonfarm employment, millions		16.8		17.2		17.4	14.9	15.0		15.5	16.1
		10.0		17.2			11.0	10.0		10.0	10.1
Percent of total nonfarm employment		0.10/		0.10/		0.10/	0.10/	0.10/		0.10/	0.10
Mining and logging Construction		0.1% 4.8%		0.1% 5.0%		0.1% 5.1%	0.1% 5.2%	0.1% 4.2%		0.1% 4.5%	0.1% 4.6%
Manufacturing		4.0% 7.8%		7.7%		7.6%	7.5%	4.2 <i>%</i> 7.6%		4.5% 7.5%	4.0%
Trade, transportation, and utilities		17.9%		17.7%		17.5%	16.0%	16.3%		16.6%	17.1%
Information		3.1%		3.2%		3.3%	3.6%	3.7%		3.8%	3.9%
Financial activities		4.9%		4.9%		4.7%	4.8%	4.8%		4.7%	4.7%
Professional and business services		15.3%		15.5%		15.6%	14.7%	15.0%		15.1%	15.1%
Educational and health services		15.8%		15.9%		16.1%	19.4%	19.7%		19.4%	19.0%
Leisure and hospitality		11.6%		11.6%		11.7%	8.5%	8.5%		8.7%	8.8%
Other services		3.4%		3.3%		3.3%	 2.4%	2.4%		2.5%	2.5%
Government		15.2%		15.0%		15.0%	17.7%	17.6%		17.1%	16.6%

Selected Economic Indicators

In mid-March, the Federal Reserve cut the benchmark interest rates to a range of 0 to 0.25 percent from a range of 1.0 to 1.25 percent, and has signaled that interest rates will remain in this range for the foreseeable future. Benchmark interest rates were set to the same range during the Great Recession although the magnitude of the cut was much greater-falling from a target of 5.25 percent in August 2008, and then interest rates remained near zero for several years until December 2015. In addition to cutting interest

ECONOMIC OUTLOOK

rates, the Federal Reserve also announced its commitment to using unconventional monetary policy to support the economy. This included announcing unlimited use of quantitative easing to support financial markets by buying government and corporate bonds as well as engaging in a main street lending program by purchasing loans made to main street businesses from banks. These federal measures were factored into the U.S. and California inflation forecast as well as in the California economic outlook.

Headline inflation, which is the rate of change in the price of all goods and services, is expected to slow in 2020 as demand for goods and services is drastically reduced with stay-at-home orders (except for essential needs) and social distancing measures in place. The headline Consumer Price Index (CPI) is a weighted average of the prices of a market basket of consumer goods and services. A surge in demand for goods and services can cause inflation to rise as consumers are willing to pay more for the goods or services. Conversely, a drop in demand for goods and services can cause inflation to slow as producers or service providers are willing to charge less for their goods or services to clear inventory or spare capacity. In March 2020, U.S. inflation already showed signs of deceleration, slowing to 1.5 percent following 2.4 percent on average in January and February 2020. U.S. headline inflation is expected to turn negative in the second quarter of 2020 (-3.7 percent), and to rebound in the second half of 2020 to an average of 2.2 percent, bringing annual 2020 U.S. headline inflation to 0.7 percent, following 1.8 percent in 2019. U.S. headline inflation is expected to gradually rise to 2.3 percent in 2021 and to firm up to around 2.7 percent on average in 2022 and 2023 as economic recovery gets underway and consumer confidence strengthens. (See figure on Contributions to Inflation U.S. and California.)

CALIFORNIA

The state's unemployment rate rose to 5.3 percent in March following six consecutive months at a record low 3.9 percent. The number of initial unemployment claims filed since then suggests that unemployment will rise rapidly in the short-term. Initial unemployment claims data show that 4.0 million Californians, or one in five workers, applied for unemployment insurance in mid-March through early May. Independent contractors and self-employed workers have also been able to claim benefits under the federally-funded Pandemic Unemployment Assistance program launched on April 28, 2020.

The May Revision forecast projects the negative economic impacts due to the pandemic to be largest in the second quarter of 2020 and to persist throughout the forecast. A slow recovery is projected as restrictions gradually begin to ease.



Source: U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics; CA Department of Finance, May Revision Forecast.

The unemployment rate is projected to reach 24.5 percent in the second quarter of 2020, meaning that one in four California workers will be out of work, or around 4.8 million people. This is more than twice the 2.2 million Californians unemployed during the height of the Great Recession in the fourth quarter of 2010— with a peak unemployment rate of 12.3 percent. Following this peak, the unemployment rate is expected to gradually decline, reaching 10.6 percent in the fourth quarter of 2023. (See figure on U.S. and California Unemployment Rates.)

Around 3.7 million nonfarm jobs are expected to be lost over the first two quarters of 2020, around one in five of the jobs that existed in 2019. While job losses are expected to occur in most sectors, the most severe losses will fall disproportionately on lowerincome workers. The number of jobs in the leisure and hospitality sector is expected to decrease by 53 percent in the first two quarters of 2020 or by around 1.1 million jobs. Similarly, nonfarm employment in administrative, waste, and remediation services is expected to contract by 52 percent or by 590,000 jobs, retail trade by 39 percent or by 655,000 jobs, and other services by 54 percent or by 314,000 jobs. These sectors are not as adaptable to teleworking as other affected industries such as information or professional, scientific, and technical services. While the forecast projects 3.6 million nonfarm jobs lost in the second quarter, the total number of unemployed Californians will reach 4.8 million due to self-employed and independent contractors who will lose



U.S. and California Unemployment Rates

work, and to account for the additional 750,000 Californians who were already seeking work in early 2020.

The sudden job losses in 2020 are expected to largely undo a decade of job growth in many sectors since the Great Recession, and to exacerbate ongoing job losses in some others. (See figure on Change in Jobs by Sector: 2020 Relative to 2007.) For example, between 2007 and 2019, the leisure and hospitality sector added 473,000 jobs to reach 2 million jobs. In 2020, the sector is projected to contract by around 765,000 jobs, meaning that the sector will average almost 300,000 fewer jobs this year than in 2007 just prior to the onset of the Great Recession. An exception to this is the educational and health services sector, which is expected to continue to grow slightly in 2020 as demand for services in this sector remains high. This was also the only sector that continued to add jobs throughout the Great Recession and recovery, adding 835,000 jobs from 2007 to reach 2.8 million jobs in 2019.

After falling by 14.3 percent in 2020, nonfarm employment is expected to grow by 0.6 percent in 2021. Job growth is expected to accelerate to 3.2 percent in 2022 and 3.8 percent in 2023; however, the level of nonfarm jobs in 2023 is still expected to remain 8 percent lower than the 2019 level. The May Revision forecast projects that it will take

Source: U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics; CA Employment Development Department, Labor Market Information Division; CA Department of Finance, May Revision Forecast.



CA Department of Finance, May Revision Forecast.

six years to return to the level of jobs California had before the outbreak of COVID-19, one year faster than the recovery from the Great Recession. (See figure on California Job Losses.)

This forecast assumes that the public health crisis of the pandemic will be controlled and economic activity will increase as statewide stay-at-home orders are modified and eased. The recovery is expected to be gradual, fairly measured, and restrained as firms repair business ties, and consumers and businesses slowly regain the confidence to spend money. The ongoing risks of potential future outbreaks are also expected to cause businesses to make fundamental changes in their operations, such as reducing restaurant capacity, implementing temperature checks and/or health screenings, and purchasing personal protective equipment for their employees. This also includes increasing adoption of automation and online sale channels which are expected to permanently lower the number of jobs from 2019 levels in public-serving sectors such as retail, administration, and leisure and hospitality. Other sectors, including information, transportation and warehousing, professional, scientific and technical services, and management of companies, are expected to have more jobs in the long run as

ECONOMIC OUTLOOK

demand for services in these industries increases in the near future. For example, regular teleworking may become a permanent arrangement for some industries.



Source: U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics; CA Employment Development Department, Labor Market Information Division; CA Department of Finance, May Revision Forecast.

While the state will experience an unprecedented increase in unemployment and loss of jobs, the average wage per job in California is projected to grow slightly by 1.4 percent in 2020 after growing by 3.9 percent in 2019. Average wage growth is then expected to rise gradually each year—by 2.6 percent in 2021, 3.1 percent in 2022 and 3.4 percent in 2023. By comparison, during the Great Recession, wage growth slowed to 0.4 percent in 2009, before rising each year to reach a growth of 4.2 percent by 2012. The slight positive wage growth in 2020 largely reflects the changing composition of jobs, as businesses in higher-paying sectors are more likely to retain staff due to the ability to telework, while job losses will be greater in lower-paying sectors.

Average wages in most sectors are projected to decline as firms freeze hiring, postpone bonus and salary increases, and cut hours for hourly wage earners. In 2020, the average leisure and hospitality job is expected to lose around \$1,800 or 5 percent of its 2019 average yearly wage of around \$37,000. By comparison, during the Great Recession in 2009, leisure and hospitality jobs lost around 1.5 percent of their average yearly wage. The forecast assumes that the minimum wage will continue to rise progressively by \$1 each year until it reaches \$15 an hour. Further, it assumes the minimum wage increases to \$14 an hour for large employers and \$13 an hour for small employers, with up to 25 employees, on January 1, 2021, despite meeting the criteria for job losses and sales tax revenue declines that would allow the minimum wage increases to be paused for a year.

Under the assumption of continued increases, the average wage in leisure and hospitality—a sector with one in five workers earning the state minimum wage— is expected to recover to 2019 levels by 2022. Salaries in high-paying sectors are also expected to fall in 2020. For example, the average wage in professional, scientific, technical and management services is projected to fall by \$2,200 or 1.7 percent of the 2019 yearly average wage of \$131,000. This is also more than the Great Recession, when salaries in the sector fell by only 0.1 percent. Despite wages falling in most sectors, the state average wage is projected to rise in 2020, reflecting the fact that job losses are expected to be more severe in lower-paying sectors while employers in higher-paying sectors are more likely to retain staff.

The economic consequences of the pandemic are also expected to negatively impact other sources of income beyond wages and salaries. California personal income, which includes income from wages and salaries, businesses ownership, property ownership, and government transfers, grew by 4.8 percent in 2019 but is expected to decrease by 9 percent or \$230 billion in 2020. Personal income is expected to gradually recover starting in 2021 and return to pre-pandemic levels in 2023. (See figure on Contributions to California Personal Income Growth.)

As Californians have stayed home due to the COVID-19 pandemic, there has been an unprecedented decline in business sales and revenues. Many companies have furloughed or laid off workers, and otherwise tried to navigate the current pandemic environment. Following a growth of 5.2 percent in 2019, total wages and salaries are projected to decrease in 2020 by 12.8 percent or \$170 billion, greater than the 6-percent peak-to-trough decline in the Great Recession. As firms begin to recall or re-hire workers in mid-2020, total wages and salaries are projected to increase by 3.2 percent in 2021 and to reach a growth of 7.2 percent by 2023.

Californians who own their own businesses are also expected to see their income decrease in 2020. Reductions in consumer spending and restrictions on non-essential activities will disrupt proprietors' business activity resulting in loss of income. Businesses not able to successfully navigate the pandemic environment will have to shut down or declare bankruptcy. As a result, proprietorship income is projected to decrease by



Contributions to Personal Income Growth

26 percent or by \$66 billion in 2020 and to continue shrinking by 8 percent in 2021 before rebounding and reaching a 6-percent growth rate by 2023. Proprietorship income increased by 4.9 percent in 2019.

Property income includes income received from corporate dividend payouts, interest income, and rental value of property. Following a growth of 2.2 percent in 2019, property income is projected to decrease by 9 percent or by \$50 billion in 2020. Due to the sharp drops in the stock market early in the year, and due to ongoing uncertainties impacting business income and decisions, dividend income is expected to decrease by 27 percent or by \$46 billion in 2020. Dividend income is expected to continue shrinking in 2021, by 11 percent, before recovering in 2022 and reaching a 12-percent growth rate by 2023. In line with the Federal Reserve's interest rate decisions, interest income is expected to decrease by about 7 percent in 2020 and to grow slowly through 2023.

Housing costs have been historically higher in California than for the nation. The share of households that were homeowners in the state decreased from 58 percent in 2007 to

Source: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis; CA Department of Finance, May Revision Forecast.

55 percent in 2018. The median renting household in California paid around \$17,000 in rent in 2018—about 32 percent of median household income for renters. In 2007, just before the Great Recession, the median renting household paid around \$14,200 in 2018 dollars—about 29 percent of median household income for renters. With unprecedented job and income losses across almost all sectors, a shrinking share of Californians will be able to purchase new homes and keep up with mortgage payments, leading to even more Californians becoming renters, resulting in increased pressures on the rental market. As a result, rental income is expected to increase by 7 percent or by \$12 billion in 2020. Rental income is expected to remain around that level in 2021 before slowing to 3.6 percent by 2023.

Transfer payments are expected to rise due to increased unemployment insurance payouts as well as other forms of government assistance. The federal CARES Act provided many Californians with one-time direct payments and temporarily expanded the state's unemployment insurance program in 2020. After increasing by 7.9 percent in 2019, transfer payments are expected to increase by 17 percent or by \$64 billion in 2020 before gradually decreasing through 2023 as government assistance ends and unemployed Californians reintegrate into the job market.

Personal income is not expected to return to 2019 levels until 2023. In comparison, personal income fell by 3.3 percent during the Great Recession and recovered to 2007 levels by 2011. The forecast projects the impacts of the pandemic on personal income and its components to be larger in magnitude and in percentages compared to the Great Recession.

The forecast projects that California permits for residential single-family and multi-family units will decrease by 21 percent or 24,000 units to around 90,000 in 2020. In comparison, during the housing shock associated with the Great Recession, residential permits decreased by 44 percent or 29,000 units in 2009. The state has built far fewer units than implied by population growth over the last ten years, and pent-up demand is expected to continue to support the housing sector despite the recession. California authorized the construction of around 113,400 units in 2019 and homebuilding activity in the first two months of 2020 was exceptionally strong, averaging 133,700 units annually. However, the number of authorized units decreased in March by 30 percent from February to only 87,700 units. Permits are expected to grow by 6 percent in 2021 and to reach a growth of 14 percent by 2023.

With the state's ongoing housing imbalance and climate change regulations, California's overall inflation will remain higher than the nation's over the forecast period. California inflation reflects the rate of change in the Consumer Price Index

ECONOMIC OUTLOOK

(CPI) for the metropolitan areas of Los Angeles, Riverside-San Bernardino, San Diego, and San Francisco. In March 2020, headline inflation in the Los Angeles metropolitan area slowed to 1.9 percent following 3.2 percent average growth in January and February 2020 and 3.1 percent annual growth in 2019; in Riverside-San Bernardino, headline inflation slowed to 2.3 percent in March 2020 following 3.0 percent in January 2020 and 2.9 percent annual growth in 2019; and in San Diego, headline inflation slowed to 1.8 percent in March 2020 following 2.3 percent in January 2020 and 2.4 percent annual growth in 2019. The CPI for San Francisco for March 2020 is not available.

Assuming statewide that the stay-at-home order is in place through most of the second quarter of 2020, California headline inflation is expected to turn negative in the second quarter (-2 percent) and in the third quarter (-0.6 percent). As consumer demand ramps up in the fourth quarter 2020, California headline inflation is expected to rise to around 2.1 percent in the fourth quarter bringing annual 2020 inflation to 1 percent, following 3 percent in 2019.

Driving slower headline inflation in 2020 are lower prices for gasoline, dining-out, apparel, household furnishings and appliances, and other discretionary goods (e.g. televisions, new cars, jewelry) and discretionary services and services that require close contact with customers (e.g. hair and nail salons and fitness centers). However, prices for some essential goods and services (e.g. groceries, housekeeping supplies, medical care) are expected to rise in 2020 due to increased demand. In 2021, consumer demand is expected to remain subdued as economic uncertainties remain. California headline inflation is expected to remain slow through the first half of 2021 before rebounding in the second half bringing the annual average headline inflation to 2.9 percent in 2021. As economic growth returns and consumer demand recovers going forward, California headline inflation is expected to rise inflation is expected to rise inflation is expected to returns and consumer demand recovers going forward, California headline inflation is expected to returns and consumer demand 3.5 percent on average in 2022 and 2023.

During the Great Recession, California's annual headline inflation turned negative for the first time on record in 2009 (-0.3 percent). This negative inflation was driven by a sharp and sustained drop in energy prices and a rapid deceleration in shelter inflation. The May Revision expects energy prices to rebound in early 2021 and shelter inflation to remain relatively stable throughout the forecast period.

CONTINUING RISKS

The Governor's Budget noted economic risks from a U.S. recession, stock market volatility, a global economic slowdown, federal policy, a housing shortage, and an aging population. Several of these risks have materialized, and the economic disruptions of the COVID-19 pandemic have exacerbated these pre-existing risks.

The initial outbreak of COVID-19 in China led to some supply chain disruptions as the Chinese government closed factories and quarantined workers. Additionally, ports closed and cargo ships stopped traveling to China, creating logistical bottlenecks in international shipping. Initially, the U.S. was positioned to draw down domestic inventories and find secondary sources for manufacturing components and finished products that were no longer being exported from China.

As COVID-19 spread throughout the world, uncertainties grew around the availability of secondary sources and the reliability of shipping between countries. With these challenges looming, domestic manufacturers leaned more heavily on domestic inventories, causing a decline in international trade volume. In March, U.S. exports of goods and services fell by 9.6 percent to \$188 billion from February, the largest monthly decrease on record. U.S. imports of goods and services fell 6.2 percent to \$232 billion in March, the largest monthly decrease since January 2009. The March 2020 levels of U.S. exports and imports were the lowest since November 2016. Exports of goods also decreased in California, down 4.3 percent in March to \$14 billion. Imports of goods into the state increased by 8.4 percent to \$29 billion, as importers were able to source supplies from Thailand, Taiwan, and Japan to offset impacts of China's lockdown. The duration of lockdowns in countries around the world and the uncertainty surrounding the effects on the supply chain of a possible second wave of COVID-19 pose ongoing risks to U.S. and California trade and ability to maintain a steady flow of components needed for manufacturing, construction, and retail sales.

Along with supply chain disruptions, oil markets have suffered from both supply and demand side issues. Early in March, a dispute between oil producers in Saudi Arabia and Russia led to an unprecedented price war. Combined with the producers' price cuts was a large decrease in the demand for oil driven by COVID-19 stay-at-home orders and business closures. While the price war has ended, oil demand remains low. The oil industry is now in a position where storage is near capacity. In April, this predicament led to the first negative oil futures price in history, large losses of earnings, abandonment of exploration projects, and subsequent bankruptcies of oil companies. Questions surrounding the future of small domestic oil companies and the

ECONOMIC OUTLOOK

imminent restructuring of the domestic oil industry has implications for oil and gas prices as well as California's oil industry. The oil industry had a total economic impact of \$152 billion in 2019, or roughly 5 percent of the state's current dollar GDP.

Climate change and extreme weather events continue to affect California. Increasing temperatures and possible drought conditions will exacerbate wildfire risks throughout the state. Housing and business location decisions may be affected by threats of wildfire and economic growth in certain regions of the state will be impacted. Rising sea levels also present a challenge to coastal communities.

The state continues to face a critical housing shortage. With fewer permits issued, an unprecedented increase in unemployment and the reluctance of builders to build homes during an economic downturn, will worsen the housing shortage. Californians will face increasing affordability issues which will affect their decisions about where to live. Businesses will also base location decisions on the ability of their employees and customers to live nearby.

Other demographic challenges—aging population, lower fertility rates, and lower migration rates—persist in spite of the global pandemic. These challenges will persist and may be exacerbated as the state recovers from the economic and public health consequences of COVID-19.

EXTENDED DISRUPTION SCENARIO

If protecting public health requires extended restrictions to remain in place and lift more gradually, economic disruptions will continue. Under this scenario, there are likely to be more bankruptcies and job losses. The unemployment rate would peak at 31.2 percent in the first quarter of 2021, and nonfarm job losses from peak to trough would surpass 5 million. As more businesses close, the ability of the economy to bounce back is reduced, causing slower job growth in the medium term across all sectors and especially lower wage sectors. In this scenario, recovery to 2019 pre-crisis levels of employment would not occur until 2027. By 2023, the unemployment rate would be about 1.5 million below the baseline scenario.

Widespread business closures and sustained job loss would lead to extended contractions in wages and proprietorship income. Persistent low demand for business' products and services would lead to more companies suspending dividend payouts. While transfer payments will remain high because more Californians would remain unemployed, they will not be high enough to offset the substantial loss of income. Personal income and most of its components would not return to positive growth until 2022, and would not recover to 2019 levels within the forecast period. Under this scenario, total personal income would be \$219 billion below the baseline scenario in 2023. Wages and salaries would be the largest drag on personal income, remaining \$163 billion below the baseline scenario in 2023, but proprietorship income and property income also lag below baseline.

Due to lower demand, residential units authorized by permits would not begin growing until 2022, and would not recover to 2019 levels within the forecast period. By 2023, total residential permits would be about 28,000 units below the baseline scenario.

This page intentionally blank to facilitate double-sided printing.

REVENUE ESTIMATES

A fter a record economic expansion, the U.S. economy abruptly entered into a recession in March of this year. This change in the economic landscape has had an immediate negative impact on revenues, with all three major revenue sources showing significant declines relative to the Governor's Budget forecast. From 2018-19 through 2020-21, the May Revision baseline revenue estimate (absent policy changes) has decreased by over \$41 billion, and over \$43 billion before accounting for transfers. The changes in the three largest tax sources are:

- Personal income tax revenues are revised downward by almost \$33 billion due to a decline in all income sources, but particularly wages, proprietorship income, and capital gains.
- Sales tax receipts are down by almost \$10 billion due mainly to lower consumption and investment by businesses.
- Corporation tax revenues are down over \$5 billion based on a significant drop in corporate profits.

After accounting for transfers, which includes loan repayments as well as automatic and discretionary transfers to the Rainy Day Fund, baseline General Fund revenues at the May Revision forecast are down relative to the Governor's Budget by \$41.2 billion over the budget window; higher than the Governor's Budget by \$665 million in 2018-19; lower than the Governor's Budget by \$9.7 billion in 2019-20; and lower than the Governor's Budget by over \$32 billion in 2020-21. The baseline General Fund Revenue Forecast table compares the revenue forecasts by source in the Governor's Budget to the baseline May Revision forecast.

2020-21 May Revision General Fund Revenue Forecast Baseline

(Dollars in Millions)

Source	2020-21 Governor's Budget	May Revision	Change Governor's Forec	Budget
Fiscal 2018-19: Preliminary		•••		
Personal Income Tax	\$98,599	\$99,189	\$590	0.6%
Sales & Use Tax	26,128	26,150	22	0.1%
Corporation Tax	14,063	14,075	13	0.1%
Insurance Tax	2,723	2,727	4	0.2%
Alcoholic Beverage	378	378	0	0.0%
Cigarette	62	62	0	0.0%
Pooled Money Interest	648	648	0	0.0%
Other Revenues	1,223	1,242	19	1.6%
Subtotal	\$143,823	\$144,471	\$648	0.5%
Transfers ^{1/}	-4,444	-4,427	17	-0.4%
Total	\$139,379	\$140,044	\$665	0.5%
Fiscal 2019-20	¢101 690	¢04 772	¢c 000	6.80/
Personal Income Tax Sales & Use Tax	\$101,682 \$27,185	\$94,773 \$24,041	-\$6,909	-6.8%
	\$27,185 \$15,205	\$24,941 \$12,870	-2,244	-8.3% -9.4%
Corporation Tax	\$15,305	\$13,870	-1,435 29	-9.4% 1.0%
Insurance Tax	\$3,023 \$383	\$3,052 \$385	29	0.6%
Alcoholic Beverage	\$60	\$58 \$58	-2	-3.8%
Cigarette Pooled Money Interest	\$574	\$58 \$547	-2 -27	-3.6% -4.6%
Other Revenues	\$374 \$2,187	\$3,208	1,020	-4.0% 46.7%
Subtotal	\$150,399	\$3,208 \$140,833	-\$9,565	-6.4%
Transfers ^{1/}	-3,913	-4,001	-\$9,505 -88	-0.4%
Total	\$146,486	\$136,833	-\$9,653	-6.6%
Fiscal 2020-21	\$140,400	\$150,055	-99,000	-0.078
Personal Income Tax	\$102,877.72	\$76,619.63	-\$26,258	-25.5%
Sales & Use Tax	\$28,242.79	\$20,570.80	-7,672	-27.2%
Corporation Tax	\$16,006.93	\$12,367.49	-3,639	-22.7%
Insurance Tax	\$3,116.77	\$2,985.80	-131	-4.2%
Alcoholic Beverage	\$388.51	\$388.98	0	0.1%
Cigarette	\$58.03	\$55.80	-2	-3.8%
Pooled Money Interest	\$514.18	\$183.53	-331	-64.3%
Other Revenues	\$2,197.73	\$6,071.57	3,874	176.3%
Subtotal	\$153,403	\$119,244	-\$34,159	-22.3%
Transfers ^{1/}	-1,768	187	1,955	-110.6%
Total	\$151,635	\$119,431	-\$32,204	-21.2%
Three-Year Total	· · ·		-\$41,192	
Totals may not add because of rounding	g.			

^{1/}Includes transfers to Budget Stabilization Account for each year.

REVENUE SOLUTIONS

As part of the balanced approach to managing the budget deficit, the May Revision includes two significant temporary changes to tax law, two measures to reduce the sales tax gap, and maintains three tax measures included in the Governor's Budget.

These tax measures as a whole are intended to raise revenue, stimulate economic growth, and help those in need. These revenue measures net \$4.4 billion in 2020-21, \$3.3 billion in 2021-22 and \$1.4 billion in 2022-23.

- The May Revision maintains three General Fund tax proposals in the Governor's Budget:
 - Extending the sales tax exemption for diapers and menstrual products through the end of 2022-23.
 - Extending the carryover period for film credits awarded under Program 2.0 from 6 years to 9 years.
 - Extending the current exemption from the minimum tax for first year corporations to first year LLCs, partnerships, and LLPs.
- The May Revision also maintains a new tax on e-cigarettes based on nicotine content and will be deposited in a new special fund.
- The Administration is committed to streamlining and increasing compliance of the state's cannabis tax collection, but is delaying changes proposed in the Governor's Budget.
- Suspend Net Operating Losses for 2020, 2021, and 2022 for medium and large businesses.
- Limit business incentive tax credits from offsetting more than \$5 million of tax liability for 2020, 2021, and 2022.
- Require used car dealers to remit sales tax to the Department of Motor Vehicles with the registration fees.
- Require the use of market value for determining price for private auto sales.

Changes in Revenues

	2020-21	2021-22	2022-23
Suspend Net Operating Losses for 2020, 2021, and 2022	\$1,820	\$1,300	\$380
Limit Business Incentive Tax Credits to Offset no more than \$5 million of Tax Liability Per Year for 2020, 2021, and 2022	2,000	1,540	910
Interaction Between NOL Suspension and Credit Limitation	611	454	206
Require Used Car Dealers to Remit Sales Tax to DMV with Registration Fees	12	24	24
Require the use of Market Value for Determining Price for Private Auto Sales	30	61	61
New May Revision General Fund Revenue Solutions	\$4,473	\$3,379	\$1,581
Provisions included in Governor's Budget			
Extension of Sales Tax Exemption for Diapers and Menstrual Products through 2022-23	0	-23	-46
Extend the First Year Exemption from Minimum Tax to LLCs, Partnerships, and LLPs	-50	-100	-100
Extend Carryover Period for Program 2.0 Film Credits from 6 years to 9 years	0	0	-1
General Fund Revenue Solutions	\$4,423	\$3,256	\$1,434

(Benefit to General Fund, Dollars in Millions)

MAY REVISION REVENUE FORECAST

The May Revision General Fund Revenue Forecast table shows total General Fund revenue and changes relative to the Governor's Budget forecast, after inclusion of the revenue solutions. The total revenue for 2020-21 is forecast to be \$124.9 billion. After inclusion of transfers, which includes a \$7.8 billion withdrawal from the Rainy Day Fund, total revenue for 2020-21 is \$137.4 billion, and overall revenues are \$23.2 billion lower than the Governor's Budget forecast.

2020-21 May Revision General Fund Revenue Forecast

(Dollars in Millions)

Source	2020-21 Governor's Budget	May Revision	Change Governor's Fored	's Budget	
Fiscal 2018-19: Preliminary					
Personal Income Tax	\$98,599	\$99,189	\$590	0.6%	
Sales & Use Tax	26,128	26,150	22	0.1%	
Corporation Tax	14,063	14,075	13	0.1%	
Insurance Tax	2,723	2,727	4	0.2%	
Alcoholic Beverage	378	378	0	0.0%	
Cigarette	62	62	0	0.0%	
Pooled Money Interest	648	648	0	0.0%	
Other Revenues	1,223	1,257	34	2.8%	
Subtotal	\$143,823	\$144,485	\$663	0.5%	
Transfers ^{1/}	-4,444	-4,426	18	-0.4%	
Total	\$139,379	\$140,060	\$681	0.5%	
Fiscal 2019-20					
Personal Income Tax	\$101,682	\$94,773	-\$6,909	-6.8%	
Sales & Use Tax	\$27,185	\$24,941	-2,244	-8.3%	
Corporation Tax	\$15,305	\$13,870	-1,435	-9.4%	
Insurance Tax	\$3,023	\$3,052	29	1.0%	
Alcoholic Beverage	\$383	\$385	2	0.6%	
Cigarette	\$60	\$58	-2	-3.8%	
Pooled Money Interest	\$574	\$547	-27	-4.6%	
Other Revenues	\$2,187	\$3,209	1,022	46.7%	
Subtotal	\$150,399	\$140,835	-\$9,564	-6.4%	
Transfers ^{1/}	-3,913	-3,998	-85	2.2%	
Total	\$146,486	\$136,837	-\$9,649	-6.6%	
<u>Fiscal 2020-21</u>					
Personal Income Tax	\$102,878	\$76,841	-\$26,037	-25.3%	
Sales & Use Tax	\$28,243	\$20,613	-7,630	-27.0%	
Corporation Tax	\$16,007	\$16,577	570	3.6%	
Insurance Tax	\$3,117	\$2,986	-131	-4.2%	
Alcoholic Beverage	\$389	\$389	0	0.1%	
Cigarette	\$58	\$56	-2	-3.8%	
Pooled Money Interest	\$514	\$184	-331	-64.3%	
Other Revenues	\$2,198	\$7,222	5,025	228.6%	
Subtotal	\$153,403	\$124,867	-\$28,535	-18.6%	
Transfers ^{1/}	-1,768	12,550	14,318	-809.9%	
Total	\$151,635	\$137,417	-\$14,218	-9.4%	
Three-Year Total			-\$23,186		
Totals may not add because of rounding	g.				

Totals may not add because of rounding.

^{1/}Includes transfers to Budget Stabilization Account for each year.

THE IMPACT OF TAX PAYMENT DEFERRALS ON REVENUE

On March 21, 2020, the federal government delayed the Internal Revenue Service tax filing deadline from April 15 to July 15. The state conformed to the federal deadline. It is anticipated that a large amount of income and corporate tax payments that would typically be received in April, May and June will be deferred until the 2020-21 fiscal year. The delay in receiving payments is not expected to affect revenue as the

deferred payments that are received in July or later will be accrued back to the 2019-20 fiscal year.

The quarterly sales tax filing deadline for all tax payers with sales tax payments less than \$1 million was delayed until July 31, 2020. The California Department of Tax and Fee Administration (CDTFA) will also grant a one-year payment plan for certain tax payers, providing additional relief for small businesses impacted by the COVID-19 Recession. Similar deferrals have been granted for other fees and taxes administered by CDTFA.

LONG-TERM FORECAST

The Long-Term Revenue Forecast table below shows the forecast for the largest three sources of General Fund revenues from 2018-19 through 2023-24. Total General Fund revenues from these sources are expected to drop from \$139.4 billion in 2018-19 to a low point of \$114 billion in 2020-21. By 2023-24, it will only have grown to \$128 billion.

(General Fund Revenue — Dollars in Billions)									
	2018-19	2019-20	2020-21	2021-22	2022-23	2023-24	Average Year-Over-Year Growth		
Personal Income Tax	\$99.2	\$94.8	\$76.8	\$76.8	\$81.4	\$87.7	-1.9%		
Sales and Use Tax	\$26.1	\$24.9	\$20.6	\$23.7	\$24.6	\$25.4	0.0%		
Corporation Tax	\$14.1	\$13.9	\$16.6	\$15.9	\$16.0	\$14.9	1.6%		
Total	\$139.4	\$133.6	\$114.0	\$116.4	\$122.0	\$128.0	-1.4%		
Growth	6.4%	-4.2%	-14.6%	2.1%	4.8%	4.9%			

Long-Term Revenue Forecast — Three Largest Sources

Note: Numbers may not add due to rounding.

PERSONAL INCOME TAX

Compared to the Governor's Budget forecast, the baseline personal income tax forecast is higher by \$590 million in 2018-19, and lower by \$6.9 billion in 2019-20 and \$26.3 billion in 2020-21. Over the three-year period, the personal income tax forecast reflects a total decrease of \$32.6 billion.

Due to higher unemployment, taxable wages have been revised substantially lower, which negatively impacts personal income tax wage withholding receipts. Typically, wages comprise around 55 percent to 60 percent of all personal income tax receipts.

Taxable wages were revised from 5.9 percent growth to a decline of 12.6 percent in 2020, and from 4.2 percent growth to 3.3 percent in 2021.

The S&P 500 is forecast to drop from its current level to bottom at 2,032 in the 4th quarter of 2020—a 40-percent decline from its peak levels—and increase by 5.5 percent per year from those levels. This is a significant downgrade from the Governor's Budget, which assumed that the S&P 500 would be at 3,129 at the end of 2020. This forecast reflects the expected ongoing disruption to economic activity from the COVID-19 pandemic in the second half of 2020 and into 2021, which does not yet appear to be fully reflected in stock market prices at the end of April. This downgraded market forecast leads to a significant decrease in the forecast for capital gains realizations from \$151 billion to \$119 billion in 2020 (see figure with Capital Gains Realizations), \$147 billion to \$70 billion in 2021, and \$144 billion to \$84 billion in 2022. Capital gains realizations are forecast to return to a normal level of 4.5 percent of personal income by 2025 at \$132 billion, still well below the Governor's Budget forecast of \$152 billion due to the lower personal income forecast.

Forecasting revenues associated with capital gains is subject to significant uncertainty because realizations are heavily dependent upon stock market performance and when taxpayers choose to buy or sell stock. The S&P 500 is assumed to drop 40 percent from its peak level in February 2020 of 3,386 to 2,032 in the fourth quarter of 2020. In the last recession, the S&P 500 dropped by over 50 percent; in the technology-driven recession of 2001, it dropped by about 47 percent.

The personal income tax forecast includes Propositions 30 and 55 revenues, which are estimated at \$7.6 billion in 2019-20 and \$5.9 billion in 2020-21. These estimates are lower than the Governor's Budget by \$878 million and \$2.5 billion, respectively, due primarily to lower wages and capital gains realizations.

The highest-income Californians continue to pay a very large share of the state's personal income tax. For the 2018 tax year, the top one percent of income earners paid over 46 percent of personal income taxes. This percentage has been greater than 40 percent for 14 of the last 15 years.

SALES AND USE TAX

The baseline sales tax forecast is lower by \$2.2 billion in 2019-20 and \$7.7 billion in 2020-21. Due to the COVID-19 Recession, taxable sales are expected to decline by



Capital Gains Realizations (Dollars in Billions)

4.6 percent in 2019-20 and a further 17.3 percent in 2020-21. At Governor's Budget, taxable sales were expected to grow 4.4 percent in 2019-20 and 3.3 percent in 2020-21.

Taxable consumer spending is expected to be lower than Governor's Budget by 11 percent in 2019-20 and by 28 percent in 2020-21. While consumer spending declined only 8.9 percent during the Great Recession from 2007-08 to 2008-09, it is expected to decline by 15.6 percent from 2019-20 to 2020-21. Of the industries that generate significant taxable consumer sales, restaurants, automobile dealerships, and retail clothing stores are expected to decline more significantly.

By contrast, taxable capital investment is expected to be lower than Governor's Budget by 7.7 percent in 2019-20 and 34 percent in 2020-21. Investment is expected to decline 25 percent from 2019-20 to 2020-21 compared with 17.6 percent during the Great Recession from 2007-08 to 2008-09.

CORPORATION TAX

The baseline corporation tax forecast is higher by \$13 million in 2018-19, lower by \$1.4 billion in 2019-20, and lower by \$3.6 billion in 2020-21. Corporate profits are expected to grow 4.4 percent in 2019-20 and then decline 18 percent in 2020-21 due to the COVID-19 Recession. At the Governor's Budget, corporate profits were forecast to grow by 3.6 percent in 2019-20 and 4.1 percent in 2020-21. Corporate profits are

expected to fare better during the recession than profits from smaller firms, such as those that report their business income on personal income tax returns.

Businesses incur net operating losses (NOLs) for tax purposes when allowable deductions and losses exceed taxable income. Federal law allows businesses with NOLs to carry forward these losses indefinitely and deduct them against 80 percent of income earned in future years. Federal tax law after changes adopted in 2017 did not allow NOLs to be carried back to offset income in prior years. The federal Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES)Act provided a 5-year carryback for NOLs incurred in 2018, 2019, and 2020 and suspended the 80-percent limitation for NOLs carried forward for 2018, 2019, and 2020. California law, which prior to the adoption of the 2017 federal tax changes was in conformity with federal NOL rules, conformed to the carryback prohibition, but not to the 80-percent taxable income limitation. Further, California has not conformed to the CARES Act re-allowance of NOL carrybacks. In 2018, over \$27 billion in NOL deductions were used, which could have reduced corporate tax revenues by over \$2 billion.

Business incentive tax credits directly reduce corporate tax liability and are generally intended to encourage a certain type of behavior, such as research and development, which may occur to a lesser extent in the absence of the credit. In 2018, businesses reduced their corporate tax liability by over \$2.9 billion through the use of credits, with \$2.4 billion from the research and development tax credit.

The May Revision revenue solutions recognize the disproportionate tax relief that has been provided to larger corporations, compared to small businesses, which has resulted in relatively lower tax payments. Accordingly, the May Revision suspends NOLs for three years for medium and large businesses and limits credit utilization to no more than \$5 million in recognition of the COVID-19 Recession and its impacts on small businesses.

INSURANCE TAX

The insurance tax forecast is higher by \$29 million in 2019-20 and lower by \$131 million in 2020-21. The forecast includes the Insurance Commissioner's order for insurance companies in certain lines of insurance to refund premiums for March and April to reflect re-classifications of risk due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Despite the pandemic, the impact to insurance tax revenues is expected to be relatively modest and is expected to follow the pattern of prior recessions. Insurance tax premiums are expected to decline 2 percent in 2020 versus growth of 3 percent assumed in the

Governor's Budget, and are expected to grow 3 percent in 2021, which is unchanged from the Governor's Budget.

ELECTRONIC CIGARETTE TAX

In order to address the rapidly increasing youth use of potent nicotine-based vaping products, the May Revision maintains the new vaping tax based on nicotine content proposed in the Governor's Budget. The new tax will begin on January 1, 2021, and will be \$2 for each 40 milligrams of nicotine in the product, equivalent to the tax on a pack of cigarettes. The new tax will be in addition to all existing taxes on e-cigarettes, which are presently taxed as tobacco products under state law.

Revenues from the new tax are expected to be \$33 million in 2020-21, will be deposited into a new special fund, and will be used to increase enforcement and to offset Medi-Cal costs. The Budget includes \$13.9 million and 10.5 positions for the Department of Tax and Fee Administration to administer the proposed tax and \$7 million for the California Highway Patrol to establish a task force in collaboration with the Department of Justice dedicated to combatting the underground market for vaping products. In addition to the tax, the Administration will support a statewide ban on all flavored nicotine products as of January 1, 2021.

CANNABIS EXCISE TAX

Proposition 64, commonly referred to as the Adult Use of Marijuana Act, levies excise taxes on the cultivation and retail sale of both recreational and medical cannabis. The cultivation tax is paid on all recreational and medicinal cultivation of cannabis, and was increased, to adjust for inflation, to \$9.65 per ounce of flower, \$2.89 per ounce of trim, and \$1.35 per ounce of fresh cannabis plant on January 1, 2020. In addition, there is a 15-percent tax on the retail price of cannabis. Both cannabis excise taxes together generated \$299 million in 2018-19. The revenue from excise taxes was revised down from \$479 million to \$443 million in 2019-20 and \$590 million to \$435 million in 2020-21. While similar products like alcohol and tobacco tend to be recession-resistant, the forecast assumes that cannabis businesses will be more negatively impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. Cannabis businesses have less access to banking services that could provide liquidity, have a younger consumer base likely to be disproportionately affected by the COVID-19 Recession, and still must contend with competition from the black market (See the Statewide Issues and Various Departments chapter for additional discussion).

REVENUE ESTIMATES

PROPERTY TAX

The property tax is a local revenue source; however, the amount of property tax generated each year has a substantial impact on the state budget because local property tax revenues allocated to K-14 schools generally offset General Fund expenditures.

Preliminary data show statewide property tax revenues increased 5.8 percent in 2019-20, which is 0.6 percentage point lower than the 6.4-percent growth rate anticipated at the Governor's Budget. California counties committed to cancel penalties and charges related to late payments that may arise due to hardships arising from COVID-19, which is reflected in the 2019-20 preliminary data. Property tax revenues are expected to grow 3.5 percent in 2020-21, which is 2.2 percentage points lower than the 5.7-percent growth expected at the Governor's Budget due to increased delinquencies, which typically rise in a recession. Approximately 42 percent (\$32 billion) of 2020-21 property tax revenues will go to K-14 schools. While this amount includes \$2.3 billion that schools are expected to receive in 2020-21 due to the dissolution of redevelopment agencies, it excludes the \$9.4 billion shifted from schools to cities and counties to replace Vehicle License Fee (VLF) revenue losses stemming from the reduced VLF rate of 0.65 percent.

On May 6, an executive order was issued waiving penalties for property taxes paid after April 10 for residential property and small business taxpayers who demonstrate they have experienced financial hardship through May 6, 2021. The executive order also extended the deadline for certain businesses to file Business Personal Property Statements through May 31, 2020, to avoid penalties. This page intentionally blank to facilitate double-sided printing.

STAFF ASSIGNMENTS

EXECUTIVE OFFICE

Keely Martin Bosler

Director of Finance (916) 445-4141

Vivek Viswanathan Chief Deputy Director, Budget (916) 445-9862

> **Richard Gillihan** Chief Operating Officer (916) 445-4923

H.D. Palmer Deputy Director, External Affairs (916) 323-0648 Gayle Miller Chief Deputy Director, Policy (916) 445-8582

> Kari Krogseng Chief Counsel (916) 322-0971

Jolie Onodera Legislative Director (916) 445-8610

BUDGET PROGRAM AREAS

PROGRAM BUDGET MANAGERS

C S'	udget Planning and Preparation, Cash Management, FI\$Cal Project Support, tatewide Budget Issues, and tatewide Accounting Policies and Training	Thomas Todd (916) 445-5332
	Corrections and Rehabilitation, ustice, and General Government	Amy Jarvis (916) 445-8913
E	ducation	Jeff Bell(916) 445-0328
S [.] D Ir	mployee Compensation and tate Pension, Audits and Evaluations, pepartmental Administration and nformation Services, and Information echnology and Consulting	Jennifer Whitaker (916) 445-3274
L	nergy, Housing and Homelessness, abor, Local Government, Tax Agencies, nd Transportation	Erika Li (916) 445-3274
Н	ealth and Human Services	Adam Dorsey (916) 445-6423
	latural Resources, Environment, nd Capital Outlay	Matt Almy (916) 324-0043
Е	evenue Forecasting, conomic Projections, and pemographic Data	Irena Asmundson (916) 322-2263 Chief Economist and PBM